PRINCETON EVEREST FUND

(formerly known as "Princeton Private Investments Access Fund")

Class A, Class I, Class II, and Class L shares of Beneficial Interest

July 31, 2023

Princeton Everest Fund (the "Fund") is a continuously offered, non-diversified, closed-end management investment company that offers four separate classes of common shares ("Shares") of beneficial interest designated as Class A, Class I, Class II and Class L with a maximum aggregate offering price of \$500,000,000. The Fund offers to repurchase its outstanding shares on a schedule and in amounts that depend on a variety of factors. Repurchases will be made at such times, in such amounts, and on such terms as may be determined by the Board of Trustees of the Fund (the "Board."). In determining whether the Fund should offer to repurchase Shares, the Board will consider the recommendations of the Fund's advisor, Princeton Fund Advisors, LLC (the "Advisor") as to the time of such an offer, as well as a variety of operational, business and economic factors. The Advisor anticipates that it will continue recommending to the Board that the Fund offer to repurchase Shares from Investors on a quarterly basis, with such repurchases to occur as of the last day of March, June, September and December (or, if any such date is not a business day, on the immediately preceding business day). The Advisor also expects that, generally, it will continue recommending to the Board that each repurchase offer should apply to not more than 5% of the net assets of the Fund. Investors that elect to tender their Shares in the Fund will not know the price at which such Shares will be repurchased until a specified date noticed in the repurchase offer. Each repurchase offer generally commences approximately 100 days prior to the applicable repurchase date. Repurchase requests must be submitted by the deadline set forth in the "Repurchases of Shares and Transfers" section of this prospectus (the "Prospectus"). For more information on the Fund's repurchase policies and risks, please see "Repurchases of Shares of Shares of Shares of Shares and "Repurchase Policy Risk" on pages 13 and 40 of this Prospectus, respectively.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved these securities or determined if this Prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This Prospectus concisely provides the information that a prospective investor should know about the Fund before investing. You are advised to read this Prospectus carefully and to retain it for future reference. Additional information about the Fund, including a statement of additional information ("SAI") dated July 31, 2023, has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The SAI is available upon request and without charge by writing the Fund at c/o Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC, 225 Pictoria Drive, Suite 450, Cincinnati, OH 45246. You may also request a free copy of the Fund's SAI, annual and semi-annual reports when available, and other information about the Fund or make shareholder inquiries by calling 1-855-924-2454. The SAI, which is incorporated by reference into (legally made a part of) this Prospectus, is also available on the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov.

Investments in the Fund may be made only by "Eligible Investors." Although common shares of beneficial interest of the Fund are registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act"), only investors that satisfy the definition of "accredited investor" as defined in Regulation D of the Securities Act are considered Eligible Investors. Eligible Investors who subscribe for Shares and whose subscriptions are accepted by the Fund or its delegate will become shareholders.

Prospective investors should not construe the contents of this Prospectus as legal, tax or financial advice. Each prospective investor should consult his or her own professional advisors as to the legal, tax, financial or other matters relevant to the suitability of an investment in the Fund for such investor.

Investing in the Shares involves a high degree of risk, including the possible loss of the entire principal amount that you invest. See the "Types of Investments and Related Risks Factors" section of this Prospectus beginning on page 35 of this Prospectus. You should carefully consider these risks together with all of the other information contained in this Prospectus before making a decision to purchase Shares. Purchasers of Shares of the Fund are bound by the terms and conditions of the Fund's current Agreement and Declaration of Trust. A copy of the Agreement and Declaration of Trust is attached as Appendix A to the SAI.

- Shares are speculative and illiquid securities involving substantial risk of loss.
- The Shares are not listed on any securities exchange, and it is not anticipated that a secondary market for Shares will develop.

- Although the Fund may offer to repurchase Shares from time to time, Shares will not be redeemable at an investor's sole option nor will they be exchangeable for shares of any other fund.
- As a result, an investor may not be able to sell or otherwise liquidate his or her Shares.
- The Fund may pay distributions in significant part from sources that may not be available in the future and that are unrelated to the Fund's performance, such as from offering proceeds, borrowings, and amounts from the Fund's affiliates that may be subject to repayment by the Fund. All or a portion of a distribution may consist of a return of capital. Return of capital is the portion of a distribution that is a return of your original investment dollars in the Fund. A return of capital reduces the tax basis of your investment and you may be subject to tax in connection with the sale of your Shares, even if the Shares are sold at a loss.

For further information regarding the potential tax risks of the characterization of a distribution as a return of capital, please see the discussion below under "DISTRIBUTION POLICY; DIVIDENDS" and "Taxation of Investors."

	Public Offering Price	Sales Load	Proceeds to the Fund
Class A	At current NAV	3.50%	Amount invested at current NAV less sales load
Class I	At current NAV	N/A	Amount invested at current NAV
Class II	At current NAV	N/A	Amount invested at current NAV
Class L	At current NAV	2.25%	Amount invested at current NAV less sales load
Total	\$500,000,000.00		Up to \$500,000,000.00

This Offering is a best effort offering currently open and available to Eligible Investors. The minimum initial investment in the Fund's Class A Shares is \$35,000, the minimum initial investment in the Fund's Class I Shares is \$50,000, and the minimum initial investment in the Fund's Class II and Class L Shares is \$25,000. These minimums may be reduced by the Fund in the sole discretion of the Advisor based on consideration of various factors as described on page 14. The Fund intends to establish and maintain its own status as a Qualified Purchaser by owning and investing not less than \$25,000,000 in investments. If a subscription is not accepted, the Fund's escrow agent will return to such subscriber the amount of its subscription, without interest. Shares are appropriate only for those investors who can tolerate a high degree of risk and do not require a liquid investment and for whom an investment in the Fund does not constitute their complete investment program.

These securities are subject to substantial restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be transferred or resold except as permitted under the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws, pursuant to registration or exemption therefrom.

Shares of the Fund are not deposits or obligations of, or guaranteed or endorsed by, any bank or other insured financial institution, and are not federally insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Federal Reserve Board or any other government agency.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY	1
SUMMARY OF FUND EXPENSES	20
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS	22
THE FUND	29
STRUCTURE	29
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE AND STRATEGIES	30
TYPES OF INVESTMENTS AND RELATED RISK FACTORS	36
MANAGEMENT OF THE FUND	48
DESCRIPTION OF SHARES	51
DISTRIBUTION POLICY; DIVIDENDS	52
CALCULATION OF NET ASSET VALUE	52
REPURCHASES OF SHARES AND TRANSFERS	55
APPLICATION FOR INVESTMENT	58
LEGAL MATTERS	58
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	59
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	59
PRIVACY NOTICE	61

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary does not contain all of the information that you should consider before investing in the shares. You should review the more detailed information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus (the "Prospectus") and in the statement of additional information ("SAI"), particularly the information set forth under the heading "Risk Factors."

The Fund

Princeton Everest Fund (the "Fund") is a Delaware statutory trust that is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"), as a closed-end, non-diversified management investment company. The Fund's investment advisor is Princeton Fund Advisors, LLC (the "Advisor"). The Fund intends to qualify and elect to be treated as a regulated investment company (a "RIC") under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code").

The Fund is an appropriate investment only for those investors who can tolerate a high degree of risk and do not require a liquid investment ("Investors").

Pursuant to this Prospectus, the Fund is offering four classes of shares of beneficial interest ("Shares"), designated as "Class A Shares", "Class I Shares", "Class II Shares", and "Class L Shares" to investors eligible to invest in the Fund. On April 22, 2015, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") granted the Fund an exemptive order to permit the Fund to offer multiple classes of Shares. Shares are offered at their net asset values plus, if applicable, the upfront sales load with respect to any such Share class. While the Fund presently offers four classes of Shares, it may offer additional classes of Shares as well in the future. Each class of Shares has certain differing characteristics, particularly in terms of the sales charges that Investors in that class may bear, and the distribution fees and/or shareholder servicing fees that each class may be charged. The net asset values for the classes of Shares are calculated separately based on the fees and expenses applicable to each class of Shares. It is expected that the net asset values of Shares will vary over time as a result of the differing fees and expenses applicable to each class of Shares, different inception dates and different offering prices of each respective share class on its Initial Closing.

The Fund is a registered investment fund. The Fund is similar to an unregistered private investment fund in that (i) Shares will be sold in comparatively large minimum denominations in private placements solely to high net worth individuals and institutional investors, and will be subject to restrictions on transfer, and (ii) the Fund will pay, and Investors will bear, an asset-based investment management fee, and will be subject indirectly to asset-based fees, carried interests, and incentive allocations charged by the Underlying Funds (as described below) in which the Fund invests. "Underlying Funds" means investment companies such as open-end registered funds, closed-end funds, and exchange traded funds ("ETFs"), or private funds exempt from registration such as hedge funds, private credit funds and Investment Funds (as defined below).

Each underlying Investment Fund (defined below) is, or will be, managed by the general partner or manager (or equivalent) of the Investment Fund (such general partner, manager or equivalent in respect of any Investment Fund being hereinafter referred to as the "Investment Fund Manager" of such Investment Fund) and the portfolio managers or investment teams are selected by the Investment Fund Manager.

Private equity is a common term for investments that are typically made in non-public companies through privately negotiated transactions. Private equity investors generally seek to acquire quality assets at attractive valuations and use operational expertise to enhance value and improve portfolio company performance. Buyout funds are used by private equity investors to acquire private and public companies, as well as divisions of larger companies. Private equity specialists seek to uncover value-enhancing opportunities in portfolio companies, unlock the value of the portfolio company and reposition it for sale at a multiple of invested equity.

The Fund formed a wholly owned subsidiary, Princeton Private Investments Holdings, LLC ("PPIH"), for the sole purpose of holding all of the Fund's illiquid private fund investments. During the year ended March 31, 2022, all of the Fund's private fund investments were transferred

from the Fund to PPIH. PPIH is a Delaware LLC and is a disregarded entity for tax purposes. The Fund complies with all provisions of the 1940 Act, including those related to investment advisory contracts, affiliated transactions and custody, on an aggregate basis with PPIH. The Fund does not intend to create or acquire primary control of any entity that primarily engages in investment activities other than entities wholly-owned by the Fund like PPIH. All investment policies, strategies and risks of the Fund as described in this Prospectus are shared by PPIH. The results of operations from PPIH have been consolidated with the Fund's for financial reporting purposes.

Investment Objective and Strategies

The Fund's investment objective is to seek long-term capital appreciation.

The Fund invests predominantly in private equity pooled investment vehicles ("Investment Funds") of any type, including primary offerings and secondary acquisitions of interests in alternative funds that pursue private equity strategies and co-investment opportunities in operating companies presented by one or more Investment Funds. However, in order to satisfy certain of the requirements for qualification as a RIC under the Code, the Fund's ability to invest in real estate (both directly and indirectly) may be limited. The Fund also utilizes additional investment strategies described below.

The Advisor believes that the Fund's investment program offers an ideal approach to private equity investing for certain investors who previously have not had access to established private equity Investment Fund Managers, or who desire to access private equity investments through lower account minimums. The Fund makes investments in Investment Funds, focusing in particular on investment in buyouts, growth capital, special situations, and other private equity opportunities. The Fund seeks to allocate its investments in Investment Funds across multiple strategies (e.g., buyouts, growth capital, special situations, and other opportunities) or other distinguishing features, including geography (e.g., North America, Europe, Asia, and other regions, including emerging markets), Investment Fund Managers, and vintage year (i.e., the year in which an Investment Fund begins investing). The Advisor believes that seeking a range of investments is an important factor in attempting to achieve the Fund's investment objective.

The Advisor aims to invest in Investment Funds managed by Investment Fund Managers who have a demonstrated ability to invest successfully in their respective strategy, geography, and/or sector. Through a mix of various Investment Funds and Investment Fund Managers, the Advisor believes it can achieve its investment objective while reducing certain risk factors that may be prevalent in funds with more concentrated approaches. The Advisor believes a variety of approaches will allow the Fund to benefit from economic themes around the world. Further, the Advisor believes that it can leverage its existing relationships with established private equity fund managers to gain insight into properly selecting Investment Funds to meet the Fund's investment objective.

The Fund has been structured with the intent of alleviating or reducing a number of the burdens typically associated with private equity investing, such as funding capital calls on short notice, reinvesting distribution proceeds, paying fund of funds level incentive fees (a performance fee at the investment level, in addition to the performance allocation of the Underlying Fund), meeting large minimum commitment amounts, and receiving tax reporting on potentially late Schedules K-1.

The Fund looks to manage liquidity while minimizing holding excess cash for extended periods of time, which can mute portfolio performance (commonly referred to as the "cash drag"). The Advisor intends to invest uncalled capital in a variety of Underlying Funds or investment strategies that are intended to provide greater liquidity than Investment Funds. These investments may include registered management investment companies (commonly known as "mutual funds"), including those that invest in private equity, ETFs, and short-term securities. The Fund may invest in mutual funds or private funds advised by the Advisor or an affiliate of the Advisor. The Fund may also invest in private credit funds (unregistered funds that invest primarily in debt instruments), business development companies, hedge funds, or other strategies to attempt to minimize cash drag. These vehicles may utilize a variety of credit strategies that invest in debt of varying credit quality or duration, including consumer credit, corporate credit, mortgages or

2

mortgage-related investments, or other strategies. The liquidity of these investments is intended to assist the Fund in planning for the short- and medium-term liquidity necessary to meet anticipated capital calls by the Investment Funds while minimizing the cash drag that can be prevalent in pooled private equity fund of funds. In addition, the Fund may use derivative instruments, primarily equity options and swaps, for hedging purposes to help protect the value of its investments.

The Fund may allocate assets to buyouts, growth capital, special situations, or other private equity opportunities. Control investments in established, cash flow-positive companies are usually classified as buyouts. Buyout investments may focus on small, mid, large, or mega-capitalization companies, and such investments collectively represent a substantial majority of the capital deployed in the overall private equity market. The use of debt financing, or leverage, is prevalent in buyout transactions—particularly in the large-and mega-cap segment. Growth capital typically involves minority investments in established companies with strong growth characteristics. Companies that receive growth capital typically have established customers and mature business models. Special situations investments may include debt investments that provide a middle level of financing below the senior debt level and above the equity level. A typical special situations investment may include a loan to a borrower, together with equity in the form of warrants, common stock, preferred stock or some other form of equity investment. In addition, special situations investments may include other forms of investment not described herein, such as distressed debt, infrastructure, energy or utility investments and turnaround investments. The special situations investments to which the Fund may allocate its assets may be low grade or unrated debt securities (i.e., "high yield" or "junk" bonds or leveraged loans).

Other opportunities may include real estate or investments in other real assets. Real estate investments may include single-property real estate opportunities in the United States and abroad and companies with real estate portfolios. Investments in real assets may provide exposure to real estate, commodities, natural resources (such as agriculture and timber), infrastructure, and precious metals. However, in order to satisfy certain of the requirements for qualification as a RIC under the Code, the Fund's ability to invest in real estate (both directly and indirectly) may be limited.

The types of private equity investments that the Fund may make include:

- 1. Primary Investments. Primary investments (primaries) are interests or investments in newly established private equity funds. Most private equity fund sponsors raise new funds only every two to four years, and many top-performing funds are closed to new investors. Because of the limited windows of opportunity for making primary investments in particular funds, strong relationships with leading fund sponsors are highly important for primary investors. The Advisor and its affiliates believe their existing relationships with top tier private equity firms and investment managers may provide them with the experience, insight, and access to key personnel that is only available to large institutional investors. Primary investors subscribe for interests during an initial fundraising period, and their capital commitments are then used to fund investments in a number of individual operating companies during a defined investment period. Primary investments typically exhibit "J-curve" performance, in which their net asset value typically declines moderately during the early years of the private equity fund's life as investmentrelated fees and expenses are incurred before investment gains have been realized. As the private equity fund matures and as portfolio companies are sold, the pattern typically reverses with increasing net asset value and distributions. There can be no assurance, however, that any or all primary investments made by the Fund will exhibit this pattern of investment returns. Primary investments are usually ten to thirteen years in duration, while underlying investments in portfolio companies generally have a three to seven year duration, if not longer.
- 2. Secondary Investments. Secondary investments (secondaries) are interests in existing private equity funds that are acquired in privately negotiated transactions, typically after the end of the private equity fund's fundraising period. Because secondaries typically already have invested in portfolio companies, they are viewed as more mature investments than primaries and further along in their development pattern. As a result,

their investment returns may not exhibit the downside of a J-curve pattern expected of primaries in their early stages. There can be no assurance, however, that any or all secondary investments made by the Fund will exhibit this pattern of investment development.

Direct Investment/Co-Investments. Direct investments involve acquiring an interest in securities issued by an operating company. Such investments are typically made as co-investments alongside private equity funds, and are usually structured such that the lead investor holds a controlling interest. Direct investments and co-investments, unlike investments in Investment Funds, generally do not bear an additional layer of fees or bear significantly reduced fees.

The Fund's private equity asset allocation, when "fully deployed," is currently expected to be as noted below. The Advisor anticipates that the Fund will invest the proceeds from the sale of Shares, net of cash retained for operational needs to pay Fund expenses, in accordance with the Fund's investment objective and policies and principal strategies as soon as practicable, consistent with normal market conditions and the availability of suitable investments. However, a substantial portion of the Fund's net assets will likely be invested in the more liquid investments described above while waiting for capital calls from Investment Funds. Even when the Fund's assets are "fully deployed", the Advisor expects that a significant portion of the Fund's assets may consist of assets other than Investment Funds for purposes of funding capital calls, redemptions, and tax distributions.

Private Equity Asset Allocation¹

Investment Fund Strategy ¹	Range ¹	
Buyout	40-100%	
Growth Capital	0-60%	
Special Situations	0-60%	
Other	0-20%	
Geographic Region ¹		
North America	20-100%	
Europe	0-40%	
Asia	0-40%	
Other	0-20%	

There can be no assurance that all investment types will be available, will be consistent with the Fund's investment objectives, will satisfy the Advisor's due diligence considerations or will be selected for the Fund. The percentages presented represent the amount of capital invested in and committed to each category as a percentage of total capital invested in and committed to Investment Funds. As stated above, such percentages represent the Fund's anticipated private equity allocation when fully deployed. As a result, if all commitments are not fully funded, the allocation of the Fund's portfolio could potentially differ from the ranges shown above.

Over time, the allocation ranges and commitment strategy may be adjusted based on the Advisor's analysis of the private equity market, the Fund's existing portfolio at the relevant time, and other pertinent factors. The Advisor intends to concentrate investments in funds sponsored by established Investment Fund Managers who have historically had high-quality management with attractive investment strategies and access to quality deal flow. The availability of such Investment Funds may affect such investment decisions.

Principal Investment Strategies The principal elements of the Advisor's investment strategy include: (i) allocating the assets of the Fund across private equity Investment Funds, (ii) seeking to secure access to attractive investment opportunities that the Advisor believes offer attractive value, (iii) seeking to manage the Fund's investment level and liquidity using the Advisor's commitment strategy, and (iv) seeking to manage risk through ongoing monitoring of the Fund's portfolio. The Advisor seeks to invest with proven leaders in the private equity industry. The Advisor believes that investing with a range of established Investment Fund Managers should mitigate portfolio risk. Furthermore, by investing in private equity funds, the Fund is exposed to numerous individual company investments. The Fund's portfolio consists primarily of Investment Funds, but occasionally it may hold other securities as a result of in-kind distributions from its portfolio of Investment Funds or by direct co-investment with Investment Funds. In the case of in-kind distributions from Investment Funds, the Advisor's policy is to dispose of such assets as soon as practicable.

private equity market segments will benefit long-term portfolio performance.

The Fund's strategy is to seek to invest in a range of Investment Funds with established Investment Fund Managers across varied strategies (e.g., buyouts, growth capital, special situations, and other opportunities) or other distinguishing features, including geography (e.g., North America, Europe, Asia, and other regions, including emerging markets), and vintage year

(i.e., the year in which the Investment Fund begins investing). Additionally, these Investment Fund Managers may focus their investments in particular industries in which they have expertise.

Access. In many segments of the private equity market, it is not enough to identify promising investments—access is required. The Fund provides Investors with access to Investment Funds, and direct investments that are generally unavailable to the investing public due to resource requirements and high investment minimums. The Advisor expects that each Investment Fund will provide information to the Fund of the type and scope (and with the same frequency) it customarily provides to its large institutional investors.

Commitment Strategy. The Advisor intends to manage the Fund's commitment strategy with a view towards balancing liquidity while maintaining a high level of investment. Investment commitments to private equity funds generally are not immediately funded. Instead, committed amounts are drawn down by private equity funds and invested over time, as underlying investments are identified - a process that may take a period of several years. During this period, investments made early in a private equity fund's life are often realized (generating distributions) even before the committed capital has been fully drawn. As a result, without an appropriate commitment strategy, a significant investment position could be difficult to achieve. The Advisor seeks to address this challenge using a commitment strategy designed to provide an appropriate investment level. To that end, the Fund may commit to invest in private equity investments or other private funds (both primaries and secondaries) in an aggregate amount that exceeds the Fund's then-current assets (i.e., to "over-commit") to provide an appropriate investment level. To minimize cash drag on the portfolio, the Advisor intends to invest uncalled capital in a variety of Underlying Funds or investment strategies that are intended to provide greater liquidity than Investment Funds. These investments may include mutual funds (including those that invest in private equity and mutual funds or private funds advised by the Advisor or an affiliate of the Advisor), ETFs and short-term securities. The Fund may also invest in private credit funds, hedge funds, or other strategies to attempt to minimize cash drag. These vehicles may utilize a variety of credit strategies that invest in debt of varying credit quality or duration, including consumer credit, corporate credit, mortgages or mortgage-related investments, or other strategies. Investments in these funds or short-term securities are intended to assist the Advisor in managing and planning for capital calls. The Fund seeks to maintain sufficient access to liquid assets, which, in addition to any available line of credit, are intended to be sufficient to satisfy anticipated capital calls from Investment Funds.

The Fund's commitment strategy aims to sustain a high level of investment where possible by making commitments based on anticipated future distributions from investments. The commitment strategy also takes other anticipated cash flows into account, such as those relating to new subscriptions, the tender of Shares by Investors, amounts available through borrowing, and any distributions made to Investors. To forecast portfolio cash flows, the Advisor utilizes a model that incorporates historical data, actual portfolio observations, insights from the Investment Fund Managers and forecasts by the Advisor. The commitment strategy—and, specifically, the "over-commitment" strategy—carries a degree of risk. See "Types of Investments and Related Risk Factors—Commitment Strategy."

Risk Management. The long-term nature of private equity investments requires a commitment to ongoing risk management. The Advisor seeks to maintain close contact with the Investment Fund Managers with whom it invests, and to monitor the performance of Investment Funds and developments at the individual portfolio companies that are material positions in the Investment Funds held by the Fund. By tracking commitments, capital calls, distributions, valuations and other pertinent details, the Advisor seeks to recognize potential issues and take appropriate action.

The Advisor seeks to invest with proven leaders in the private equity industry. The Advisor believes that investing with a preferred group of established Investment Fund Managers with

differentiated investment strategies may also mitigate portfolio risk. The Advisor's diligence process focuses on risk management, investment and operational diligence.

From time to time to enhance the Fund's liquidity, particularly in times of possible net outflows through the tender of Shares by Investors, the Advisor may determine it is necessary to sell certain of the Fund's assets (including, during adverse market conditions, selling investments in Investment Funds at a discount).

The Fund is expected to hold liquid assets to the extent required for purposes of liquidity management. The Fund may also borrow for investment purposes. The 1940 Act requires a registered investment company to satisfy an asset coverage requirement of 300% of its indebtedness, including amounts borrowed, measured at the time indebtedness is incurred (the "Asset Coverage Requirement"). This means that the value of the Fund's total indebtedness may not exceed one-third of the value of its total assets, including the value of the assets purchased with the proceeds of its indebtedness.

The Advisor and its personnel use a range of resources to identify and source the availability of promising Investment Funds. The Advisor has relationships with companies, investors, entrepreneurs, Investment Fund Managers, hedge fund managers, endowments, foundations and financial institutions. The Advisor utilizes this network to seek to identify and evaluate many Investment Fund Managers. The Advisor also believes that its relationships, as well as those of its affiliates, may facilitate investments in oversubscribed Investment Funds. The Fund's investments in Investment Funds are expected to consist of a set of funds sponsored by established Investment Fund Managers who have historically had high-quality management along with attractive investment strategies, and access to quality deal flow. The Advisor selects investment strategies and Investment Funds on the basis of availability, pricing in the case of secondaries, and various qualitative and quantitative criteria, including the Advisor's analysis of actual and projected cash flows and past performance of an Investment Fund during various time periods and market cycles, and the Investment Fund Managers' reputation, experience, expertise, and adherence to investment philosophy. During this diligence process, the Advisor reviews offering documents, financial statements, regulatory filings and client correspondence, and may conduct interviews with senior personnel of existing Investment Fund Managers or new fund sponsors. In particular, the Advisor expects to regularly communicate with the Investment Fund Managers and other personnel about the Investment Funds in which the Fund has invested or may invest, or about particular investment strategies, categories of private equity, risk management and general market trends. This interaction facilitates ongoing portfolio analysis and may help to address potential issues, such as loss of key team members or proposed changes in constituent documents. It also provides ongoing due diligence feedback, as additional investments, secondary investments and new primary investments with a particular Investment Fund Manager are considered. The Advisor may also perform background and reference checks on Investment Fund personnel.

After making an investment in an Investment Fund, and as part of its ongoing diligence process, the Advisor will seek to: track operating information and other pertinent details; participate in periodic conference calls with Investment Fund Managers and onsite visits where appropriate; review audited and unaudited reports; and monitor turnover in senior Investment Fund personnel and changes in policies. In conjunction with the due diligence process, the tax treatment and legal terms of the investment are considered.

In allocating the Fund's capital, the Advisor attempts to benefit from the established performance track records of various Investment Funds and Investment Fund Managers, combined with access to new and existing Investment Funds. Generally, the Advisor seeks to invest no more than 25% of the Fund's capital (measured at the time of investment and all Fund assets are fully deployed) in any one Investment Fund. In addition, the Fund's investment in any one Investment Fund is limited to no more than 25% of the Investment Fund's economic interests, measured at the time of investment and less than 5% of the Investment Fund's voting securities.

The Advisor may invest the Fund's assets in Investment Funds that engage in a variety of investment strategies, which may vary from time to time. The Advisor intends to invest in the

types of Investment Funds described in this Prospectus. However, the investment strategies for the Investment Funds may be altered by the Investment Fund Manager without prior notice to the Advisor. The Advisor may also sell the Fund's portfolio holdings at any time.

The Fund is a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company for purposes of the 1940 Act. The Fund intends to elect and to qualify and be treated as a RIC under the Code. To qualify as a RIC under the Code, the Fund must, among other things: (i) derive in each taxable year at least 90% of its gross income from (a) dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stocks, securities or foreign currencies, or other income derived with respect to its business of investing in such stocks, securities or currencies, and (b) net income from interests in "qualified publicly traded partnerships" (as defined in the Code); (ii) diversify its holdings so that, at the end of each quarter of the taxable year, (a) at least 50% of the value of its total assets is represented by cash and cash items (including receivables), U.S. government securities, the securities of other RICs and other securities, with such other securities of any one issuer limited for the purposes of this calculation to an amount not greater than 5% of the value of its total assets and not greater than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer, and (b) not more than 25% of the value of its total assets is invested in the securities (other than U.S. government securities or the securities of other RICs) of a single issuer, two or more issuers that it controls and that are engaged in the same, similar or related trades or businesses or one or more qualified publicly traded partnerships (as defined in the Code). By so qualifying, the Fund should not be subject to federal income or excise tax on its net investment income or net capital gain in any year, so long as the Fund distributes, with respect to such taxable year, at least 90% of the sum of its investment company taxable income (as that term is defined in the Code without regard to the deduction for dividends paid — generally taxable ordinary income and the excess, if any, of net short-term capital gains over net long-term capital losses) and net tax-exempt income, for such year in accordance with the applicable timing requirements. With respect to these limitations and restrictions imposed by the Code, the Fund is required to look through to the income, assets and investments of certain Investment Funds. See "Types of Investments and Related Risk Factors-Tax Risks."

The Investment Funds are not subject to the Fund's investment restrictions and are generally subject to few investment limitations. To the extent permitted by the 1940 Act, the Fund may borrow for investment purposes. See "Borrowing."

The Fund is authorized to borrow money in connection with its investment activities, subject to the limits of the Asset Coverage Requirement. The Fund may borrow money for investment purposes, to pay operating expenses, to satisfy repurchase requests from Investors and to otherwise provide the Fund with liquidity, subject to the regulatory restrictions described below.

Such borrowing may be accomplished through credit facilities, derivative instruments, or by other means.

The Investment Funds may utilize leverage in their investment activities. However, the Investment Funds' borrowings are not subject to the Asset Coverage Requirement. Accordingly, the Fund, through investments in the Investment Funds, may be exposed to the risk of highly leveraged investment programs. See "Types of Investments and Related Risk Factors."

The Fund intends to make quarterly distributions to shareholders and the Fund generally will pay dividends on the Shares at least annually in amounts representing substantially all of the Fund's net investment income, if any, earned each year. The Fund also distributes substantially all taxable net capital gain realized on investments to Investors at least annually.

Dividends and capital gain distributions paid by the Fund are reinvested in additional Shares of the Fund unless an Investor opts out (elects not to reinvest in Shares). Investors may elect initially not to reinvest by indicating that choice on the Investor Application. Thereafter, Investors are free to change their election at any time by contacting Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC ("UFS"), the Fund's transfer agent (or, alternatively, by contacting their financial advisor, who will inform the Fund). Shares purchased through reinvestment will be issued at

Borrowing

Distribution Policy

net asset value on the ex-dividend date (which is generally expected to be the last business day of a month). There is no sales charge or other charge for reinvestment. The Fund reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to suspend or limit at any time the ability of Investors to reinvest distributions.

Potential Benefits of Investing in the Fund By investing in the Fund, Investors will have access to Investment Fund Managers that the Advisor believes have performed well in the past. However, past performance is not indicative of future results. Through the Fund, Eligible Investors (as defined below) will have the opportunity to invest with Investment Fund Managers whose services typically are not available to the investing public, or who may otherwise restrict the number and type of persons whose money will be managed. Investing in the Fund also permits Investors to invest with Investment Fund Managers without being subject to the high minimum investment requirements typically imposed by such Investment Fund Managers. Investment minimums for Investment Funds typically range between \$5,000,000 and \$20,000,000.

The Fund's investments in secondaries—which typically already have invested in portfolio companies and, therefore, are viewed as more mature investments than primaries and further along in their development pattern—may reduce the impact of the J-curve associated with private equity investing.

As described above, the Fund has been structured with the intent of alleviating or reducing a number of the burdens typically associated with private equity investing, such as funding capital calls on short notice, reinvesting distribution proceeds, paying fund of funds level incentive fees (a performance fee at the investment level, in addition to the performance allocation of the underlying fund), meeting large minimum commitment amounts and receiving tax reporting on potentially late Schedules K-1.

Because the Fund intends to qualify as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code, it is expected to provide simpler tax reports to Investors on Form 1099. In addition, if the Fund qualifies as a RIC, the Fund potentially will block unrelated business taxable income for benefit plan investors and other investors that are generally otherwise exempt from payment of U.S. federal income tax. In order to so qualify, the Fund may structure its investments in a way involving tax inefficiencies.

Pursuant to this Prospectus, the Fund is offering Class A, Class I, Class II Shares, and Class L Shares on a continuous basis. The Fund offers each Share class at its current net asset values plus, if applicable, upfront sales loads with respect to any such Share class. The net asset values of each class of Shares will vary over time as a result of different fees and expenses applicable to each class, different inception dates and different offering prices of each respective Share class on its Initial Closing. Subsequent to the Initial Closing Date for each Share class, Shares may be purchased as of the first business day of each month based upon the the net asset value of such Share class on that day, plus any applicable upfront sales load. Each date on which Shares are delivered is referred to as a "Closing Date." Each prospective Investor will be required to complete an investor application (the "Investor Application") certifying that the Shares being purchased are being acquired by an Eligible Investor (defined herein). Prior to the receipt and acceptance of the Investor Application, an Investor's funds will be held in escrow.

There is no minimum amount required for the Initial Closing of any Share class and the Advisor may accept additional Fund investments monthly thereafter.

The Board of Trustees (the "Board") has overall responsibility for monitoring and overseeing the Fund's investment program and its management and operations. A majority of the Board are not "interested persons" (as defined by the 1940 Act) of the Fund or the Advisor. See "Management of the Fund."

Princeton Fund Advisors, LLC serves as the Fund's investment advisor. The Advisor is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, and is registered as an investment Advisor under the Investment Advisors Act of 1940, as amended (the "Advisors Act"). The Advisor is a subsidiary of Mount Yale Capital Group, LLC and also provides investment advisory services to mutual funds, another closed-end fund, and private funds.

The Offering

Board of Trustees

The Advisor

The Fund has entered into an investment management agreement (the "Management Agreement") with the Advisor that was effective for an initial term expiring two years after the Fund commenced investment operations. Thereafter, the Management Agreement has been and may continue to be renewed from year to year if its continuation is approved annually by the Board. The Board, or the Fund's Investors, may terminate the Management Agreement on 60 days' prior written notice to the Advisor. The Advisor may also terminate the Management Agreement upon 60 days' prior written notice.

Management Fee

The Fund pays an investment management fee to the Advisor in consideration of the advisory and other services provided by the Advisor to the Fund. In consideration for such services, the Fund pays the Advisor a monthly fee measured as of the end of each month (the "Management Fee") at the annual rate of 1.20% of the Fund's total managed assets, determined before giving effect to the payment of the Management Fee being calculated or to any purchases or repurchases of interests of the Fund or any distributions by the Fund. The Management Fee is paid to the Advisor out of the Fund's assets and, therefore, decreases the net profits or increases the net losses of the Fund. For purposes of determining the Management Fee payable to the Advisor for any month, total managed assets is calculated as the value of the total assets of the Fund (including any assets attributable to leverage) minus accrued liabilities (other than liabilities representing leverage).

The Management Fee is in addition to the asset-based fees, carried interests, expenses, incentive allocations, or other fees charged by the Investment Funds and indirectly borne by Investors. It is possible the Fund will be required to treat certain shareholders as receiving distributions equal to certain of the Fund's direct and indirect expenses, including the Management Fee and certain other advisory expenses, subject to possible limitations on or disallowance of deductions. See "Certain Tax Consideration – Expenses Subject to the 2% 'Floor' and Special Pass-Through Rules" for more details.

Distribution and/or Service Fees

The Fund, pursuant to the conditions of the exemptive order issued by the SEC, has adopted certain distribution and service plans with respect to each of the Class A, Class II Shares and Class L Shares (the "Distribution and Servicing Plans") in conformity with Rule 12b-1 under the 1940 Act.

An annual "Distribution and/or Service Fee" of up to 0.60% of the aggregate net asset value of Class A Shares, determined and accrued as of the last day of each calendar month (before any repurchases of Class A Shares), is charged on an aggregate class-wide basis, and Investors in Class A Shares are subject to the fee as long as they hold their Class A Shares. The portion of the Distribution and/or Service Fee which is for shareholder services shall not exceed 0.25% of the net asset value of Class A Shares, determined and accrued as of the last day of each calendar month (before any repurchases of Class A Shares).

While the Distribution and Servicing Plans for the Class II Shares allow for a Distribution and/or Service Fee at an annual rate not to exceed 0.50% of the net asset value attributable to each such Share class as of the end of each calendar month and the Distribution and Servicing Plans for Class L Shares allow for a Distribution and/or Service Fee at an annual rate not to exceed 1.00% of the net asset value attributable to such Share class as of the end of each calendar month, the Board has currently approved lower amounts. Currently, the Board has authorized an annual "Distribution and/or Service Fee" of up to 0.30% of the aggregate net asset value of Class II Shares, and 0.85% of the aggregate net asset value of Class L Shares determined and accrued as of the last day of each calendar month (before any repurchases of Class II Shares, or Class L Shares). Investors in Class II Shares and Class L Shares should expect to be subject to the fee as long as they hold their respective Shares.

In each case, the portion of the Distribution and/or Service Fee which is for shareholder services shall not exceed 0.25% of the net asset value of each respective Share class determined and accrued as of the last day of each calendar month (before any repurchases of such Share class), is charged on an aggregate class-wide basis, and Investors in Class II Shares and Class L Shares should expect to be subject to the fee as long as they hold their respective Shares.

Class I Shares are not subject to a Distribution and/or Service Fee.

Under the terms of a distribution agreement (the "Distribution Agreement") with Northern Lights Distributors, LLC ("NLD"), NLD is authorized to enter into agreements with broker/dealers, financial institutions and other industry professionals (collectively, "Sub-Placement Agents") for distribution services. Each compensated Sub-Placement Agent may be paid by NLD based on the aggregate net asset value of outstanding Class A, Class II and Class L Shares (respectively) held by Investors through or with such Sub-Placement Agent. NLD may, in its sole discretion, pay out all or a portion of the Distribution Fee and/or Service Fee to Sub-Placement Agents who provide the services required with respect to the Distribution and/or Service Fee, as applicable, who may, to the extent permitted, use such fees to compensate the firm and its personnel involved in the placement and ongoing servicing, as applicable, of Class A, Class II and Class L Shares. Payment of the Distribution and/or Service Fee is governed by the Fund's Distribution and Servicing Plans.

See "Fees and Expenses."

Other Fees and Expenses

Other than those expenses specifically required to be borne by the Advisor pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Fund, and, therefore, the Investors, bears all expenses incurred in the business of the Fund, and the operating expenses of the Fund, including any charges, allocations and fees to which the Fund is subject as an investor in the Investment Funds. The Fund incurred aggregate organizational and offering expenses of approximately \$400,000 in connection with the initial offering of Shares. The Fund's offering costs were capitalized and amortized over the 12-month period beginning on the Initial Closing Date. The Fund also bears certain ongoing offering costs associated with the Fund's continuous offering of Shares. The Fund, by investing in the Investment Funds, indirectly bears its pro rata share of the expenses incurred in the business of the Investment Funds. The Investment Funds in which the Fund intends to invest generally charge a management fee of 1.00% to 2.00% of total assets, and may also pay 20% of net profits as a carried interest allocation, subject to a high water mark, hurdle amount and clawback provisions. See "Summary of Fund Expenses" and "Fees and Expenses."

Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement and Waiver of Certain Fees Associated with Affiliated Funds The Advisor has entered into an "Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement" with the Fund from the effective date of the Fund until July 31, 2024 (the "Limitation Period") to limit the amount of "Specified Expenses" (as described below) borne by the Fund for each Share class during the Limitation Period to an amount not to exceed 0.75% per annum of the Fund's net assets attributed to such Share class (the "Expense Cap"). "Specified Expenses" is defined to include all expenses incurred in the business of the Fund, provided that the following expenses are excluded from the definition of Specified Expenses: the Fund's direct expenses or proportional share of (i) fees, expenses, allocations, carried interests, etc. of the Underlying Funds in which the Fund invests (including all acquired fund fees and expenses), (ii) transaction costs, including legal costs and brokerage commissions, of the Fund associated with the acquisition and disposition of primary interests, secondary interests, co-investments, ETF investments, and other investments, (iii) interest payments incurred by the Fund, (iv) fees and expenses incurred in connection with a credit facility, if any, obtained by the Fund, (v) taxes of the Fund, (vi) extraordinary expenses of the Fund as determined in the Advisor's sole discretion, which may include non-recurring expenses such as, for example, litigation expenses and shareholder meeting expenses, (vii) the distribution fees and/or service fees paid by the Fund, and (viii) the Management Fee or any other investment management fee paid by the Fund. "Extraordinary expenses" are expenses incurred outside of the ordinary course of business, including, without limitation, litigation or indemnification expenses, excise taxes, and costs incurred in connection with holding and/or soliciting proxies for a meeting of Investors. These expenses will be in addition to the expenses of the Fund that may be limited by the Advisor to 0.75% of the Fund's net assets. To the extent that Specified Expenses for any month during the Limitation Period exceed the Expense Cap, the Advisor will reimburse the Fund for expenses to the extent necessary to eliminate such excess. To the extent that the Advisor bears Specified Expenses, it is permitted to receive reimbursement by the Fund for any expense amounts previously paid or borne by the Advisor, for a period not to exceed three years after such expenses were paid or borne by the Advisor, even if such reimbursement occurs after the termination of the Limitation Period, provided that the Specified Expenses have fallen to a level below the lower of the Expense Cap or the then-current expense limitation, and the reimbursement amount does not raise the level of Specified Expenses in the month the reimbursement is being made to a level that

exceeds the lower of the Expense Cap or the then-current expense limitation.

The Advisor has voluntarily elected to waive a portion of the Management Fee attributable to the assets of the Fund invested in any mutual fund advised by the Advisor. The portion waived is equal to the amount of the management fee paid to the Advisor by such affiliated mutual fund that is attributable to Fund assets invested in the affiliated mutual fund, less the attributable amount of: (i) any fees paid to any subadvisor to the affiliated mutual fund and (ii) any fee waivers, expense reimbursements and other direct expenses incurred by the Advisor related to the affiliated mutual fund. Fees waived pursuant to this voluntary waiver are not subject to recoupment in future periods.

Conflicts of Interest

The Advisor, the Investment Fund Managers, and their respective affiliates may conduct investment activities for their own accounts and other accounts they manage that may give rise to conflicts of interest that may be disadvantageous to the Fund. Because the Management Fee is based on the Fund's total managed assets, the advisor's use of leverage impacts the amount of the Management Fee. The Fund and the Advisor have policies and procedures in place to mitigate the effect of any conflicts of interest and any affiliated transactions have or shall comply with applicable rules under the 1940 Act and relevant no-action relief previously provided by the SEC.

Plan of Distribution

In addition to the placement of Shares through NLD or Sub-Placement Agents, the Fund itself may also accept offers to purchase Shares that it receives directly from Investors. NLD may compensate Sub-Placement Agents in connection with the sale and distribution of the Class A, Class II and Class L Shares. The Fund is not obligated to sell any Shares directly, and may accept or reject any subscription in its sole discretion. Investors will be charged a placement fee/sales load of 3.50% (maximum) on the amount they invest in Class A Shares and 2.25% of the amount they invest in Class L Shares. The placement fee/sales load will be paid to NLD. With respect to Class A Shares, your financial intermediary may, in its discretion, waive all or a portion of the placement fee. Whether a fee waiver is available for an Investor's retirement plan or charitable account depends upon the policies and procedures of such Investor's financial intermediary. Please consult your financial Advisor for further information.

With respect to Class L Shares, NLD will re-allow the stated portion of the placement fee/sales load to Sub-Placement Agents and others who have sold shares pursuant to a selling agreement with NLD. With respect to Class A Shares, NLD may re-allow a portion of the placement fee/sales load to Sub-Placement Agents and others who have sold shares pursuant to a selling agreement with NLD. Class I Shares do not have a placement fee/sales load and may be purchased only by those Eligible Investors that (i) compensate their financial intermediaries for their services through asset-based fees, including certain asset based fee programs (i.e., wrap accounts), or (ii) purchase Shares directly from the Fund, which is permitted in certain limited circumstances in the sole discretion of the Advisor based on consideration of various factors, including the Investor's overall relationship with the Advisor, the Investor's holdings in other funds affiliated with the Advisor, and such other matters as the Advisor may consider relevant at the time.

Class II Shares do not have a sales load and may be purchased only by those Eligible Investors that compensate their financial intermediaries for their services through asset-based fees, including certain asset-based fee programs (i.e., wrap accounts).

The Advisor (or one of its affiliates) generally expects to provide additional compensation out of its own resources, and not the assets of the Fund, to certain brokers, dealers, financial advisors or other third-parties, other industry professionals and affiliates thereof ("financial intermediaries"), in connection with the sale of Shares, and also in connection with various other services including those related to the support and conduct of due diligence, Investor account maintenance, the provision of information and support services to Investors and the inclusion on preferred provider lists.

Investment Minimums

The minimum initial investment in the Fund's Class A Shares is \$35,000, the minimum initial investment in the Fund's Class I Shares is \$50,000, and the minimum initial investment in the Fund's Class II or Class L Shares is \$25,000. These investment minimums may be reduced by the Fund in the sole discretion of the Advisor based on consideration of various factors, including the Investor's or the financial advisor's overall relationship with the Advisor, the Investor's holdings in other funds affiliated with the Advisor, and such other matters as the Advisor may consider relevant at the time.

Eligible Investors To purchase Shares of the Fund, a prospective Investor will be required to certify that the Shares are being acquired directly or indirectly for the account of an Eligible Investor. A prospective Investor will also be required to certify that such Investor is eligible to purchase the Shares, and the Shares are being acquired directly or indirectly for the account of the investor. Investors who are accredited investors are referred to in this Prospectus as "Eligible Investors." An existing Investor seeking to purchase additional Shares will be required to qualify as an Eligible Investor at the time of the additional purchase, except with respect to reinvested distributions.

Each prospective Investor must submit a completed Investor Application acceptable to the Advisor, certifying, among other things, that the Investor is an Eligible Investor and will not transfer the Shares purchased except in the limited circumstances permitted. The Advisor may from time to time impose stricter or less stringent eligibility requirements. An Investor Application must be received by the Advisor and good funds for the full subscription amount delivered to the Fund at least five (5) business days' prior to the relevant Closing Date. If an Investor Application is not received in proper form in a timely manner and accepted by the Fund by a particular Closing Date, the subscription will not be accepted at such Closing Date and any funds will be held in a non-interest-bearing escrow account by the Fund's escrow agent until the next Closing Date.

An investment in the Fund involves a considerable amount of risk. An Investor may lose money. Before making an investment decision, a prospective Investor should (i) consider the suitability of this investment with respect to the Investor's investment objectives and personal situation and

(ii) consider factors such as the Investor's personal net worth, income, age, risk tolerance and liquidity needs. The Fund is an illiquid investment. Investors have no right to require the Fund to redeem their Shares of the Fund.

Valuation

The Investment Funds will invest a large percentage of their assets in certain securities and other financial instruments that do not have readily ascertainable market prices. Therefore, the Investment Funds also do not have readily ascertainable market prices. Procedures, approved by the Board, provide that valuations for Investment Funds will be determined based primarily on valuations provided by Investment Fund Managers, provided that such values will be adjusted for any other relevant information, if any, available at the time the Fund values its portfolio (each a "Determination Date"). Such relevant information may include capital activity, information regarding any impairments or changes from the Investment Fund Manager, and material events occurring between the reference dates of the Investment Fund Manager's valuations and the relevant Determination Date. Investment Fund Managers typically provide valuations on a quarterly basis whereas the Fund will consider valuations on an ongoing basis and will provide valuations on a monthly basis using its valuation methodology. However, while any model that may be used would be designed to assist in confirming or adjusting valuation recommendations, the Fund will not be able to confirm with certainty the accuracy of the Investment Fund Managers' valuations until the Fund receives the Investment Funds' audited annual financial statements and, as with all models, any imperfections, errors, or limitations in the model could affect the ability of the Fund to accurately value Investment Fund assets on a monthly basis.

Unlisted Closed-End Structure; Limited Liquidity and Transfer Restrictions The Fund is organized as a closed-end management investment company. Unlike open-end registered management investment companies (commonly known as "mutual funds"), investors in closed-end funds do not have the right to redeem their Shares on a daily basis. To meet daily redemption requests, mutual funds must comply with more stringent regulations than closed-end funds.

The Shares are not be listed on a national stock exchange, and no public market for the Fund Shares is expected to develop. In addition, the Shares are subject to limitations on transferability and liquidity is provided only through limited repurchase offers described below.

An investment in the Fund is suitable only for Investors who can bear the risks associated with the limited liquidity of the Shares and should be viewed as a long-term investment. See "Types of Investments and Related Risk Factors-Limitations on Transfer; Shares Not Listed; No Market for Fund Shares" and "Repurchases of Shares and Transfers."

Repurchases of Shares by the Fund

Investors do not have the right to require the Fund to redeem their Shares. To provide a limited degree of liquidity to Investors, the Fund may, from time to time, offer to repurchase Shares pursuant to written tenders by Investors. Repurchases are made at such times, in such amounts and on such terms as may be determined by the Board, in its sole discretion. In determining whether the Fund should offer to repurchase Shares, the Board will consider the recommendations of the Advisor as to the timing of such an offer, as well as a variety of operational, business and economic factors. The Advisor anticipates that it will continue recommending to the Board that the Fund offer to repurchase Shares from Investors on a quarterly basis, with such repurchases to occur as of the last day of March, June, September and December (or, if any such date is not a business day, on the immediately preceding business day). The Advisor also expects that, generally, it will continue recommending to the Board that each repurchase offer should apply to not more than 5% of the net assets of the Fund. Each repurchase offer generally commences approximately 100 days prior to the applicable repurchase date.

If a repurchase offer is oversubscribed by Investors who tender Shares, the Fund may extend the repurchase offer, repurchase a pro rata portion of the Shares tendered, or take any other action permitted by applicable law. In addition, the Fund may repurchase Shares of Investors if, among other reasons, the Board determines that such repurchase would be in the interest of the Fund.

Repurchase offers by the Fund, if any, will be made to all holders of Shares. Such repurchase offers principally are funded by cash and cash equivalents, the sale of certain liquid securities, or borrowings by the Fund. The Fund may need to suspend or postpone repurchase offers if it is required to dispose of interests in Investment Funds to fund such repurchase offer and is not able to do so in a timely manner.

A 2% early repurchase fee is charged by the Fund with respect to any repurchase of Class A Shares, Class I Shares, Class II Shares or Class L Shares from an Investor at any time prior to the day immediately preceding the one-year anniversary of the Investor's purchase of such Shares. Such repurchase fee is retained by the Fund and benefits the Fund's remaining Investors. Shares tendered for repurchase are treated as having been repurchased on a "first in-first out" basis. An early repurchase fee payable by an Investor may be waived by the Fund in circumstances where the Board determines that doing so is in the best interests of the Fund.

Summary of Taxation

The Fund seeks to qualify and elect to be treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code, which generally will relieve the Fund of any liability for federal income tax to the extent its income is timely distributed to its shareholders. In order to qualify as a RIC and not be subject to tax on its income, the Fund must, among other things, satisfy diversification, 90% gross income and distribution requirements. The Fund generally expects to satisfy the requirements to qualify and be eligible to be treated as a RIC. Nonetheless, there can be no assurance that the Fund will so qualify and be eligible.

Certain of the Investment Funds in which the Fund invests may be classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes. For the purpose of satisfying certain of the requirements for qualification as a RIC, the Fund will likely be required to look through to the character of the income, assets and investments held by such Investment Funds. However, Investment Funds generally are not obligated to disclose the contents of their portfolios. This lack of transparency may make it difficult for the Advisor to monitor the sources of the Fund's income and the diversification of its assets, and otherwise comply with Subchapter M of the Code, and ultimately may limit the universe of Investment Funds in which the Fund can invest. Furthermore, although the Fund expects to receive information from each Investment Fund Manager regarding its investment performance on a regular basis, in most cases there is little or no means of independently verifying this information.

If the Fund fails to qualify as a RIC or to satisfy the distribution requirement in any taxable year, it is subject to tax on its taxable income at corporate rates, whether or not distributed to its Investors, and all distributions out of earnings and profits would be taxable to its Investors as ordinary income. In addition, the Fund could be required to recognize unrealized gains, pay substantial taxes and interest and make distributions (which could be subject to interest charges) before requalifying as a RIC that is accorded special tax treatment.

Distributions from the Fund generally are taxable to Investors as ordinary income or net capital gains, whether or not such distributions are reinvested in Shares. An Investor that is not subject to tax on its income is generally not be required to pay tax on amounts distributed to it by the Fund, provided that such Investor's acquisition of its Shares is not debt-financed within the meaning of Section 514 of the Code. The Fund will inform Investors of the amount and character of its distributions to Investors. See "Certain Tax Considerations" and "Types of Investments and Related Risk Factors—Tax Risks" below for additional information.

ERISA Plans and Other Tax-Exempt Entities

Investors subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA") and Section 4975 of the Code, and other tax-exempt entities, including employee benefit plans, individual retirement accounts (each, an "IRA"), and 401(k) and Keogh Plans may purchase Shares. Because the Fund is registered as an investment company under the 1940 Act, the underlying assets of the Fund are not considered to be "plan assets" of the ERISA Plans investing in the Fund for purposes of the fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction rules of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code. Thus, the Advisor is not a fiduciary within the meaning of ERISA with respect to the assets of any ERISA Plan that becomes an Investor, solely as a result of the ERISA Plan's investment in the Fund.

Reports to Investors

The Fund will furnish to Investors as soon as practicable after the end of each taxable year information on Form 1099 as is required by law to assist the Investors in preparing their tax returns. The Fund will also prepare and transmit to Investors unaudited semi-annual reports and audited annual reports (when each becomes available) within 60 days after the close of the period for which the report is being made, or as otherwise required by the 1940 Act.

Term

The Fund's term is perpetual unless the Fund is otherwise terminated under the terms of the Fund's organizational documents.

Risk Factors

While the benefits of investing in private equity may be considerable, private equity is not suitable for everyone. Private equity investments involve significant risks, including a total loss of capital. The risks associated with private equity arise from several factors including: limited diversification, the use of leverage, limited liquidity and capital calls made on short notice (failure by the Fund to meet capital call obligations may result in significantly negative consequences including a total loss of investment). There can be no assurance that the order of risks below should be taken as an

indication of the potential magnitude or probability of the possible consequences of the risks summarized below.

General Risks

- Loss of capital, up to the entire amount of an Investor's investment.
- Investment Funds may also be newly organized and therefore may have no, or only limited, operating histories for Investors to evaluate.
- The Fund's Shares represent illiquid securities of an unlisted closed-end fund, are not listed on any securities exchange or traded in any other market, and are subject to substantial limitations on transferability.
- The Advisor and Investment Fund Managers may face conflicts of interest.
- If, in any year, the Fund fails to qualify as a RIC under the applicable tax laws, the Fund would be taxed as an ordinary corporation. In such circumstances, the Fund could be required to recognize unrealized gains, pay substantial taxes and make substantial distributions before requalifying as a RIC that is accorded special tax treatment.

Investment Strategy Risks

- The Fund's performance depends upon the performance of the Investment Fund Managers and selected strategies, the adherence by such Investment Fund Managers to such selected strategies, the instruments used by such Investment Fund Managers and the Advisor's ability to select Investment Fund Managers and strategies and effectively allocate Fund assets among them.
- The Fund is organized to provide Investors with a multi-strategy investment program and not as an indirect way to gain access to any particular Investment Fund.
- The Fund's investment portfolio consists of Investment Funds that hold securities issued primarily by
 privately held companies, and operating results for the portfolio companies in a specified period is
 difficult to predict. Such investments involve a high degree of business and financial risk that can
 result in substantial losses.
- The securities in which an Investment Fund Manager may invest may be among the most junior in a portfolio company's capital structure and, thus, subject to the greatest risk of loss. Generally, there will be no collateral to protect an investment once made.
- Subject to the limitations and restrictions of the 1940 Act, the Fund may borrow money (i.e., utilize leverage) for investment purposes, to pay operating expenses, to satisfy repurchase requests from Investors and to otherwise provide the Fund with liquidity, which may increase the Fund's volatility.
- Subject to the limitations and restrictions of the 1940 Act, the Fund may use derivative transactions, primarily equity options and swaps, for hedging purposes. Options and swaps transactions present risks arising from the use of leverage (which increases the magnitude of losses), volatility, the possibility of default by a counterparty, and illiquidity. Use of options and swaps transactions for hedging purposes by the Fund could present significant risks, including the risk of losses in excess of the amounts invested.
- An Investment Fund Manager's investments, depending upon strategy, may be in companies whose
 capital structures are highly leveraged. Such investments involve a high degree of risk in that adverse
 fluctuations in the cash flow of such companies, or increased interest rates, may impair their ability to
 meet their obligations, which may accelerate and magnify declines in the value of any such portfolio
 company investments in a down market.
- Fund Investors bear two layers of fees and expenses: asset-based fees and expenses at the Fund level, and asset-based fees, carried interests, incentive allocations or other fees and expenses at the

- The Fund is a non-diversified fund, which means that the percentage of its assets that may be invested in the securities of a single issuer is not limited by the 1940 Act. As a result, the Fund's investment portfolio may be subject to greater risk and volatility than if investments had been made in the securities of a broad range of issuers.
- Investors have no right to receive information about the Investment Funds or Investment Fund Managers, and have no recourse against Investment Funds or their Investment Fund Managers.
- The Fund intends to qualify as a RIC under the Code but may be subject to income tax liability if it fails to qualify or otherwise fails to obtain treatment as a RIC by failing to satisfy the distribution requirement.
- The Fund is subject to the risk that Investment Fund Managers may not provide information sufficient to ensure that the Fund qualify as a RIC under the Code.
- The Fund is subject to, and invests in, Investment Funds and other private funds that are subject to
 risks associated with legal and regulatory changes applicable to private equity funds, hedge funds, and
 other private investments.
- The Fund may invest a substantial portion of its assets in Investment Funds that follow a particular type of investment strategy, which will expose the Fund to the risks of that strategy.
- The Fund's investments in Investment Funds and certain other Underlying Funds, and many of the investments held by the Investment Funds and certain other Underlying Funds, are priced in the absence of a readily available market value and may be priced based on determinations of fair value, which may prove to be inaccurate. Neither the Advisor nor the Board is able to confirm independently the accuracy of the Investment Fund Managers' valuations (which are unaudited, except at year-end). This risk is exacerbated to the extent that Investment Funds generally provide valuations only on a quarterly basis. While such information is generally provided on a quarterly basis, the Fund provides valuations, and issues Shares, on a monthly basis. In addition, global, national, regional and local market events, natural disasters or a pandemic could cause delays in reporting of valuations (and thus delays in the Fund's financial reports to shareholders), temporarily or for an extended period.
- The Fund may not be able to vote on matters that require the approval of Investment Fund investors, including matters that could adversely affect the Fund's investment in such Investment Fund.
- The Fund may receive from an Investment Fund an in-kind distribution of securities that are illiquid or difficult to value and difficult to dispose of.
- The Fund may invest in a number of Investment Funds, resulting in investment-related expenses that may be higher than if the Investor had invested directly in only one Investment Fund.
- Investment Funds located outside of the U.S. may be subject to withholding taxes in such jurisdictions, which may reduce the return of the Fund and its Investors.
- Investment Funds will not be registered as investment companies under the 1940 Act, and, therefore, the Fund and its Investors, as investors in such Investment Funds, may not avail themselves of 1940 Act protections.
- The Fund is registered as an investment company under the 1940 Act, which may limit the Fund's
 investment flexibility compared to a fund that is not so registered.
- Investment Fund Managers may invest the Investment Funds' assets in securities of early-stage venture investments, which may result in or contribute to significant losses to the Fund.
- To avoid holding excess cash for extended periods of time, which can result in "cash drag", the Advisor intends to invest a portion of its uncalled capital commitments to Investment Funds in a variety of Underlying Funds or investment strategies that are intended to provide

greater liquidity than Investment Funds. These investments may include registered management investment companies (commonly known as "mutual funds"), including those that invest in private equity, ETFs, and short-term securities. The Fund may invest in mutual funds or private funds advised by the Advisor or an affiliate of the Advisor. The Fund may also invest in private credit funds (unregistered funds that invest primarily in debt instruments), hedge funds, or other strategies to attempt to minimize cash drag. These vehicles may utilize a variety of credit strategies that invest in debt of varying credit quality or duration, including consumer credit, corporate credit, mortgages or mortgage-related investments, or other strategies. The liquidity of these investments will vary, but such investments will be selected to allow the Fund to plan for short- and medium-term liquidity necessary to meet anticipated capital calls by Investment Funds while minimizing the cash drag that can be prevalent in pooled private equity fund of funds. Even when the Fund's assets are "fully deployed" in private equity Investment Funds, the Advisor expects that a significant portion of the Fund's assets may consist of liquid assets, including high-quality fixed income securities, money market instruments and money market mutual funds, and cash or cash equivalents, for purposes of funding of Investment Fund capital contributions, Fund redemptions, and tax distributions.

- The risks of investment in any Underlying Fund typically reflect the risks of the types of instruments in which the Underlying Fund invests. When the Fund invests in Underlying Funds, shareholders of the Fund bear indirectly their proportionate share of their fees and expenses, as well as their share of the Fund's fees and expenses. As a result, an investment by the Fund in an Underlying Fund could cause the Fund's operating expenses (taking into account indirect expenses such as the fees and expenses of the Underlying Fund) to be higher and, in turn, performance to be lower than if it were to invest directly in the instruments Underlying Fund. The trading in an Underlying Fund may be halted if the trading in one or more of the Underlying Fund's underlying securities is halted.
- The risks of ETFs and mutual funds designed to track equity indexes may include passive strategy risk (the ETF or mutual fund may hold constituent securities of an index regardless of the current or projected performance of a specific security or a particular industry, market sector, country, or currency, which could cause returns to be lower or higher than if an active strategy were used), non-correlation risk (the ETF's or mutual fund's return may not match the returns of the relevant index), equity securities risk (the value of equity securities will rise and fall in response to the activities of the company that issued them, general market conditions, and/or economic conditions), market trading risks (the ETF or mutual fund faces market trading risks, including losses from trading in secondary markets and disruption in the creation/redemption process of the ETF or mutual fund), and concentration risk (to the extent the ETF, mutual fund or underlying index's portfolio is concentrated in the securities of a particular geography or market segment, the ETF or mutual fund may be adversely affected by the performance of that market, may be subject to increased price volatility, and may be more susceptible to adverse economic, market, political, or regulatory occurrences affecting that market).
- The Fund may invest in traded and non-traded business development companies ("BDCs"), which are not redeemable at the option of the shareholder and they may trade in the market at a discount to their net asset value. In addition, non-traded BDCs are subject to significant commissions, expenses, and offering and organizational costs that reduce the value of the Fund's investments.
- Hedge funds and private credit funds are typically exempt from registration under the 1940 Act and offered in private placement offerings, similar to private equity funds. Hedge funds and private credit funds are not subject to certain investment restrictions imposed by the 1940 Act and therefore certain investment instruments and techniques that a hedge fund or private credit fund may use are speculative and involve a high degree of risk. Because of the speculative nature of a hedge fund's or private credit fund's investments and trading strategies, the Fund may suffer a significant or complete loss of its invested capital in one or more such investments. A shareholder also bears fees and expenses charged by the underlying hedge funds or private credit funds in addition to the Fund's direct fees and expenses, which may include incentive fees or a performance allocation. In addition, interests in any hedge fund or private credit fund are typically considered illiquid and even

where such fund provides quarterly liquidity, the Fund may be subject to an initial lock-up period or other fees to obtain liquidity.

- The Fund generally does not contribute the full amount of its investment to an Investment Fund at the time of its admission to the Investment Fund. Instead, the Fund is required to make incremental contributions pursuant to capital calls issued from time to time by the Investment Fund. The Fund seeks to maintain sufficient access to liquid assets in anticipation of funding capital calls.
- The business of identifying and structuring investments of the types contemplated by the Fund is competitive, and involves a high degree of uncertainty. The availability of investment opportunities is subject to market conditions and may also be affected by the prevailing regulatory or political climate. No assurance can be made that the Advisor will be able to identify and complete attractive investments in the future or that it will be able to invest fully its subscriptions. There is also the potential that the Advisor will be presented with an investment opportunity and is unable to pursue that opportunity because of a shortage of investable assets. Similarly, the Advisor could find itself in the position where it has sufficient capital on hand, but is unable to find opportunity to deploy it. This could occur for a variety of reasons but a few reasons include:
- Private equity firms raise funds for their flagship funds intermittently and availability is sometimes limited.
- Secondary private equity opportunities generally fluctuate with market liquidity and take several
 months to close.
- The Fund may seek to employ an "over-commitment" strategy with respect to its investments in private funds in order to boost returns, while balancing the need for a certain level of liquidity. Holding a sizeable cash position may result in lower returns to the extent the Fund holds cash rather than employing an "over-commitment" strategy. However, an inadequate cash position presents other risks to the Fund, including an adverse impact on the Fund's ability to fund capital contributions, to pay for repurchases of Shares tendered by Investors or to meet expenses generally. Moreover, if the Fund defaults on its commitment to an Investment Fund or fails to satisfy capital calls to an Investment Fund in a timely manner then, generally, it is subject to significant penalties, such as the forfeiture of some or all of the Fund's capital contribution to the Investment Fund. Any failure by the Fund to make timely capital contributions in respect of its commitments may (i) impair the ability of the Fund to pursue its investment program, (ii) force the Fund to borrow, (iii) indirectly cause the Fund and its Investors to be subject to certain penalties from the Investment Funds (including the forfeiture of a portion of the Fund's investment in an Investment Fund), or (iv) otherwise impair the value of the Fund's investments (including the devaluation of the Fund).
- Investment Fund Managers may invest the Investment Funds' assets in securities of non-U.S. issuers, including those in emerging markets, and the Fund's assets may be invested in Investment Funds that may be denominated in non-U.S. currencies, thereby exposing the Fund to various risks that may not be applicable to U.S. securities.
- An Investment Fund Manager may focus on a particular industry or sector (e.g., energy, utilities, financial services, healthcare, consumer products, industrials and technology), which may subject the Investment Fund, and thus the Fund, to greater risk and volatility than if investments had been made in issuers in a broader range of industries.
- An Investment Fund Manager may focus on a particular country or geographic region, which may subject the Investment Fund, and thus the Fund, to greater risk and volatility than if investments had been made in issuers in a broader range of geographic regions.
- An Investment Fund's assets may be invested in a limited number of securities, or portfolio companies, which may subject the Investment Fund, and thus the Fund, to greater risk and volatility than if investments had been made in a larger number of securities.
- Secondary investments may be acquired based on incomplete or imperfect information, and may expose the Fund to contingent liabilities, counterparty risks, reputational risks and execution risks.

Additionally, the absence of a recognized "market" price means that the Fund cannot be assured that it is realizing the most favorable price in connection with trades in secondaries.

• The Fund may invest in private credit funds, which involve credit risk, or the risk that the issuer of a security and other instrument is not able to make principal and interest payments when due, and interest rate risk, or the risk that interest rates rise causing a drop in value of the Fund's investments.

No assurance can be given that the Fund's investment program will be successful. Accordingly, the Fund should be considered a speculative investment and entails substantial risks, and a prospective investor should invest in the Fund only if it can sustain a complete loss of its investment. An investment in the Fund should be viewed only as part of an overall investment program.

See "Types of Investments and Related Risk Factors."

Application for Shares

The stated minimum initial investment in the Fund is \$35,000 for Class A Shares, \$50,000 for Class I Shares, and \$25,000 for each of Class II Shares, and Class L Shares, which minimums may be waived by the Fund in the sole discretion of the Advisor based on consideration of various factors, including the Investor's or the financial intermediary's overall relationship with the Advisor, the Investor's holdings in other funds affiliated with the Advisor, and such other matters as the Advisor may consider relevant at the time. The minimum additional investment in the Fund is \$10,000 for Class A Shares and Class I Shares, and \$5,000 for Class II Shares and Class L Shares. The Fund may accept initial and additional purchases of Class A Shares, Class I Shares, Class II Shares and Class L Shares as of the first business day of each calendar month (each a "Closing Date"). The Initial Closing for the Fund's Class I Shares was May 13, 2016, the Initial Closing for the Fund's Class A Shares was July 1, 2016, the Initial Closing for each of the Fund's Class II Shares was April 3, 2017, and the Initial Closing of the Fund's Class L Shares was July 2, 2018. Purchase proceeds do not represent the Fund's capital or become the Fund's assets until the relevant Closing Date. Any amounts received in advance of a Closing Date are placed in a non-interest-bearing account with UMB Bank, N.A., the Fund's escrow agent, or any other agent appointed by the Fund, prior to the amounts being invested in the Fund. The Fund reserves the right to reject any purchase of Shares in certain circumstances (including when the Fund has reason to believe that such purchase would be unlawful). Unless otherwise required by applicable law, any amount received in advance of a purchase ultimately rejected by the Fund will be returned to the prospective Investor.

SUMMARY OF FUND EXPENSES

This table illustrates the expenses and fees the Fund expects Class A Shares, Class I Shares, Class II Shares, and Class L Shares to incur and that Investors can expect to bear directly or indirectly. The Investor Transaction Expenses are fees paid directly from your investment. The Annual Expenses are fees and expenses incurred by the Fund and its Investors each year. Investors will indirectly bear fees and expenses of any underlying acquired fund, which are reflected in the chart and in the examples below. For a more complete description of the various costs and expenses of the Fund, see "Fees and Expenses."

	Class A	Class I	Class II	Class L
Investor Transaction Expenses				
Maximum upfront sales load	3.50%	None	None	2.25%
(as a percentage of purchase amount) ⁽¹⁾	3.30%	None	None	2.2370
Maximum early repurchase fee				
(as a percentage of amount repurchased within one	2.00%	2.00%	2.00%	2.00%
year) ⁽²⁾				
Annual Expenses				
(as a percentage of average net assets attributable to				
Shares)				
Management Fee ⁽³⁾	1.20%	1.20%	1.20%	1.20%
Interest Payments on Borrowed Funds ⁽⁴⁾	0.21%	0.21%	0.21%	0.22%
Distribution and/or Service Fee ⁽⁵⁾	0.60%	None	0.30%	0.85%
Other Expenses ^{(6),(7)}	0.58%	0.58%	0.58%	0.58%
Acquired Fund Fees and Expenses ⁽⁸⁾	2.24%	2.24%	2.24%	2.24%
Total Annual Expenses	4.83%	4.23%	4.53%	5.09%
Fee and Expense	(0.07)%	(0.08)%	(0.08)%	(0.07)%
(Reimbursement)/Recoupment	(0.07)70	(0.08)/0	(0.08)70	(0.07)70
Total Annual Expenses After	4.76%	4.15%	4.45%	5.02%
Fee and Expense Reimbursement/Recoupment		1.1370	1.1570	3.3270

(1) The stated minimum initial investment to purchase Class A Shares in the Fund is \$35,000 (\$10,000 with respect to additional purchases of Class A Shares by an existing Investor), which the minimum may be reduced at the sole discretion of the Fund. Investors in Class A Shares may be charged a sales load ("placement fee") up to a maximum of 3.50% on the amount they invest. Any placement fee will be paid to NLD and reduce the amount of the Investor's investment in the Fund. Your financial intermediary may, in its discretion, waive all or any portion of the placement fee for certain Class A Investors. The table assumes the maximum placement fee is charged. See "Application for Investment." No placement fee will be charged on purchases of Class I Shares.

The stated minimum initial investment to purchase Class II, and Class L Shares in the Fund is \$25,000 (\$5,000 with respect to additional purchases of Class II, and Class L Shares by an existing Investor), which minimum may be reduced in the sole discretion of the Fund. Investors in Class L Shares will be charged a placement fee of 2.25% on the amount they invest. Any placement fee will reduce the amount of the Investor's investment in the Fund. With respect to Class L Shares, the placement fee will be paid to NLD. NLD will in turn re-allow the portion of the placement fee set forth below to Sub-Placement Agents who have signed a selling agreement with NLD. No placement fee will be charged on purchases of Class II Shares.

	Class A	Class I	Class II	Class L
Re-Allowed Amount	3.25%	N/A	N/A	2.00%

Investors should direct any questions regarding placement fees to NLD or their financial intermediary.

(2) A 2.00% early repurchase fee payable to the Fund will be charged with respect to the repurchase of an Investor's Class A, Class I, Class II or Class L Shares at any time prior to the day immediately preceding the one-year anniversary of an Investor's purchase of such Shares (on a "first in-first out" basis). An early repurchase fee payable by an Investor may be waived by the Fund, in circumstances where the Board determines that doing so is in the best interests of the Fund and in a manner as will not discriminate unfairly against any Investor. The early repurchase fee will be retained by the Fund for the benefit of the remaining Investors. See "Repurchases of Shares and Transfers."

- (3) The Fund will pay the Advisor the Management Fee at the annual rate of 1.20% of the Fund's net asset value, calculated as the value of the total assets of the Fund (including any assets attributable to leverage) minus accrued liabilities (other than liabilities representing leverage). For purposes of determining the Management Fee payable to the Advisor for any month, net asset value will be calculated prior to any reduction for any fees and expenses of the Fund, including, without limitation, the Management Fee payable to the Advisor.
- (4) Historically, the Fund had leverage and calculated its management fee based on the Fund's net assets. The fees listed represent historical borrowing and are presented for informational purposes. Going forward, the Fund will calculate its management fee based on the Fund's total managed assets and does not anticipate using leverage in the coming year.
- (5) Under the Distribution and Servicing Plans adopted by the Fund, the Fund will pay NLD fees out of the net assets of each applicable Class of Shares on a monthly basis, (the "Distribution and Service Fee"), which may be used to compensate intermediaries for distribution and shareholder servicing activities. An annual Distribution and/or Service Fee of up to 0.60% of the aggregate net asset value of Class A Shares, determined and accrued as of the last day of each calendar month (before any repurchases of Class A Shares), is charged on an aggregate class-wide basis. While the Distribution and Services Plans for Class II Shares allow for a Distribution and/or Service Fee at an annual rate not to exceed 0.50% of the net asset value attributable to each such Share class as of the end of each calendar month and the Distribution and Servicing Plans for Class L Shares allow for a Distribution and/or Service Fee at an annual rate not to exceed 1.00% of the net asset value attributable to each such Share class as of the end of each calendar month, the Board has currently approved lower amounts. Currently the Board has authorized a Distribution and/or Service Fee of 0.30% per annum of the aggregate net asset value of Class II Shares, and 0.85% per annum of the aggregate value of Class L Shares. The portion of such Distribution and/or Service Fee for shareholder services shall not exceed 0.25% of the aggregate net asset value of each respective Share class as of the end of each calendar month. NLD may pay all or a portion of the Distribution and Service Fee to the selling agents that sell Class A, Class II, and Class L Shares of the Fund who have signed a selling agreement with NLD that provided for such re-allowance, in each case to the extent they provide the required services for each such fee, or to other persons as otherwise permitted by the Distribution and Service Plans. Payment of the Distribution and Service Fee is governed by the Fund's Distribution and Service Plans, which, pursuant to the conditions of an exemptive order issued by the SEC, has been adopted by the Fund with respect to Class A, Class II, and Class L Shares in compliance with Rule 12b-1 under the 1940 Act as if the Fund was a registered open-end investment company, therefore the Fund will adhere to Rule 12b-1. The Fund has elected to adopt and implement the Distribution and Service Plans with respect to Class A, Class II, and Class L Shares in the manner required by the Rule. See "Fees and Expenses."
- (6) "Other Expenses" include professional fees and other expenses, including, without limitation, offering costs, administration fees, investor servicing fees, custody fees, transfer agency fees, compliance costs and expenses, annual registration expenses, legal, accounting and tax fees, trustee fees, insurance costs and other expenses that the Fund bears. "Other Expenses" are estimated based on historic fees and expenses.
- (7) The Advisor has entered into a Fifth Amended and Restated Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement with the Fund for at least until July 31, 2024 to limit the amount of "Specified Expenses" (as described below) borne by the Fund during the Limitation Period for each Share class to an amount not to exceed 0.75% per annum of the Fund's net assets attributed to such Share class. "Specified Expenses" is defined to include all expenses incurred in the business of the Fund, provided that the following expenses are excluded from the definition of Specified Expenses: the Fund's direct expenses or proportional share of (i) fees, expenses, allocations, carried interests, etc. of the Underlying Funds in which the Fund invests (including all acquired fund fees and expenses), (ii) transaction costs, including legal costs and brokerage commissions, of the Fund associated with the acquisition and disposition of primary interests, secondary interests, co-investments, ETF investments, and other investments, (iii) interest payments incurred by the Fund, (iv) fees and expenses incurred in connection with a credit facility, if any, obtained by the Fund, (v) taxes of the Fund, (vi) extraordinary expenses of the Fund as determined in the Advisor's sole discretion, which may include non-recurring expenses such as, for example, litigation expenses and shareholder meeting expenses, (vii) the distribution fees and/or service fees paid by the Fund, and (viii) the Management Fee or any other investment management fee paid by the Fund. "Extraordinary expenses" are expenses incurred outside of the ordinary course of business, including, without limitation, litigation or indemnification expenses, excise taxes, and costs incurred in connection with holding and/or soliciting proxies for a meeting of Investors. These expenses will be in addition to the expenses of the Fund that may be limited by the Advisor to 0.75% of the Fund's net assets attributed to each Share class. To the extent that the Advisor bears Specified Expenses, it is permitted to receive reimbursement by the Fund for any expense amounts previously paid or borne by the Advisor, for a period not to exceed three years after such expenses were paid or borne by the Advisor, even if such reimbursement occurs after the termination of the Limitation Period, provided that the Specified Expenses of the respective class of Shares has fallen to a level below the lower of the Expense Cap or the then-current expense limitation, and the reimbursement amount does not raise the level of Specified Expenses in the month the reimbursement is being made to a level that exceeds the lower of the Expense Cap or the then-current expense limitation. The Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement may not be terminated by the Advisor, but may be terminated by the Board. The agreement will automatically terminate if the Management Agreement with the Advisor is terminated.

(8) Acquired Fund Fees and Expenses are based on historic fees and expenses. The typical incentive allocation paid to the investment Advisors of acquired funds that pay such fees is 20%. Acquired fund fees and expenses may be substantially higher or lower because certain fees are based on the performance of the acquired funds, which may fluctuate over time.

The following examples are based on the fees and expenses as set forth in the fund expenses table, and reflect the expenses that Investors in each class of Shares (including the maximum placement fee that may be assessed on an investment in each class of Shares) would pay on a \$1,000 investment, assuming a 5% annual return:*

	<u>Example</u>					
	<u> 1 Year</u>	3 Years	5 Years	10 Years		
Class A	\$81	\$175	\$269	\$505		
Class I	\$42	\$128	\$215	\$439		
Class II	\$45	\$136	\$229	\$463		
Class L	\$72	\$171	\$270	\$517		

* The example does not present actual expenses and should not be considered a representation of future expenses. Actual expenses may be greater or less than those shown. Moreover, the Fund's actual rate of return may be greater or less than the hypothetical 5% return shown in the example.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The financial highlights tables are intended to help you understand the Fund's financial performance. The tables below reflect the financial results for a single Class A, Class I, Class II, and Class L Share for the life of the Registrant during the period of the Registrant's operations. The total returns in the tables represent the rate that an investor would have earned (or lost) on an investment in the Fund (assuming reinvestment of all dividends and distributions). This information has been derived from the Fund's financial statements, which have been audited by RSM US LLP, the Fund's independent registered public accounting firm. To request the Fund's annual report or semi-annual report, please call 1-855-924-2454.

Per Unit Data and Ratios for a Share of Beneficial Interest Outstanding Throughout each Year

Class A	H Ma	the Year Ended arch 31, 023 ⁽⁶⁾		or the Year Ended March 31, 2022 ⁽⁶⁾		the Year Ended arch 31, 2021		or the Year Ended March 31, 2020	or the Year Ended March 31, 2019
Net asset value, beginning of year	\$	14.69	\$	13.17	\$	10.09	\$	11.03	\$ 10.92
Gain (Loss) from investment operations: Net investment loss ⁽¹⁾ Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments Total from investment operations		(0.02) (0.29) (0.31)	_	(0.23) 2.40 2.17		(0.15) $\frac{3.41}{3.26}$		(0.04) (0.58) (0.62)	 $ \begin{array}{r} (0.04) \\ \hline 0.86 \\ \hline 0.82 \end{array} $
Less distributions from: Net investment income Net realized gains Total distributions		(1.41)		(0.65) (0.65)		(0.18) (0.18)		(0.17) (0.15) (0.32)	(0.39) (0.32) (0.71)
Net asset value, end of year	\$	12.97	\$	14.69	\$	13.17	\$	10.09	\$ 11.03%
Total return ⁽²⁾		(2.23)%	_	16.61%		32.53%	_	(5.87)%	 7.58%
Net assets, at end of year (000s)	\$	14,332	\$	13,710	\$	10,914	\$	8,250	\$ 8,036
Ratios/Supplemental Data:									
Ratio of gross expenses to average net assets ^(3,4) Ratio of net expenses to average net		2.59%		3.62%		4.32%		2.84%	3.11%
assets ⁽⁴⁾ Ratio of net investment loss to average net		2.52%		3.69%		4.38%		2.73%	2.50%
assets ⁽⁵⁾		(0.12)%		(1.62)%		(1.30)%		(0.36)%	(0.34)%
Portfolio Turnover Rate Senior securities, exclusive of treasury		43%		67%		42%		63%	41%
securities ⁽⁷⁾ Asset coverage ratio of senior securities ⁽⁸⁾ Asset coverage, per \$1,000 of senior		N/A N/A	\$	7,500,000 1572%	\$ 1	7,500,000 534%	\$	4,500,000 1327%	N/A N/A
securities principal amount ⁽⁸⁾		N/A	\$	15,718	\$	5,342	\$	13,267	N/A

⁽¹⁾ Per share amounts calculated using the average shares method, which more appropriately presents the per share data for the period.

⁽²⁾ Total returns shown exclude the effect of applicable sales charges and redemption fees and assumes reinvestment of all distributions. Total returns would have been lower or higher absent the fee waiver/expense reimbursement or recapture, respectively.

⁽³⁾ Represents the ratio of expenses to average net assets absent fee waivers/expense reimbursements or recapture by the Adviser.

- (4) Does not include the expenses of other investment companies in which the Fund invests.
- (5) Recognition of net investment income by the Fund is affected by the timing of declaration of dividends by the underlying investment companies in which the Fund invests.
- (6) Consolidated. See Note 2.
- (7) Total amount of each class of senior securities outstanding at principal value at the end of the period presented.
- (8) The asset coverage ratio for a class of senior securities representing indebtedness is calculated as the Fund's consolidated total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities, divided by total senior securities representing indebtedness. This asset coverage ratio is multiplied by \$1,000 to determine asset coverage, per \$1,000 of senior securities principal amount.

Class A	Year Ended h 31, 2018	For the Period Ended March 31, 2017 (1)		
Net asset value, beginning of period	\$ 10.42	\$	10.09	
Gain (Loss) from investment operations:				
Net investment income (loss) (2)	(0.04)		0.09	
Net realized and unrealized gain on investments	 0.95		0.56	
Total from investment operations	 0.91		0.65	
Less distributions from:				
Net investment income	(0.21)		(0.15)	
Net realized gains	 (0.20)		(0.17)	
Total distributions	 (0.41)		(0.32)	
Net asset value, end of period	\$ 10.92		10.42	
Total return ⁽³⁾	 8.86%		6.53% (4)	
Net assets, at end of period (000s)	\$ 7,373	\$	6,709	
Ratios/Supplemental Data:				
Ratio of gross expenses to average net assets ⁽⁶⁾	3.77%		6.63% ⁽⁵⁾	
Ratio of net expenses to average net assets	2.52%		2.55% ⁽⁵⁾	
Ratio of net investment income (loss) to average net assets	(0.33)%		1.12% (5)	
Portfolio Turnover Rate	50%		83% (4)	

⁽¹⁾ Class A commenced operations July 1, 2016.

- (4) Not annualized.
- (5) Recurring income and expenses are annualized for periods less than one full year. Nonrecurring expenses such as organizational and offering cost of \$82,547 and \$338,838 for Classes A and I, respectively, have not been annualized.
- (6) Represents the ratio of expenses to average net assets absent fee waivers and/or expense reimbursements by the Adviser.

⁽²⁾ Per share amounts calculated using the average shares method, which more appropriately presents the per share data for the period.

⁽³⁾ Total returns shown exclude the effect of applicable sales charges and redemption fees and assumes reinvestment of all distributions. Total returns would have been lower had the adviser not reimbursed expenses.

Per Unit Data and Ratios for a Share of Beneficial Interest Outstanding Throughout each Year

Class I	For the Year Ended March 31, 2023 ⁽⁶⁾	For the Year Ended March 31, 2022 ⁽⁶⁾	For the Year Ended March 31, 2021	For the Year Ended March 31, 2020	For the Year Ended March 31, 2019
Net asset value, beginning of year	\$ 15.07	\$ 13.43	\$ 10.22	\$ 11.11	\$ 10.95
Gain (Loss) from investment operations: Net investment income (loss) ⁽¹⁾ Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments Total from investment operations	(0.30) (0.23)	(0.14) 2.43 2.29	(0.08) 3.47 3.39	(0.60) (0.57)	0.03 0.86 0.89
Less distributions from: Net investment income Net realized gains Total distributions	(1.41) (1.41)	(0.65) (0.65)	(0.18) (0.18)	(0.17) (0.15) (0.32)	(0.41) (0.32) (0.73)
Net asset value, end of year	\$ 13.43	\$ 15.07	\$ 13.43	\$ 10.22	\$ 11.11
Total return ⁽²⁾	(1.63)%	<u>17.19</u> %	33.40%	(5.36)%	8.20%
Net assets, at end of year (000s)	\$ 92,612	\$ 80,258	\$ 50,315	\$ 34,864	\$ 30,183
Ratios/Supplemental Data:					
Ratio of gross expenses to average net assets ^(3,4) Ratio of net expenses to average net assets ⁽⁴⁾ Ratio of net investment income (loss) to average net assets ⁽⁵⁾	1.99% 1.91% 0.48%	2.98% 3.05% (0.99)%	3.73% 3.79% (0.71)%	2.24% 2.13% 0.24%	2.50% 1.90% 0.22%
Portfolio Turnover Rate	43%	67%	42%	63%	41%
Senior securities, exclusive of treasury securities ⁽⁷⁾ Asset coverage ratio of senior securities ⁽⁸⁾ Asset coverage, per \$1,000 of senior securities principal amount ⁽⁸⁾	N/A N/A N/A	\$ 7,500,00 1572% \$ 15,718	\$ 17,500,000 534% \$ 5,342	\$ 4,500,000 1327% \$ 13,267	N/A N/A N/A
	1 1/1 1				1,711

⁽¹⁾ Per share amounts calculated using the average shares method, which more appropriately presents the per share data for the period.

- (3) Represents the ratio of expenses to average net assets absent fee waivers/expense reimbursements or recapture by the Adviser.
- (4) Does not include the expenses of other investment companies in which the Fund invests.
- (5) Recognition of net investment income by the Fund is affected by the timing of declaration of dividends by the underlying investment companies in which the Fund invests.
- (6) Consolidated. See Note 2.
- (7) Total amount of each class of senior securities outstanding at principal value at the end of the period presented.

⁽²⁾ Total returns shown exclude the effect of applicable sales charges and redemption fees and assumes reinvestment of all distributions. Total returns would have been lower or higher absent the fee waiver/expense reimbursement or recapture, respectively.

(8) The asset coverage ratio for a class of senior securities representing indebtedness is calculated as the Fund's consolidated total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities, divided by total senior securities representing indebtedness. This asset coverage ratio is multiplied by \$1,000 to determine asset coverage, per \$1,000 of senior securities principal amount.

Class I	For the Year Ended March 31, 2018			For the Period Ended March 31, 2017 (1)		
Net asset value, beginning of period	\$	10.44	\$	10.00		
Gain from investment operations:						
Net investment income ⁽²⁾		0.02		0.30		
Net realized and unrealized gain on investments		0.97		0.48		
Total from investment operations		0.99		0.78		
Less distributions from:						
Net investment income		(0.28)		(0.17)		
Net realized gains		(0.20)		(0.17)		
Total distributions		(0.48)		(0.34)		
Net asset value, end of period	\$	10.95	\$	10.44		
Total return ⁽³⁾		9.58%		8.03% (4)		
Net assets, at end of period (000s)	\$	20,751	\$	14,100		
Ratios/Supplemental Data:						
Ratio of gross expenses to average net assets ⁽⁶⁾		3.14%		5.76% ⁽⁵⁾		
Ratio of net expenses to average net assets		1.92%		1.95% ⁽⁵⁾		
Ratio of net investment income to average net assets		0.17%		3.29% (5)		
Portfolio Turnover Rate		50%		83% ⁽⁴⁾		

⁽¹⁾ Class I commenced operations May 13, 2016.

- (2) Per share amounts calculated using the average shares method, which more appropriately presents the per share data for the period.
- (3) Total returns shown exclude the effect of applicable sales charges and redemption fees and assumes reinvestment of all distributions. Total returns would have been lower had the adviser not reimbursed expenses.
- (4) Not annualized.
- (5) Recurring income and expenses are annualized for periods less than one full year. Nonrecurring expenses such as organizational and offering cost of \$82,547 and \$338,838 for Classes A and I, respectively, have not been annualized.
- (6) Represents the ratio of expenses to average net assets absent fee waivers and/or expense reimbursements by the Adviser.

Per Unit Data and Ratios for a Share of Beneficial Interest Outstanding Throughout each Year

Class II	For the End March 2023	led h 31,	N	or the Year Ended Iarch 31, 2022 ⁽⁶⁾	E Ma	the Year Ended arch 31, 2021		r the Year Ended Iarch 31, 2020	or the Year Ended March 31, 2019
Net asset value, beginning of Year	\$	14.83	\$	13.26	\$	10.12	\$	11.04	\$ 10.92
Gain (Loss) from investment operations: Net investment income (loss) ⁽¹⁾ Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments Total from investment operations		0.03 (0.30) (0.27)	_	(0.19) 2.41 2.22		(0.11) 3.43 3.32	_	(0.01) (0.59) (0.60)	 0.01 0.83 0.84
Less distributions from: Net investment income Net realized gains Total distributions		— (1.41) (1.41)	_	(0.65) (0.65)		(0.18) (0.18)		(0.17) (0.15) (0.32)	 (0.40) (0.32) (0.72)
Net asset value, end of year	\$	13.15	\$	14.83	\$	13.26	\$	10.12	\$ 11.04
Total return ⁽²⁾		(1.93)%		16.88%		33.03%	_	(5.68)%	 7.76%
Net assets, at end of year (000s)	\$	5,438	\$	4,883	\$	4,034	\$	3,045	\$ 3,221
Ratios/Supplemental Data:									
Ratio of gross expenses to average net assets ^(3,4) Ratio of net expenses to average net assets ⁽⁴⁾ Ratio of net investment income (loss) to average net assets ⁽⁵⁾		2.29% 2.21% 0.18%		3.33% 3.41% (1.34)%		4.02% 4.08% (1.00)%		2.54% 2.43% (0.05)%	2.85% 2.20% 0.05%
Portfolio Turnover Rate		43%		67%		42%		63%	41%
Senior securities, exclusive of treasury securities ⁽⁷⁾ Asset coverage ratio of senior securities ⁽⁸⁾ Asset coverage, per \$1,000 of senior securities principal amount ⁽⁸⁾		N/A N/A	\$	7,500,000 1572% 15,718	\$ 17 \$	7,500,000 534% 5,342	\$ \$	4,500,000 1327% 13,267	N/A N/A
- rr			~	,	-	-,	*	,	

⁽¹⁾ Per share amounts calculated using the average shares method, which more appropriately presents the per share data for the period.

- (3) Represents the ratio of expenses to average net assets absent fee waivers/expense reimbursements or recapture by the Adviser.
- (4) Does not include the expenses of other investment companies in which the Fund invests.
- (5) Recognition of net investment income by the Fund is affected by the timing of declaration of dividends by the underlying investment companies in which the Fund invests.
- (6) Consolidated. See Note 2.
- (7) Total amount of each class of senior securities outstanding at principal value at the end of the period presented.

⁽²⁾ Total returns shown exclude the effect of applicable sales charges and redemption fees and assumes reinvestment of all distributions. Total returns would have been lower or higher absent the fee waiver/expense reimbursement or recapture, respectively.

(8) The asset coverage ratio for a class of senior securities representing indebtedness is calculated as the Fund's consolidated total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities, divided by total senior securities representing indebtedness. This asset coverage ratio is multiplied by \$1,000 to determine asset coverage, per \$1,000 of senior securities principal amount.

Class II	For the Period Ended March 31, 2018 ⁽¹⁾			
Net asset value, beginning of period	\$	10.42		
Gain (Loss) from investment operations:				
Net investment income (loss) (2)		(0.02)		
Net realized and unrealized gain on investments		0.98		
Total from investment operations		0.96		
Less distributions from:				
Net investment income		(0.26)		
Net realized gains		(0.20)		
Total distributions		(0.46)		
Net asset value, end of period	\$	10.92		
Total return ⁽³⁾		9.31% (4		
Net assets, at end of period (000s)	\$	4,272		
Ratios/Supplemental Data:				
Ratio of gross expenses to average net assets (5,6)		3.38%		
Ratio of net expenses to average net assets (5)		2.20%		
Ratio of net investment income (loss) to average net assets (5)		(0.08)%		
Portfolio Turnover Rate		50% (4		

- (1) Class II commenced operations on April 3, 2017.
- (2) Per share amounts calculated using the average shares method, which more appropriately presents the per share data for the period.
- (3) Total returns shown exclude the effect of applicable sales charges and redemption fees and assumes reinvestment of all distributions. Total returns would have been lower had the Adviser not reimbursed expenses.
- (4) Not annualized.
- (5) Annualized for periods less than one year.
- (6) Represents the ratio of expenses to average net assets absent fee waivers and/or expense reimbursements by the Adviser.

Per Unit Data and Ratios for a Share of Beneficial Interest Outstanding Throughout each Period

Class L	Ei Mai	the Year nded rch 31,		or the Year Ended March 31, 2022 ⁽⁹⁾		or the Year Ended March 31, 2021		or the Year Ended March 31, 2020	Peri M	For the lod Ended arch 31, 2019 ⁽¹⁾
Net asset value, beginning of period	\$	14.53	\$	13.07	\$	10.03	\$	11.01	\$	11.22
Gain (Loss) from investment operations: Net investment loss ⁽²⁾ Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments Total from investment operations	_	(0.05) (0.30) (0.35)		(0.27) 2.38 2.11		(0.18) 3.40 3.22		(0.07) (0.59) (0.66)		(0.06) 0.47 0.41
Less distributions from: Net investment income Net realized gains Total distributions		— (1.41) (1.41)	_	(0.65)	_	(0.18) (0.18)	_	(0.17) (0.15) (0.32)		(0.30) (0.32) (0.62)
Net asset value, end of period	\$	12.77	\$	14.53	\$	13.07	\$	10.03	\$	11.01
Total return ⁽³⁾		(2.55)%	_	16.27%	=	32.33%	_	(6.25)%		3.73% (4)
Net assets, at end of period (000s)	\$	7,845	\$	9,320	\$	8,811	\$	7,516	\$	8,093
Ratios/Supplemental Data:										
Ratio of gross expenses to average net assets ^(5,6,7) Ratio of net expenses to average net		2.85%		3.92%		4.55%		3.09%		3.24%
assets ^(5,7)		2.78%		4.00%		4.61%		2.97%		2.76%
Ratio of net investment loss to average net assets ^(5,8)		(0.39)%		(1.92)%		(1.57)%		(0.60)%		(0.78)%
Portfolio Turnover Rate Senior securities, exclusive of treasury		43%		67%		42%		63%		41% (4)
securities ⁽¹⁰⁾		N/A	\$	7,500,000	\$	17,500,000	\$	4,500,000		N/A
Asset coverage ratio of senior securities ⁽¹¹⁾ Asset coverage, per \$1,000 of senior		N/A		1572%		534%		1327%		N/A
securities principal amount ⁽¹¹⁾		N/A	\$	15,718	\$	5,342	\$	13,267		N/A

⁽¹⁾ Class L commenced operations July 2, 2018.

- (4) Not annualized.
- (5) Annualized for periods less than one year.
- (6) Represents the ratio of expenses to average net assets absent fee waivers/expense reimbursements or recapture by the Adviser.
- (7) Does not include the expenses of other investment companies in which the Fund invests.

⁽²⁾ Per share amounts calculated using the average shares method, which more appropriately presents the per share data for the period.

⁽³⁾ Total returns shown exclude the effect of applicable sales charges and redemption fees and assumes reinvestment of all distributions. Total returns would have been lower or higher absent the fee waiver/expense reimbursement or recapture, respectively.

- (8) Recognition of net investment income by the Fund is affected by the timing of declaration of dividends by the underlying investment companies in which the Fund invests.
- (9) Consolidated. See Note 2.
- (10) Total amount of each class of senior securities outstanding at principal value at the end of the period presented.
- (11) The asset coverage ratio for a class of senior securities representing indebtedness is calculated as the Fund's consolidated total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities, divided by total senior securities representing indebtedness. This asset coverage ratio is multiplied by \$1,000 to determine asset coverage, per \$1,000 of senior securities principal amount.

SENIOR SECURITIES

Information about the senior securities of the Fund is shown in the following table as of the fiscal years ended March 31st. No senior securities were outstanding for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014. The information in the table below has been audited by RSM US LLP.

Year Ended	Total Amount Outstanding Exclusive of Treasury Securities ¹	Asset Coverage Per Unit ²
March 31, 2023	N/A	N/A
March 31, 2022	\$7,500,000	\$15,718.23
March 31, 2021	\$17,500,000	\$5,341.86
March 31, 2020	4,500,000	\$13,267
March 31, 2019	N/A	N/A
March 31, 2018	N/A	N/A
March 31, 2017	N/A	N/A

- (1) Total amount of each class of senior securities outstanding at principal value at the end of the period presented.
- (2) The asset coverage ratio for a class of senior securities representing indebtedness is calculated as our consolidated total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities, divided by total senior securities representing indebtedness. This asset coverage ratio is multiplied by \$1,000 to determine the "Asset Coverage Per Unit".

THE FUND

The Fund, which is registered under the 1940 Act as a closed-end, non-diversified, management investment company, was organized as a Delaware statutory trust on September 18, 2014. The Fund's principal office is located at 8500 Normandale Lake Blvd, Suite 1900, Minneapolis, MN 55437, and its telephone number is (855) 897-5390. Investment advisory services are provided to the Fund by the Advisor pursuant to the Management Agreement. The individuals who serve on the Board are responsible for monitoring and overseeing the Fund's investment program. See "Management of the Fund."

STRUCTURE

The Fund is a closed-end investment company. Registered closed-end investment companies are typically managed more conservatively than most private investment funds because of the requirements and restrictions imposed on them by the 1940 Act. Compared to private investment funds, registered closed-end companies may have more modest minimum investment requirements, and generally offer their shares to a broader range of investors. Advisors to such investment companies, such as the Advisor, are typically compensated through asset-based fees.

Investors purchase Shares in the Fund. After the Initial Closing for each Share class, Shares may be purchased as of the first business day of each month based upon the then current net asset value for such Share Class. Similar to private investment funds, Shares of all classes are sold in relatively large minimum denominations to high net worth individuals and institutional investors. In contrast to many private investment funds, however, the Fund is permitted to offer Shares to an unlimited number of Eligible Investors, because it is registered under the 1940 Act. The Fund was designed to permit certain Eligible Investors to participate in an investment program that employs private equity strategies without requiring, among other things, Investors to commit the more substantial minimum investments required by many private investment funds, and without subjecting the Fund to the same restrictions on the number of Eligible Investors as are imposed on many of those private investment funds.

PPIH, the Fund's wholly-owned subsidiary, holds all of the Fund's illiquid private fund investments. During the year ended March 31, 2022, all of the Fund's private fund investments were transferred from the Fund to PPIH. PPIH is a Delaware LLC and is a disregarded entity for tax purposes. The results of operations from PPIH have been consolidated with the Fund's for financial reporting purposes.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE AND STRATEGIES

The Fund's investment objective is to seek long-term capital appreciation. In pursuing its investment objective, the Fund intends to invest predominantly in interests in private equity funds (e.g., buyout, growth capital, special situations, and other opportunities). The Fund is invested via capital commitments in private equity investments of any type, including primary offerings and secondary acquisitions of interests in alternative funds that pursue private equity strategies and co-investment in opportunities in operating companies presented by one or more Investment Funds. The Fund's investment objective is a non-fundamental policy and may be changed by the Board upon 60 days' written notice to shareholders.

Each Investment Fund is managed by the Investment Fund Manager and the portfolio managers or investment teams selected by the Investment Fund Manager. Investment Funds may be domiciled in U.S. or non-U.S. jurisdictions.

The Advisor believes that the Fund's investment program offers an ideal approach to private equity investing for Eligible Investors who previously may not have had access to high-quality private equity Investment Funds or who desire to access private equity investments through lower account minimums. The Fund makes investments in Investment Funds, focusing in particular on investment in buyouts, growth capital, special situations, and other opportunities. The Fund anticipates that a majority of the Fund's portfolio will be allocated among buyout funds, growth capital, special situations, and private credit. The Fund focuses on Investment Fund Managers based in and who invest in North America, Europe, Asia, and other regions, including emerging markets. The Fund pursues a variety of Investment Fund-strategies across vintage year (i.e., the year in which the Investment Fund begins investing). To avoid holding excess cash for extended periods of time, which can mute portfolio performance (commonly referred to as the "cash drag"), the Advisor intends to invest a portion of its uncalled capital in a selection of hedge funds, ETFs, mutual funds, and short-term securities. Further, the Advisor may invest in secondaries. Together, this investment strategy may help to reduce the impact of the J-curve associated with private equity investing. The Fund has been structured with the intent of seeking to alleviate or reduce a number of the burdens typically associated with private equity investing, such as funding capital calls on short notice, reinvesting distribution proceeds, meeting large minimum commitment amounts and receiving tax reporting on potentially late Schedules K-1.

Investment Philosophy

As a registered investment company, the Fund is generally subject to significant regulatory restrictions with respect to selling securities short and using leverage and derivatives. The Investment Funds generally are not subject to the same investment restrictions as the Fund, and are generally subject to few investment limitations, including investment limitations under the 1940 Act or the Code. The Fund and, indirectly, Investors, are not entitled to the protections of the 1940 Act with respect to the Investment Funds. The Fund intends to invest in the Investments Funds as a "qualified client." Therefore, the Investment Funds may indirectly charge Fund investors an advisory fee based on a share of capital gains, despite the fact that the Fund's investors may be required to satisfy only the lower eligibility requirements for an Accredited Investor, as defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the Securities Act.

The Fund also may invest in other registered investment companies. The Advisor believes that the Fund's current strategy of investing in a portfolio of private equity Investment Funds provides opportunities to participate in alternative investment strategies that may earn attractive risk-adjusted returns. In addition, the Fund seeks to benefit from attractive investment strategies of various private funds, combined with access to new and existing Investment Funds.

By investing in the Fund, Investors gain access to Investment Fund Managers whose services are generally not available to the investing public, or who may otherwise restrict the number and type of persons whose money will be managed. Investing in the Fund also permits Investors to invest with Investment Fund Managers without being subject to the high minimum investment requirements typically charged by such Investment Fund Managers. The Fund should also benefit from its exposure to different investment styles. Investing through various Investment Fund Managers that employ different strategies may reduce the volatility inherent in a direct investment by the Fund with a single Investment Fund Manager.

Investment Strategies

The Fund seeks to provide investors with attractive long-term capital appreciation by investing in a portfolio of Investment Funds. The Fund makes investments in Investment Funds, focusing in particular on investment opportunities involving buyouts, growth capital, special situations, and other opportunities. The Fund may invest in private equity investments of any type, including primary offerings and secondary acquisitions of interests in alternative funds that pursue private equity strategies, and co-investment opportunities in operating companies presented by one or more Investment Funds. Private equity investments require an investment or capital commitment, but the capital may be called over time, or not at all. The Advisor intends to concentrate investments in funds sponsored by established Investment Fund Managers who have historically had high-quality management along with attractive investment strategies and access to quality deal flow. The Advisor believes that investing with a range of established Investment Fund Managers should mitigate portfolio risk. Furthermore, by investing in private equity funds, the Fund is exposed to numerous individual company investments. The Fund's portfolio

consists primarily of Investment Funds, but occasionally it may hold quoted securities as a result of in-kind distributions from its portfolio of

Investment Funds. In such instances, the Advisor's policy is to dispose of such assets as soon as practicable. In order to satisfy certain of the requirements for qualification as a RIC under the Code, the Fund's ability to invest in real estate (both directly and indirectly) may be limited.

The principal elements of the Advisor's investment strategy include: (i) allocating the assets of the Fund across private equity Investment Funds, (ii) seeking to secure access to attractive investment opportunities that the Advisor believes offer attractive returns, (iii) seeking to manage the Fund's investment level and liquidity using the Advisor's commitment strategy, and (iv) seeking to manage risk through ongoing monitoring of the portfolio.

- Asset Allocation. The Fund seeks to benefit from long-term diversification of investments through exposure to different investment types and U.S. or foreign markets.
- Access. The Fund seeks to provide Investors with access to investments that are generally unavailable to the investing public due to resource requirements and high investment minimums.
- Commitment Strategy. The Advisor intends to manage the Fund's commitment strategy with a view towards balancing liquidity while maintaining a high level of investment.
- *Risk Management.* The long-term nature of private equity investments requires a commitment to ongoing risk management. The Advisor seeks to maintain close contact with its Investment Fund Managers, and to monitor the performance of individual funds by tracking operating information and other pertinent details.

No guarantee or representation is made that the investment program of the Fund or any Investment Fund will be successful, that the various Investment Funds selected will produce positive returns or that the Fund will achieve its investment objective. The Advisor also may invest the Fund's assets in Investment Funds that engage in investment strategies other than those described in this Prospectus, and may sell the Fund's portfolio holdings at any time.

Private Equity

Private equity is a common term for investments that are typically made in non-public companies through privately negotiated transactions. Private equity investors generally seek to acquire quality assets at attractive valuations and use operational expertise to enhance value and improve portfolio company performance. Buyout funds are used by private equity investors to acquire private and public companies, as well as divisions of larger companies. Private equity specialists seek to uncover value enhancing opportunities in portfolio companies, unlock the value of the portfolio company and reposition it for sale at a multiple of invested equity.

Private equity investments may be structured using a range of financial instruments, including common and preferred equity, convertible securities, subordinated debt and warrants or other derivatives. Private equity funds, often organized as limited partnerships, are the most common vehicles for making private equity investments. In such funds, investors usually commit to provide up to a certain amount of capital when requested by the fund's manager or general partner. The general partner then makes private equity investments on behalf of the fund. The fund's investments are usually realized, or "exited" after a four to seven year holding period through a private sale, an initial public offering ("IPO") or a recapitalization. Proceeds of such exits are then distributed to the fund's investors. The funds themselves typically have a term of ten to thirteen years.

Investments in private equity have increased significantly over the last 20 years, driven principally by large institutional investors seeking increased returns and portfolio efficiency. It is now common for large pension funds, endowments and other institutional investors to allocate significant assets to private equity.

Buyouts, Growth Capital, Special Situations, and Venture Capital/Other

Different private equity strategies may refer to "financing stages" (stage of development) and may have distinct risk, return and correlation characteristics, and play different roles within a private equity portfolio. Broadly speaking, private equity investments can be broken down into four financing stages: buyouts, growth capital, special situations, and venture capital. These categories may be further subdivided based on the investment strategies that are employed. The Fund intends to invest primarily in buyouts, growth capital, and special situations.

• Buyouts. Control investments in established, cash flow positive companies are usually classified as buyouts. Buyout investments may focus on small-, mid- or large-capitalization companies, and such investments collectively represent a substantial majority of the capital deployed in the overall private equity market. The use of debt financing, or leverage, is prevalent in buyout transactions — particularly in the large-cap segment. Overall, debt financing typically makes up 50-70% of the price paid for a company.

- Special Situations. A broad range of investments including mezzanine, distressed debt, energy/utility investing and turnarounds may be classified as special situations.
- *Growth Capital*. Typically involves minority investments in established companies with strong growth characteristics. Companies that receive growth capital typically have established customers and mature business models.
- Venture Capital/Other. Investments in new and emerging companies are usually classified as venture capital. Such investments are often in technology and healthcare-related industries. Companies financed by venture capital are generally not cash flow positive at the time of investment and may require several rounds of financing before the company can be sold privately or taken public. Venture capital investors may finance companies along the full path of development or focus on certain sub-stages (usually classified as seed, early and late stage) in partnership with other investors. It is not anticipated that venture capital will be a meaningful portion of the Fund's allocations.

Some of the investments that the Advisor considers with respect to the Fund include, but are not limited to:

• *Primary Investments*. Primary investments (primaries) are interests or investments in newly established private equity funds. Most private equity sponsors raise new funds only every two to four years, and many top-performing funds may be closed to new investors. Because of the limited windows of opportunity for making primary investments in particular funds, strong relationships with leading fund sponsors are highly important for primary investors.

Primary investors subscribe for interests during an initial fundraising period, and their capital commitments are then used to fund investments in a number of individual operating companies during a defined investment period. The investments of the fund are usually unknown at the time of commitment, and investors typically have little or no ability to influence the investments that are made during the fund's life. Because primary investors must rely on the expertise of the fund manager, an accurate assessment of the manager's capabilities is essential.

Primary investments typically exhibit a value development pattern, commonly known as the "J-curve," in which the fund's net asset value typically declines moderately during the early years of the fund's life as investment-related fees and expenses are incurred before investment gains have been realized. As the fund matures and portfolio companies are sold, the pattern typically reverses with increasing net asset value and distributions to fund investors. There can be no assurance, however, that any or all primary investments made by the Fund will exhibit this pattern of investment development. Primary investments are usually ten to thirteen years in duration, while underlying investments in portfolio companies generally have a three to seven year duration.

- Secondary Investments. Secondary investments (secondaries) are interests in existing private equity funds that are acquired in privately negotiated transactions, typically after the end of the private equity fund's fundraising period. Secondary investments may play an important role in a diversified private equity portfolio. Because secondaries typically already have invested in portfolio companies, they are viewed as more mature investments than primaries and further along in their development pattern. As a result, their investment returns may not exhibit the downside of the J-curve pattern expected to be achieved by primaries in their early stages. In addition, secondaries typically provide earlier distributions than primaries. Past performance is not indicative of future results. There can be no assurance, however, that any or all secondary investments made by the Fund will exhibit this pattern of investment development.
- Direct Investments/Co-Investments. Direct investments involve acquiring (directly or indirectly) an interest in securities issued by an operating company. Co-investments represent opportunities to separately invest in specific portfolio companies that are otherwise represented in an Investment Fund. Such investments are typically made as co-investments alongside private equity funds, and are usually structured such that the lead investor holds a controlling interest. Co-investments are typically offered to Investment Fund investors when the Investment Fund Manager believes that there is an attractive investment for the Investment Fund but the total size of the potential holding exceeds the targeted size for the Investment Fund. Direct investments and co-investments, unlike investments in Investment Funds, generally do not bear an additional layer of fees or bear significantly reduced fees.

Portfolio Allocation

The Fund's investment process begins with a long-term allocation framework among Investment Funds: (i) primary and secondary private equity investments, (ii) buyout, growth capital, special situations, or other opportunities, and (iii) investments

focused in North America, Europe, Asia, and other regions, including emerging markets. The framework also provides for investing over a range of vintage years and with respect to individual investments. Some diversification is be attained through the use of multiple firms sponsoring the Investment Funds. It is common for private equity firms to specialize in a type of investing in a segment of the market and the Advisor believes that utilizing different private equity firms will be beneficial. It is expected that through such allocation, the Fund may be able to achieve more consistent returns and lower volatility than would generally be expected if its portfolio were more concentrated in a single fund, geography, strategy, or sector.

Because of the distinct cash flow characteristics associated with different types of private equity investments, portfolio construction is based on both quantitative and qualitative factors.

Over time, the allocation ranges and commitment strategy may be adjusted based on the Advisor's analysis of the private equity market, the Fund's existing portfolio at the relevant time, or other pertinent factors. The Advisor intends to concentrate investments in funds sponsored by established Investment Fund Managers who have historically had high-quality management along with attractive investment strategies and access to quality deal flow.

The Advisor intends to manage the Fund's commitment strategy with a view towards balancing liquidity while maintaining a high level of investment. Investment commitments to private equity funds generally are not immediately funded. Instead, committed amounts are drawn down by private equity funds and invested over time, as underlying investments are identified - a process that may take a period of several years. During this period, investments made early in a private equity fund's life are often realized (generating distributions) even before the committed capital has been fully drawn. As a result, without an appropriate commitment strategy, a significant investment position could be difficult to achieve. The Advisor seeks to address this challenge using a commitment strategy designed to provide an appropriate investment level. To that end, the Fund may commit to invest in private equity investments or other private funds (both primaries and secondaries) in an aggregate amount that exceeds the Fund's then-current assets (i.e., to "over-commit") to provide an appropriate funding level. To minimize cash drag on the portfolio, the Advisor intends to invest uncalled capital commitments to Investment Funds in a variety of Underlying Funds or investment strategies that are intended to provide greater liquidity than Investment Funds. These investments may include mutual funds (including those that invest in private equity), ETFs, and short-term securities. The Fund may invest in mutual funds or private funds advised by the Advisor or an affiliate of the Advisor. The Fund may also invest in private credit funds (discussed in more detail below), hedge funds, or other strategies to attempt to minimize cash drag. These vehicles may utilize a variety of credit strategies that invest in debt of varying credit quality or duration, including consumer credit, corporate credit, mortgages or mortgage related investments, or other strategies. Investments in these strategies are intended to assist the Advisor in managing and planning for capital calls. The Fund seeks to maintain sufficient access to liquid assets, which in addition to any available line of credit, are intended to be sufficient to satisfy anticipated capital calls from Investment Funds.

The Advisor seeks to invest in a diversified portfolio of private credit funds whose strategies are often sought after by institutional investors (such as pension funds, insurance companies or family offices). Broadly defined, a private credit fund targets the ownership of higher yielding corporate, physical, or financial assets held typically within a partnership structure. Private credit funds benefit from longer investment horizons, access to deal flow due to relationships with investment banks, access to proprietary deal flow, or proprietary analytics. Private credit is credit that is extended to companies or projects on a bilaterally negotiated basis and is not publicly traded such as many corporate bonds are and is originated or held by lenders which are not banks. It takes various legal forms including loans, bonds, notes or private securitization issues. Private credit encompasses various strategies including real estate debt, distressed debt, direct lending, mezzanine financing and structured financing. Strategies that do not easily fall into one of these categories are either opportunistic (investing across the credit spectrum as market opportunities permit) or niche/specialty finance strategies.

Using information generally available to investors, the Advisor evaluates private credit fund managers based on the strength of the sponsor and management; consistency of investment process; prior investment performance of the target fund as well as the performance of other funds managed by the sponsor; the attractiveness of the sectors and geographical allocations of the fund; expected stability of income; and expected capital appreciation, target leverage levels and ability to weather credit cycles by employing effective risk management and mitigation strategies. The private credit funds included in the Fund's portfolio may be purchased on the secondary market or directly from the issuer. While the Advisor anticipates that, under normal market conditions, the Fund's portfolio will invest in private credit funds, the Fund does not have a predetermined asset allocation to private credit funds. There can be no assurance that investment in private credit funds will be effective in achieving the Fund's investment objective or delivering positive returns.

The Fund's asset allocation, when "fully deployed," in private equity investments is expected to be as noted below. The Advisor anticipates that the Fund will invest the net proceeds from the sale of Shares, net of cash retained for operational needs to pay Fund expenses, in accordance with the Fund's investment objective and policies and principal strategies as soon as practicable, consistent with normal market conditions and the availability of suitable investments. However, a substantial portion of the Fund's assets is invested in the investment strategies described in the preceding paragraph, before capital calls by the Investment Funds are made. To the extent Investment Funds in the portfolio have uncalled capital commitments, even when the Fund's assets are "fully deployed", the Advisor expects that a significant portion of the Fund's assets will consist of assets other than

Investment Funds, for the purposes of funding of capital calls, redemptions and tax distributions.

Private Equity Asset Allocation				
Investment Fund Strategy				
Buyout	40-100%			
Growth Capital	0-60%			
Special Situations	0-60%			
Other	0-20%			
Geographic Region				
North America	20-100%			
Europe	0-60%			
Asia	0-40%			
Other	0-20%			

There can be no assurance that all investment types will be available, will be consistent with the Fund's investment objectives, will satisfy the Advisor's due diligence considerations or will be selected for the Fund. The percentages presented above represent the amount of capital invested in and committed to each category as a percentage of total capital invested in and committed to Investment Funds. As stated above, such percentages represent the Fund's anticipated private equity allocation when fully deployed. As a result, if all commitments are not fully funded, the allocation of the Fund's portfolio could potentially differ from the ranges shown above.

Investment Selection

The Advisor seeks to invest Fund assets in Investment Funds diversified across multiple aspects. These aspects include strategy, vintage year, geography, and Investment Fund Manager. The Advisor evaluates opportunities in each of these categories from a top-down and bottom-up approach to attempt to exploit both macroeconomic trends and themes as well as valuation opportunities. The Advisor also evaluates secondary market opportunities on the above criteria as well as pricing. Secondaries may be used to deploy capital in an efficient manner and/or to exploit times where the Advisor believes there are pricing discrepancies. In the final step of the investment process, the Advisor seeks to invest the Fund's capital allocated to each segment in the highest quality investments available. Investment decisions for the Fund are based on a disciplined approach with each potential investment's risk/return profile examined from a variety of perspectives, including how a particular opportunity will fit into the Fund's portfolio of investments. The Advisor believes that this analysis may be further enhanced by the insight it has gained through investment experience.

Due Diligence

The Advisor and its personnel use a range of resources to identify and source the availability of promising Investment Funds. The Advisor's diligence process focuses on risk management, investment and operational diligence. The Advisor selects investment strategies and Investment Funds on the basis of availability, pricing in the case of secondaries and various qualitative and quantitative criteria, including the Advisor's analysis of actual and projected cash flows and past performance of an Investment Fund during various time periods and market cycles, and the Investment Fund Managers' reputation, experience, expertise, and adherence to investment philosophy. After making an investment in an Investment Fund, and as part of its ongoing diligence process, the Advisor seeks to: track operating information and other pertinent details; participate in periodic conference calls with Investment Fund Managers and onsite visits where appropriate; review audited and unaudited reports; and monitor turnover in senior Investment Fund personnel and changes in policies. In conjunction with the due diligence process, the tax treatment and legal terms of the investment are considered.

The Advisor and its personnel use a range of sources to identify, evaluate, select and monitor investments for the Fund. The Advisor's investment professionals are involved throughout the process. John L. Sabre and Greg D. Anderson, as the Fund's portfolio managers, are responsible for portfolio allocation and for final investment decisions.

The Advisor typically identifies prospective investments from multiple sources, including a network of intermediaries, agents and investors, and third party databases. The initial screening process for investment opportunities is typically based on a review of offering documents or an introductory meeting for primary investments. For secondary investments, the Advisor seeks to understand key terms, cash flows, valuations, performance, large portfolio company developments, availability of discounts, and an understanding of historical performance of prior funds, if any. The Advisor's due diligence process focuses on both investment and operational due diligence.

During its diligence process, the Advisor may review offering documents, financial statements, regulatory filings, and client

correspondence, among other documents, and seek to conduct interviews with senior personnel of existing and potential Investment Fund Managers. The Advisor expects to regularly communicate with the Investment Fund Managers about the Investment Funds in which the Fund has invested or may invest, or about particular investment strategies, categories of private equity, risk management and general market trends. This interaction facilitates ongoing portfolio analysis and may help to address potential issues, such as loss of key team members or proposed changes in constituent documents. It also provides ongoing due diligence feedback, as additional investments, secondary investments and new primary investments with a particular Investment Fund Manager are considered. The Advisor may also perform background and reference checks on Investment Fund personnel.

After making an investment in an Investment Fund, and as part of its ongoing diligence process, the Advisor analyzes risk and performance; participate in periodic onsite visits; review audited and unaudited reports; monitor turnover in key personnel and changes in policies; and reviews valuation and historical cash flows. In performing some of its due diligence activities, the Advisor is required to rely on the Investment Fund Managers. No assurance can be given that all performance and other data sought by the Advisor will be accurate or will be provided on a timely basis or in the manner requested.

The conclusions of due diligence reviews are documented. The Fund's portfolio managers may decline the opportunity, request additional information, or approve subject to tax and legal due diligence. Tax issues and legal terms of the investment are also considered.

Portfolio Construction

The Advisor manages the Fund's portfolio with a view towards managing liquidity, maintaining a high investment level, and maximizing capital appreciation.

Accordingly, the Advisor may make investments and commitments based, in part, on anticipated future distributions from Investment Funds and other investments. The Advisor also takes other anticipated cash flows into account, such as those relating to new subscriptions, the tender of Shares by investors, and any distributions made to investors.

The Fund's strategy is to seek to invest in a group of Investment Funds with established Investment Fund Managers across varied strategies (e.g., buyouts, growth capital, special situations, and other opportunities) or other distinguishing features, including geography (e.g., North America, Europe, Asia, and other regions, including emerging markets), and vintage year (i.e., the year in which the Investment Fund begins investing). Additionally, these Investment Fund Managers may focus their investments in particular industries in which they have expertise.

The Fund is expected to hold liquid assets to the extent required for purposes of liquidity management. To enhance the Fund's liquidity, particularly in times of possible net outflows through the tender of Shares by investors, the Advisor may sell certain of the Fund's assets.

The Fund is a "non-diversified" fund under the 1940 Act, which means that the percentage of its assets that may be invested in the securities of a single issuer is not limited by the 1940 Act. See "Types of Investments and Related Risk Factors Non-Diversified Status." The Advisor believes, however, that the Fund should generally maintain a portfolio of Investment Funds varied by underlying investment strategies, vintage year, geography, and Investment Fund Manager to diminish the impact on the Fund of any one Investment Fund's losses or poor returns. There is no guarantee that the Fund will be able to avoid substantial losses as a result of poor returns with regards to any Investment Funds.

The Advisor seeks to limit the Fund's investment in any one Investment Fund to no more than 25% of the Fund's gross assets (measured at the time of investment and assuming all Fund assets are fully deployed). In addition, the Fund's investment in any one Investment Fund will be limited to no more than 25% of the Investment Fund's economic interests (measured at the time of investment) and less than 5% of the Investment Fund's voting securities. Where only voting securities are available for purchase by the Fund, in all, or substantially all, instances, the Fund seeks to create by contract the same result as owning a non-voting security by entering into a contract, typically before the initial purchase, to relinquish the right to vote in respect of its investment. The Fund seeks to limit the amount of voting securities it owns to less than 5% of the voting securities of any Investment Fund. This limitation on owning voting securities is intended to ensure that an Investment Fund is not deemed an "affiliated person" of the Fund for purposes of the 1940 Act, which may, among other things, potentially impose limits on transactions with an Investment Fund.

The Investment Funds generally are not subject to the Fund's investment restrictions and are generally subject to few investment

limitations, including investment limitations under the 1940 Act or the Code. As a result, the Fund and, indirectly, Investors are not entitled to the protections of the 1940 Act with respect to the Investment Funds.

The Fund has no obligation to enter into any hedging transactions.

There can be no assurance that the Fund's investment program will be successful, that the objectives of the Fund with respect to liquidity management will be achieved or that the Fund's portfolio design and risk management strategies will be successful. Prospective investors should refer to the discussion of the risks associated with the investment strategy and structure of the Fund found under "Types of Investments and Related Risk Factors."

TYPES OF INVESTMENTS AND RELATED RISK FACTORS

General Risks

The following risks relate to investments by the Fund and the Underlying Funds (including Investment Funds) in which it may invest:

<u>Investment Risk</u>. All investments risk the loss of capital. The value of the Fund's total net assets should be expected to fluctuate. To the extent that the Fund's portfolio is concentrated in securities of a single issuer or issuers in a single sector, the risk of any investment decision is increased. An Investment Fund's use of leverage is likely to cause the Fund's average net assets to appreciate or depreciate at a greater rate than if leverage were not used.

An investment in the Fund involves a high degree of risk, including the risk that the Investor's entire investment may be lost. No assurance can be given that the Fund's investment objective will be achieved. The Fund's performance depends upon the Advisor's selection of Investment Funds, the allocation of offering proceeds thereto and the performance of the Investment Funds. The Investment Funds' investment activities involve the risks associated with private equity investments generally. Risks include adverse changes in national or international economic conditions, adverse local market conditions, the financial conditions of portfolio companies, changes in the availability or terms of financing, changes in interest rates, exchange rates, corporate tax rates and other operating expenses, environmental laws and regulations, and other governmental rules and fiscal policies, energy prices, changes in the relative popularity of certain industries or the availability of purchasers to acquire companies, and dependence on cash flow, as well as acts of God, uninsurable losses, war, terrorism, earthquakes, hurricanes or floods and other factors which are beyond the control of the Fund or the Investment Funds. Although the Advisor will attempt to moderate these risks, no assurance can be given that (i) the Investment Funds' investment programs, investment strategies and investment decisions will be successful, (ii) the Investment Funds will achieve their return expectations, (iii) the Investment Funds will achieve any return of capital invested, (iv) the Fund's investment activities will be successful, or (v) Investors will not suffer losses from an investment in the Fund.

All investments made by the Investment Funds risk the loss of capital. The Investment Funds' results may vary substantially over time.

An investment in the Fund's shares is subject to investment risk, including the possible loss of the entire amount invested. Global, national, regional and local reaction to any market events, natural disasters or a pandemic could impact the health of the economy, and the Fund, temporarily or for an extended period. An investment in the Fund's shares represents an indirect investment in the investments owned by the Fund, including Investment Funds and Underlying Funds. The value of these securities, like other market investments, may move up or down, sometimes rapidly and unpredictably, and Investment Fund and Underlying Fund investments may be more volatile than other segments of the securities market. In addition, the Fund is subject to the risk that geopolitical and other events will disrupt the economy on a national or global level. For instance, war, terrorism, market manipulation, government defaults, government shutdowns, political changes or diplomatic developments, public health emergencies (such as the spread of infectious diseases, pandemics and epidemics) climate-change and climate-related events, and natural/environmental disasters can all negatively impact the securities markets, which could cause the Fund to lose value. The COVID-19 global pandemic and the aggressive responses taken by many governments had negative impacts, and in some cases severe negative impacts, on markets worldwide. It is not known how long such impacts, or any future impacts of other significant events described above, will or would last, but there could be a prolonged period of global economic slowdown, may negatively impact the performance of the Fund's investments or decrease the liquidity of those investments. Therefore, the Fund could lose money over short periods due to short-term market movements and over longer periods during more prolonged market downturns.

<u>Availability of Investment Opportunities</u>. The business of identifying and structuring investments of the types contemplated by the Fund is competitive, and involves a high degree of uncertainty. The availability of investment opportunities is subject to market conditions and may also be affected by the prevailing regulatory or political climate. No assurance can be made that the

Advisor will be able to identify and complete attractive investments in the future or that it will be able to invest fully its subscriptions. There is also the potential that the Advisor will be presented with an investment opportunity and is unable to pursue that opportunity because of a shortage of investable assets. Similarly, there is also a scenario in which the Advisor has sufficient capital on hand, but is unable to find opportunities to deploy it. This could occur for a variety of reasons but a few reasons include:

- Private equity firms raise funds for their flagship funds intermittently and availability is sometimes limited.
- Secondary private equity opportunities generally fluctuate with market liquidity and take several months to close.

<u>Unspecified Investments: Dependence on the Advisor</u>. The Advisor has complete discretion to select the Investment Funds as opportunities arise. The Fund, and, accordingly, Investors, must rely upon the ability of the Advisor to identify and implement investments for the Fund ("Fund Investments") consistent with the Fund's investment objective. Investors will not receive or otherwise be privy to due diligence or risk information prepared by or for the Advisor in respect of the Fund Investments. The Advisor has the authority and responsibility for asset allocation, the selection of Fund Investments and all other investment decisions for the Fund. The success of the Fund depends upon the ability of the Advisor to develop and implement investment strategies that achieve the investment objective of the Fund. Investors will have no right or power to participate in the management or control of the Fund or the Fund Investments, or the terms of any such investments. There can be no assurance that the Advisor will be able to select or implement successful strategies or achieve their respective investment objectives. The Fund is organized to provide Investors access to a multi-strategy investment program and not an indirect way for investors to gain access to any particular Investment Fund.

<u>Limitations on Transfer; Shares Not Listed; No Market for Fund Shares</u>. The transferability of Shares is subject to certain restrictions described in this Prospectus, the Investor Application and/or the Agreement and Declaration of Trust, including restrictions imposed under applicable securities laws. The Shares are not traded on any securities exchange or other market. No market currently exists for Shares, and none is expected to develop. Although the Advisor and the Fund expect to recommend to the Board that the Fund offer to repurchase up to 5% of the Shares quarterly, no assurances can be given that the Fund will do so for any particular quarter. Consequently, the Shares should only be acquired by Investors able to commit their funds for an indefinite period of time.

<u>Closed-End Fund; Liquidity Risks</u>. The Fund is a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company designed primarily for long-term investors and is not intended to be a trading vehicle. An Investor should not invest in the Fund if the investor needs a liquid investment. Closed-end funds differ from open-end management investment companies (commonly known as mutual funds) in that investors in a closed-end fund do not have the right to redeem their Shares on a daily basis at a price based on net asset value. Shares in the Fund will not be traded on any securities exchange or other market and are subject to substantial restrictions on transfer. Although the Fund may offer to repurchase Shares from time to time, an Investor may not be able to redeem its Shares in the Fund for a substantial period of time.

Repurchase Risks. To provide liquidity to Investors, the Fund may, from time to time, offer to repurchase Shares pursuant to written tenders by Investors. Repurchases will be made at such times, in such amounts and on such terms as may be determined by the Board, in its sole discretion. The Fund conducts repurchase offers on a schedule and in amounts that depend on a variety of factors. With respect to any future repurchase offer, Investors tendering their Shares for repurchase must do so by a date specified in the notice describing the terms of the repurchase offer, which is generally approximately 100 days prior to the date that the Shares to be repurchased are valued by the Fund (the "Tender Valuation Date"). Investors that elect to tender any Shares for repurchase will not know the price at which such Shares will be repurchased until the Fund's net asset value calculated as of the Tender Valuation Date is able to be determined.

A 2% early repurchase fee is charged by the Fund with respect to any repurchase of Shares from an Investor at any time prior to the day immediately preceding the one-year anniversary of the Investor's purchase of Shares. Such repurchase fee is retained by the Fund and benefits the Fund's remaining investors. Shares tendered for repurchase are treated as having been repurchased on a "first in-first out" basis. An early repurchase fee payable by an Investor may be waived or reduced by the Fund in circumstances where the Board determines that doing so is in the best interests of the Fund.

The Fund may be limited in its ability to liquidate its holdings in Investment Funds to meet repurchase requests. Repurchase offers principally will be funded by cash and cash equivalents, as well as by the sale of certain liquid securities. Accordingly, the Fund may tender for fewer Shares than Investors may wish to sell, resulting in the proration of Investor repurchases, or the Fund may need to suspend or postpone repurchase offers if it is required to dispose of interests in Investment Funds and is not able to do so in a timely manner. See "Repurchases of Shares and Transfers."

Substantial requests for the Fund to repurchase Shares could require the Fund to liquidate certain of its Investments more rapidly than otherwise desirable for the purpose of raising cash to fund the repurchases. This could have a material adverse effect on the value of the Shares. In addition, substantial repurchases of Shares may decrease the Fund's total assets and accordingly may increase its expenses as a percentage of average net assets. If a repurchase offer is oversubscribed by Investors who tender Shares, the Fund may repurchase a pro rata portion of the Shares tendered.

<u>Distributions In-Kind</u>. The Fund generally expects to distribute to the holder of Shares that are repurchased a promissory note entitling such holder to the payment of cash in satisfaction of such repurchase. See "Repurchases of Shares and Transfers." However, there can be no assurance that the Fund will have sufficient cash to pay for Shares that are being repurchased or that it will be able to liquidate Investments at favorable prices to pay for repurchased Shares. The Fund has the right to distribute securities as payment for repurchased Shares in unusual circumstances, including if making a cash payment would result in a material adverse effect on the Fund. For example, it is possible that the Fund may receive securities from an Investment Fund that are illiquid or difficult to value. In such circumstances, the Advisor would seek to dispose of these securities in a manner that is in the best interests of the Fund, which may include a distribution inkind to the Fund's Investors. In the event that the Fund makes such a distribution of securities, Investors will bear any risks of the distributed securities and may be required to pay a brokerage commission or other costs in order to dispose of such securities.

Borrowing. Subject to the regulatory restrictions described below, the Fund may borrow money in connection with its investment activities —i.e., the Fund may utilize leverage. The Fund may also borrow money to satisfy repurchase requests from Investors, to fund capital commitments to Investment Funds, to pay operating expenses, and to otherwise provide liquidity. The Fund may borrow money through a credit facility to manage timing issues in connection with the acquisition of its investments, such as providing the Fund with temporary liquidity to fund investments in Investment Funds in advance of the Fund's receipt of distributions from another Investment Fund. The Fund may be required to maintain minimum average balances in connection with borrowings or to pay a commitment or other fee to maintain a line of credit. Either of these requirements would increase the cost of borrowing over the stated interest rate. In addition, a lender may terminate or not renew any credit facility. If the Fund is unable to access additional credit, it may be forced to sell investments in Investment Funds at inopportune times, which may further depress returns. The 1940 Act requires a registered investment company to satisfy an asset coverage requirement of 300% of its indebtedness, including amounts borrowed, measured at the time the indebtedness is incurred. This means that the value of the Fund's total indebtedness may not exceed one-third of the value of its total assets, including the value of the assets purchased with the proceeds of its indebtedness.

<u>Legal and Regulatory Risks</u>. Recent legal and regulatory changes, and additional legal and regulatory changes that could occur during the term of the Fund, may substantially affect private equity funds and such changes may adversely impact the performance of the Fund. The regulation of the U.S. and non-U.S. securities and futures markets and investment funds has undergone substantial change in recent years and such change may continue. Greater regulatory scrutiny may increase the Fund's and the Advisor's exposure to potential liabilities. Increased regulatory oversight can also impose administrative burdens on the Fund and the Advisor, including, without limitation, responding to examinations or investigations and implementing new policies and procedures.

Substantial Fees and Expenses. An Investor in the Fund meeting the eligibility conditions imposed by the Investment Funds, including minimum initial investment requirements that may be substantially higher than those imposed by the Fund, could invest directly in the Investment Funds. In addition, by investing in the Investment Funds through the Fund, an Investor in the Fund bears a portion of the Management Fee and other expenses of the Fund. An Investor in the Fund also indirectly bears a portion of the asset-based fees, incentive allocations, carried interests or fees and operating expenses borne by the Fund as an investor in the Investment Funds. In addition, to the extent that the Fund invests in an Investment Fund that is itself a "fund of funds," the Fund bears a third layer of fees. Each Investment Fund Manager receives any incentive-based allocations to which it is entitled irrespective of the performance of the other Investment Funds and the Fund generally. As a result, an Investment Fund with positive performance may receive compensation from the Fund, even if the Fund's overall returns are negative. The operating expenses of an Investment Fund may include, but are not limited to, organizational and offering expenses; the cost of investments; administrative, legal and internal and external accounting fees; and extraordinary or non-recurring expenses (such as litigation or indemnification expenses). It is difficult to predict the future expenses of the Fund.

Investments in Non-Voting Interests: Inability to Vote. The Fund intends to hold its interests in the Investment Funds in non-voting form in order to avoid becoming (i) an "affiliated person" of any Investment Fund within the meaning of the 1940 Act and (ii) subject to the 1940 Act limitations and prohibitions on transactions with affiliated persons. In order to avoid becoming subject to certain 1940 Act prohibitions with respect to affiliated transactions, the Fund would be limited to owning less than 5% of the voting securities of each Investment Fund. This limitation on owning voting securities is intended to ensure that an Investment Fund is not deemed an "affiliated person", which may, among other things, potentially impose

limits on transactions with the Investment Funds, both by the Fund and other clients of the Advisor. Where only voting securities are available for purchase, the Fund will generally seek to create by contract the same result as owning a non-voting security by agreeing to relinquish the right to vote in respect of its investment. The Fund may irrevocably waive its rights (if any) to vote its interest in an Investment Fund. The Fund does not receive any consideration in return for entering into a voting waiver arrangement. To the extent that the Fund contractually foregoes the right to vote Investment Fund securities, the Fund will not be able to vote on matters that may be adverse to the Fund's interests. As a result, the Fund's influence on an Investment Fund could be diminished, which may consequently adversely affect the Fund and its Investors. The waiver arrangement should benefit the Fund, as it enables the Fund to acquire more interests of an Investment Fund that the Advisor believes is desirable than the Fund would be able to if it were deemed to be an "affiliate" of the Investment Fund within the meaning of the 1940 Act.

Non-Diversified Status. The Fund is a "non-diversified" investment company for purposes of the 1940 Act, which means it is not subject to percentage limitations under the 1940 Act on assets that may be invested in the securities of any one issuer. As a result, the Fund's net asset value may be subject to greater volatility than that of an investment company that is subject to diversification limitations. After the initial period of operations, the Fund does not intend to invest more than 25% of its gross assets (measured at the time of purchase and assuming all Fund assets are fully deployed) in any one Investment Fund.

<u>Dilution from Subsequent Offering of Shares</u>. The Fund may accept additional subscriptions for Shares as determined by the Board, in its sole discretion. Additional purchases will dilute the indirect interests of existing Investors in the Investment Funds prior to such purchases, which could have an adverse impact on the existing Investors' interests in the Fund if subsequent Investment Funds underperform the prior investments.

Valuations Subject to Adjustment. The valuations reported by certain Underlying Funds (including the Investment Funds), upon which the Fund determines its net asset value calculated as of month-end and the net asset value of each Share, may be subject to later adjustment or revision. For example, fiscal year-end net asset value calculations of the Underlying Funds may be revised as a result of audits by their independent auditors. Other adjustments may occur from time to time. Because such adjustments or revisions, whether increasing or decreasing the net asset value of the Fund, at the time they occur, relate to information available only at the time of the adjustment or revision, the adjustment or revision may not affect the amount of the repurchase proceeds of the Fund received by Investors who had their Shares repurchased prior to such adjustments and received their repurchase proceeds, subject to the ability of the Fund to adjust or recoup the repurchase proceeds received by Investors under certain circumstances as described in "Repurchases of Shares and Transfers." As a result, to the extent that such subsequently adjusted valuations from an Underlying Fund or revisions to the net asset value of an Underlying Fund or direct private equity investment adversely affect the Fund's net asset value, the outstanding Shares may be adversely affected by prior repurchases to the benefit of Investors who had their Shares repurchased at a net asset value higher than the adjusted amount. Conversely, any increases in the net asset value resulting from such subsequently adjusted valuations may be entirely for the benefit of the outstanding Shares and to the detriment of Investors who previously had their Shares repurchased at a net asset value lower than the adjusted amount. The same principles apply to the purchase of Shares. New Investors may be affected in a similar way.

Reporting Requirements. Investors who beneficially own Shares that constitute more than 5% or 10% of the Fund's Shares are subject to certain requirements under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the 1940 Act and the rules promulgated thereunder. These include requirements to file certain reports with the SEC. The Fund has no obligation to file such reports on behalf of such Investors or to notify Investors that such reports are required to be made. Investors who may be subject to such requirements should consult with their legal advisors.

Limited Operating History of Fund Investments. Many of the Underlying Funds (including Investment Funds) may have limited operating histories and the information the Fund will obtain about such investments may be limited. As such, the ability of the Advisor to evaluate past performance or to validate the investment strategies of such Underlying Funds will be limited. Moreover, even to the extent an Underlying Fund has a longer operating history, the past investment performance of any of the underlying Fund investments should not be construed as an indication of the future results of such investments, particularly as the investment professionals responsible for the performance of such Underlying Funds may change over time. This risk is related to, and enhanced by, the risks created by the fact that the Advisor relies upon information provided to it by the Underlying Funds that is not, and cannot be, independently verified.

Nature of Portfolio Companies. The Investment Funds and certain other Underlying Funds will include direct and indirect investments in various companies, ventures and businesses ("Portfolio Companies"). This may include Portfolio Companies in the early phases of development, which can be highly risky due to the lack of a significant operating history, fully developed product lines, experienced management, or a proven market for their products. These investments may also include Portfolio Companies that are in a state of distress or which have a poor record and which are undergoing restructuring or changes in management, and there can be no assurances that such restructuring or changes will be successful. The management of such

Portfolio Companies may depend on one or two key individuals, and the loss of the services of any of such individuals may adversely affect the performance of such Portfolio Companies.

Defaulted Debt Securities and Other Securities of Distressed Companies. The Underlying Funds may invest in low grade or unrated debt securities (i.e., "high yield" or "junk" bonds or leveraged loans) or investments in securities of distressed companies. Such investments involve substantial risks. For example, high yield bonds are regarded as being predominantly speculative as to the issuer's ability to make payments of principal and interest. Issuers of high yield debt may be highly leveraged and may not have available to them more traditional methods of financing. Therefore, the risks associated with acquiring the securities of such issuers generally are greater than is the case with higher rated securities. In addition, the risk of loss due to default by the issuer is significantly greater for the holders of high yield bonds because such securities may be unsecured and may be subordinated to other creditors of the issuer. Similar risks apply to other private debt securities. Successful investing in distressed companies involves substantial time, effort and expertise, as compared to other types of investments. Information necessary to properly evaluate a distress situation may be difficult to obtain or be unavailable and the risks attendant to a restructuring or reorganization may not necessarily be identifiable or susceptible to considered analysis at the time of investment.

<u>Private Equity Investments</u>. Private equity is a common term for investments that are typically made in private or public companies through privately negotiated transactions, and generally involve equity-related finance intended to bring about some kind of change in a private business (e.g., providing growth capital, recapitalizing a company or financing an acquisition). Private equity funds, often organized as limited partnerships, are the most common vehicles for making private equity investments. Investment in private equity involves the same types of risks associated with an investment in any operating company. However, securities issued by private partnerships tend to be more illiquid, and highly speculative. Private equity has generally been dependent on the availability of debt or equity financing to fund the acquisitions of their investments. Depending on market conditions, however, the availability of such financing may be reduced dramatically, limiting the ability of private equity to obtain the required financing.

<u>Venture Capital</u>. An Investment Fund or other Underlying Fund may invest in venture capital. Venture capital is usually classified by investments in private companies that have a limited operating history, are attempting to develop or commercialize unproven technologies or implement novel business plans or are not otherwise developed sufficiently to be self-sustaining financially or to become public. Although these investments may offer the opportunity for significant gains, such investments involve a high degree of business and financial risk that can result in substantial losses, which risks generally are greater than the risks of investing in public companies that may be at a later stage of development.

Mezzanine Investments. An Investment Fund or other Underlying Fund may invest in mezzanine loans. Structurally, mezzanine loans usually rank subordinate in priority of payment to senior debt, such as senior bank debt, and are often unsecured. However, mezzanine loans rank senior to common and preferred equity in a borrower's capital structure. Mezzanine debt is often used in leveraged buyout and real estate finance transactions. Typically, mezzanine loans have elements of both debt and equity instruments, offering fixed returns in the form of interest payments associated with senior debt, while providing lenders an opportunity to participate in the capital appreciation of a borrower, if any, through an equity interest. This equity interest typically takes the form of warrants. Due to their higher risk profile and often less restrictive covenants as compared to senior loans, mezzanine loans generally earn a higher return than senior secured loans. The warrants associated with mezzanine loans are typically detachable, which allows lenders to receive repayment of their principal on an agreed amortization schedule while retaining their equity interest in the borrower. Mezzanine loans also may include a "put" feature, which permits the holder to sell its equity interest back to the borrower at a price determined through an agreed-upon formula. Mezzanine investments may be issued with or without registration rights. Similar to other high yield securities, maturities of mezzanine investments are typically seven to ten years, but the expected average life is significantly shorter at three to five years. Mezzanine investments are usually unsecured and subordinate to other obligations of the borrower.

Real Estate Investments. The Fund may be exposed to real estate risk through the Investment Funds or other Underlying Funds. Real estate funds are subject to risks associated with the ownership of real estate, including terrorist attacks, war or other acts that destroy real property (in addition to market risks, such as the recent events described above). Some real estate funds may invest in a limited number of properties, in a narrow geographic area, or in a single property type, which increases the risk that such real estate fund could be unfavorably affected by the poor performance of a single investment or investment type. These companies are also sensitive to factors such as changes in real estate values and property taxes, interest rates, cash flow of underlying real estate assets, supply and demand, and the management skill and creditworthiness of the issuer. Borrowers could default on or sell investments that a real estate fund holds, which could reduce the cash flow needed to make distributions to investors. In addition, real estate funds may also be affected by tax and regulatory requirements impacting the real estate fund's ability to qualify for preferential tax treatments or exemptions. Moreover, in order to satisfy certain of the requirements for qualification as a RIC under the Code, the Fund's ability to invest in real estate (both directly and indirectly) may be limited.

<u>Small- and Medium-Capitalization Companies</u>. Some Underlying Funds (including Investment Funds) may invest a portion of their assets in Portfolio Companies with small- to medium-sized market capitalizations. While such investments may provide significant potential for appreciation, they may also involve higher risks than do investments in securities of larger companies. For example, the risk of bankruptcy or insolvency is higher than for larger, "blue-chip" companies.

<u>Geographic Concentration Risks</u>. An Underlying Fund may concentrate its investments in specific geographic regions. This focus may constrain the liquidity and the number of Portfolio Companies available for investment by an Underlying Fund. In addition, the investments of such an Underlying Fund will be disproportionately exposed to the risks associated with the region of concentration.

<u>Foreign Investment Risk</u>. An Underlying Fund may make foreign investments. Foreign investing involves risks not typically associated with U.S. investments, including adverse fluctuations in foreign currency values, adverse political, social and economic developments, less liquidity, greater volatility, less developed or less efficient trading markets, political instability and differing auditing and legal standards.

Emerging Markets. Some Underlying Funds may invest in Portfolio Companies located in emerging industrialized or less developed countries. Risks particularly relevant to such emerging markets may include greater dependence on exports and the corresponding importance of international trade, higher risk of inflation, more extensive controls on foreign investment and limitations on repatriation of invested capital, increased likelihood of governmental involvement in, and control over, the economies, decisions by the relevant government to cease its support of economic reform programs or to impose restrictions, and less established laws and regulations regarding fiduciary duties of officers and directors and protection of investors.

<u>Sector Exposure</u>. An Underlying Fund may focus its investments in specific industry sectors. This focus may constrain the liquidity and the number of Portfolio Companies available for investment by an Underlying Fund. In addition, the investments of such an Underlying Fund will be disproportionately exposed to the risks associated with the industry sectors of focus.

<u>Utilities and Energy Sectors</u>. Energy companies may be significantly affected by outdated technology, short product cycles, falling prices and profits, market competition and risks associated with using hazardous materials. Energy companies may also be negatively affected by legislation that results in stricter government regulations and enforcement policies or specific expenditures. An Underlying Fund may invest in Portfolio Companies in the utilities sector, thereby exposing the Underlying Fund to risks associated with this sector. Rates charged by traditional regulated utility companies are generally subject to review and limitation by governmental regulatory commissions, and the timing of rate changes will adversely affect such companies' earnings and dividends when costs are rising.

<u>Technology Sector</u>. Certain technology companies may have limited product lines, markets or financial resources, or may depend on a limited management group. In addition, these companies are strongly affected by worldwide technological developments, and their products and services may not be economically successful or may quickly become outdated.

<u>Financial Sector</u>. Financial services companies are subject to extensive governmental regulation that may limit the amounts and types of loans and other financial commitments they can make, and the interest rates and fees they can charge. Profitability of such companies is generally dependent on the availability and cost of capital, and can fluctuate as a result of increased competition or changing interest rates. In addition, the recent period of reduced credit market liquidity and other recent events in the financial sector have resulted in a high degree of volatility in the financial markets, and has negatively affected many financial services companies, such as by causing such companies' values to decline.

<u>Currency Risk.</u> Underlying Funds may include direct and indirect investments in a number of different currencies. Any returns on, and the value of such investments may, therefore, be materially affected by exchange rate fluctuations, local exchange control, limited liquidity of the relevant foreign exchange markets, the convertibility of the currencies in question and/or other factors. A decline in the value of the currencies in which the Fund investments are denominated against the U.S. dollar may result in a decrease in the Fund's net asset value. The Advisor may or may not elect to hedge the value of investments made by the Fund against currency fluctuations. Accordingly, the performance of the Fund could be adversely affected by such currency fluctuations.

Risks Relating to Accounting, Auditing and Financial Reporting, etc. Certain of the Underlying Funds may invest in Portfolio Companies that do not maintain internal management accounts or adopt financial budgeting, internal audit or internal control procedures to standards normally expected of companies in the United States. Accordingly, information supplied to the Fund and an Underlying Fund may be incomplete, inaccurate and/or significantly delayed. The Underlying Funds may therefore be unable to take or influence timely actions necessary to rectify management deficiencies in such Portfolio Companies, which may ultimately have an adverse impact on the net asset value of the Fund.

Valuation of the Fund's Interests in Underlying Funds. The valuation of the Fund's investments in Underlying Funds is ordinarily determined based upon valuations provided by the Underlying Funds on a daily, monthly, or even quarterly basis (with respect to most Investment Funds). A large percentage of the securities in which the Investment Funds or certain other Underlying Funds invest does not have a readily ascertainable market price and is valued by the Underlying Fund. In this regard, an Underlying Fund may face a conflict of interest in valuing the securities, as their value may affect the Underlying Fund's compensation or its ability to raise additional funds. When investing in an Underlying Fund (other than publicly offered mutual funds and ETFs), the Advisor conducts a due diligence review of the valuation methodology utilized by the Underlying Fund, which includes a determination whether the Underlying Fund utilizes market values when available, and otherwise utilizes principles of fair value which the Advisor believes are consistent with those used by the Fund. However, no assurances can be given regarding the valuation methodology or the sufficiency of systems utilized by any Underlying Fund, the accuracy of the valuations provided by the Underlying Funds, that the Underlying Funds will comply with their own internal policies or procedures for keeping records or making valuations, or that the Underlying Funds' policies and procedures and systems will not change without notice to the Fund. As a result, valuations of the securities may be subjective and could prove in hindsight to have been wrong, potentially by significant amounts. In addition, global, national, regional and local market events, natural disasters or a pandemic could cause delays in reporting of valuations (and thus delays in the Fund's financial reports to shareholders), temporarily or for an extended period. The Advisor oversees the valuation of the Fund's investments pursuant to procedures adopted by the Board. The Advisor may face conflicts of interest in overseeing the valuation of the Fund's investments, as the value of the Fund's investments affect the Advisor's compensation. Moreover, the Advisor generally does not have sufficient information in order to be able to confirm or review the accuracy of valuations provided by an Underlying Fund. Further, such information is generally provided on a quarterly basis while the Fund provides valuations on a monthly basis.

An Underlying Fund's information could be inaccurate due to fraudulent activity, misevaluation or inadvertent error. In any case, the Fund may not uncover errors for a significant period of time, if ever. Even if the Advisor elects to cause the Fund to sell its interests in such an Underlying Fund, the Fund may be unable to sell such interests quickly, if at all, and could therefore be obligated to continue to hold such interests for an extended period of time. In such a case, the Underlying Fund's valuations of such interests could remain subject to such fraud or error, and the Advisor may, determine to discount the value of the interests or value them at zero. All valuations are subject to the review and final approval by the Board.

Investors should be aware that situations involving uncertainties as to the valuations by Underlying Funds could have a material adverse effect on the Fund if the judgments regarding valuations should prove incorrect. Persons who are unwilling to assume such risks should not make an investment in the Fund.

<u>Indemnification of Underlying Funds, Investment Fund Managers and Others</u>. The Fund may be required to indemnify certain of the Underlying Funds and their respective managers, officers, directors, and affiliates from any liability, damage, cost, or expense arising out of, among other things, acts or omissions undertaken in reliance upon information provided by the Fund. If the Fund was required to make payments (or return distributions) in respect of any such indemnity, the Fund could be materially adversely affected. Similar indemnification of sellers of secondaries may be required as a condition to purchasing such securities.

<u>Termination of the Fund's Interest in an Underlying Fund</u>. An Underlying Fund may, among other things, terminate the Fund's interest in that Underlying Fund (causing a forfeiture of all or a portion of such interest) if the Fund fails to satisfy any capital call by that Underlying Fund or if the continued participation of the Fund in the Underlying Fund would have a material adverse effect on the Underlying Fund or its assets.

General Risks of Secondary Investments. The overall performance of the Fund's secondary investments depends in large part on the acquisition price paid, which may be negotiated based on incomplete or imperfect information. Certain secondary investments may be purchased as a portfolio, and in such cases the Fund may not be able to carve out from such purchases those investments that the Advisor considers (for commercial, tax, legal or other reasons) less attractive. Where the Fund acquires an Underlying Fund interest as a secondary investment, the Fund does generally not have the ability to modify or amend such Underlying Fund's constituent documents (e.g., limited partnership agreements) or otherwise negotiate the economic terms of the interests being acquired. In addition, the costs and resources required to investigate the commercial, tax and legal issues relating to secondary investments may be greater than those relating to primary investments.

Contingent Liabilities Associated with Secondary Investments. Where the Fund acquires certain Underlying Fund interests as a secondary investment, the Fund may acquire contingent liabilities associated with such interests. Specifically, where the seller has received distributions from the relevant Underlying Fund and, subsequently, that Underlying Fund recalls any portion of such distributions, the Fund (as the purchaser of the interest to which such distributions are attributable) may be obligated to pay an amount equivalent to such distributions to such Underlying Fund. While the Fund may be able, in turn, to make a claim against the seller of the interest for any monies so paid to the Underlying Fund, there can be no assurance that the Fund would have such right or prevail in any such claim.

<u>Risks Relating to Secondary Investments Involving Syndicates</u>. The Fund may acquire secondary investments as a member of a purchasing syndicate, in which case the Fund may be exposed to additional risks including (among other things): (i) counterparty risk, (ii) reputation risk, (iii) breach of confidentiality by a syndicate member, and (iv) execution risk.

<u>Commitment Strategy</u>. The Fund seeks to maintain sufficient access to liquid assets in anticipation of funding capital calls. The Fund is required to make incremental contributions pursuant to capital calls issued from time to time by certain Underlying Funds (including Investment Funds).

Holding a sizeable cash position may result in lower returns than if the Fund employs an "over-commitment" strategy, in order to maximize its exposure to Investment Funds. However, an inadequate cash position presents other risks to the Fund, including the potential inability to fund capital contributions, to pay for repurchases of Shares tendered by Investors or to meet expenses generally. Moreover, if the Fund defaults on its commitments or fails to satisfy capital calls in a timely manner then, generally, it is subject to significant penalties, such as the forfeiture of some or all of the Fund's capital contribution to such Underlying Fund. Any failure by the Fund to make timely capital contributions in respect of its commitments may (i) impair the ability of the Fund to pursue its investment program, (ii) force the Fund to borrow, (iii) indirectly cause the Fund, and, indirectly, the Investors to be subject to certain penalties from the Underlying Funds (including the forfeiture of a portion of the Fund's capital contribution to such Underlying Fund), or (iv) otherwise impair the value of the Fund's investments (including the devaluation of the Fund).

Investment Companies. The Fund may invest in investment companies such as open-end registered funds, closed-end funds, and exchange traded funds, or private funds exempt from registration such as hedge funds, private credit funds, and private equity funds. Section 12(d)(1) (A) of the 1940 Act provides that the registered investment companies may not: (1) purchase more than 3% of a registered investment company's outstanding voting securities; (2) invest more than 5% of its assets in any single such registered investment company (the "5% Limit"), and (3) invest more than 10% of its assets in registered investment companies overall (the "10% Limit").

<u>Statutory Exemption from 5% and 10% Limits</u>. The Fund may exceed these statutory limits when permitted by SEC order or other applicable law or regulatory guidance. The SEC has adopted certain regulatory changes and taken other actions related to the ability of an investment company to invest in the securities of another investment company. These changes include, among other things, the rescission of certain SEC exemptive orders permitting investments in excess of the statutory limits and the withdrawal of certain related SEC staff no-action letters, and the adoption of Rule 12d1-4 under the 1940 Act. Rule 12d1-4 permits the Fund to invest in other investment companies beyond the statutory limits, subject to certain conditions. Investment companies are no longer be able to rely on the aforementioned exemptive orders and no-action letters, and are subject instead to Rule 12d1-4 and other applicable rules under Section 12(d)(1).

In addition, Section 12(d)(1)(F) of the 1940 Act provides that the provisions of paragraph 12(d)(1) shall not apply to securities purchased or otherwise acquired by the Fund if (i) immediately after such purchase or acquisition not more than 3% of the total outstanding voting securities of such registered investment company is owned by the Fund and all affiliated persons of the Fund; and (ii) the Fund has not, and is not proposing to offer or sell any security issued by it through a principal underwriter or otherwise at a public or offering price which includes a sales load of more than $1\frac{1}{2}\%$. A registered investment company that issues shares to the Fund pursuant to paragraph 12(d)(1)(F) shall not be required to redeem its shares in an amount exceeding 1% of such registered investment company's total outstanding shares in any period of less than thirty days. The Fund (or the Advisor acting on behalf of the Fund) must comply with the following voting restrictions: when the Fund exercises voting rights, by proxy or otherwise, with respect to registered investment companies owned by the Fund, the Fund will either seek instruction from the Fund's shareholders with regard to the voting of all proxies and vote in accordance with such instructions, or vote the shares held by the Fund in the same proportion as the vote of all other holders of such security.

<u>Regulatory Exemption from Sales Load Limit</u>. Further, if the Fund chooses to rely on Section 12(d)(1)(F), the Fund may also rely on Rule 12d1-3, which allows unaffiliated registered funds to exceed the 1.5% sales load limit and still rely on the exemption provided by Section 12(d)(1)(F) provided the aggregate sales loads any investor pays (i.e., the combined distribution expenses of both the acquiring fund and the acquired funds) does not exceed the limits on sales loads established by FINRA for funds of funds.

<u>Purchases by "Affiliated Persons" of the Fund.</u> The Fund and any "affiliated persons," as defined by the 1940 Act, in reliance on Section 12(d)(1)(F) of the 1940 Act, may purchase in the aggregate only up to 3% of the total outstanding voting securities of any one Underlying Fund. Accordingly, when affiliated persons hold shares of any of the Underlying Funds, the Fund's ability to invest fully in shares of those funds may be restricted, and the Advisor must then, in some instances, select alternative investments that would not have been its first preference. The 1940 Act also provides that an Underlying Fund

whose shares are purchased by the Fund in the foregoing manner will be obligated to redeem shares held by the Fund only in an amount up to 1% of the Underlying Fund's outstanding securities during any period of less than 30 days. These limitations do not apply to the acquisition of Shares of any registered investment company in connection with a merger, consolidation, reorganization or acquisition of substantially all of the assets of another registered investment company.

The Fund, as a holder of the securities of other investment companies, bears its pro rata portion of the other investment companies' expenses, including advisory fees. These expenses are in addition to the direct expenses incurred by the Fund.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, Investment Grade Bonds, Money Market Instruments. The Fund, and Underlying Funds, may invest, including for defensive purposes, some or all of their respective assets in high-quality fixed-income securities, money market instruments and money market mutual funds, or hold cash or cash equivalents in such amounts as the Advisor or Underlying Fund managers deem appropriate under the circumstances. In addition, the Fund or an Underlying Fund may invest in these instruments pending allocation of its respective offering proceeds, and the Fund will seek to maintain sufficient access to liquid assets, which, in addition to any available line of credit, will be sufficient to satisfy anticipated capital calls from Underlying Funds. Money market instruments are high-quality, short-term fixed-income obligations, which generally have remaining maturities of one year or less and may include U.S. government securities, commercial paper, certificates of deposit and bankers acceptances issued by domestic branches of U.S. banks that are members of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and repurchase agreements.

<u>Credit Risk</u>. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of a security will fail to pay principal and interest in a timely manner, reducing the associated total return. Credit risk may be substantial for the Fund in connection with its investment in private credit funds, or other Underlying Funds.

Cybersecurity Risk. With the increased use of technologies such as the Internet and the dependence on computer systems to perform necessary business functions, investment companies such as the Fund and its service providers may be prone to operational and information security risks resulting from cyber-attacks. In general, cyber-attacks result from deliberate attacks but unintentional events may have effects similar to those caused by cyber-attacks. Cyber-attacks include, among other behaviors, stealing or corrupting data maintained online or digitally, denial-of-service attacks on fund websites, the unauthorized release of confidential information and causing operational disruption. Successful cyber-attacks against, or security breakdowns of, a Fund or the Advisor, NLD, the Fund's custodians, transfer agent, selling agents and/or other third party service providers may adversely impact the Fund or its shareholders. For instance, cyber-attacks may interfere with the processing of shareholder transactions, impact the Fund's ability to calculate its net asset value, cause the release of private shareholder information or confidential Fund information, impede trading, cause reputational damage, and subject the Fund to regulatory fines, penalties or financial losses, reimbursement or other compensation costs, and/or additional compliance costs. The Fund may also incur substantial costs for cyber security risk management in order to prevent any cyber incidents in the future. The Fund and its shareholders could be negatively impacted as a result. While the Fund or the Fund's service providers have established business continuity plans and systems designed to prevent such cyber-attacks, there are inherent limitations in such plans and systems including the possibility that certain risks have not been identified. Similar types of cyber security risks are also present for issuers of securities or other instruments in which the Fund invests, which could result in material adverse consequences for such issuers, and may cause the Fund's investment therein to lose value.

Private Credit Fund Risks. The Fund is subject to all risks associated with the private credit funds in which it may invest. Such private credit strategies may involve a variety of debt investing. Prepayment risk is associated with debt investment strategies, including investments in mortgages or mortgage-related securities, consumer credit or corporate credit. If interest rates fall, the underlying debt may be repaid ahead of schedule, reducing the value of such investments. If interest rates rise, there may be fewer prepayments, which would cause the average bond maturity to rise, increasing the potential for such investments to lose money. The value of these securities may be significantly affected by changes in interest rates, the market's perception of issuers, and the creditworthiness of the parties involved. The ability of an Underlying Fund to successfully utilize these instruments may depend on the ability of its manager to forecast interest rates and other economic factors correctly. These securities may have a structure that makes their reaction to interest rate changes and other factors difficult to predict, making their value highly volatile. Investments in mortgages or mortgage-related securities may be secured by pools of mortgages on single-family, multi-family properties, as well as commercial properties. Similarly, asset backed securities may be secured by pools of loans, such as student loans, automobile loans and credit card receivables. The credit risk on such securities is affected by homeowners or borrowers defaulting on their loans. The values of assets underlying mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities may decline and, therefore, may not be adequate to cover underlying investors. Mortgage-related securities and other securities issued by participants in housing and commercial real estate finance, as well as other real estate-related markets, have experienced weakness and volatility in recent years. Possible legislation in the area of residential mortgages, credit cards and other loans that may collateralize the securities in which an Underlying Fund may invest could negatively impact the value of its investments. To the extent an Underlying Fund focuses its investments in particular types of mortgage-backed or asset-backed securities, it may be more susceptible to risk factors affecting such types of securities.

These investments may be adversely affected by tax, legislative, regulatory, credit, political or government changes, interest rate increases and the financial conditions of issuers, which may pose credit risks that result in issuer default.

Business Development Company Risk. BDCs carry risks similar to those of a private equity or venture capital fund. The securities of a BDC are not redeemable at the option of the shareholder and they may trade in the market at a discount to their net asset value. A BDC is a form of investment company that is required to invest at least 70% of its total assets in securities (typically debt) of private companies, thinly traded U.S. public companies, or short-term high quality debt securities. The BDCs held by the Fund may leverage their portfolios through borrowings or the issuance of preferred stock. While leverage often serves to increase the yield of a BDC, this leverage also subjects a BDC to increased risks, including the likelihood of increased volatility and the possibility that a BDC's common share income will fall if the dividend rate of the preferred shares or the interest rate on any borrowings rises. A significant portion of a BDC's investments are recorded at fair value as determined by its board of directors which may create uncertainty as to the value of the BDC's investments.

Non-traded BDCs are subject to significant commissions, expenses and offering and organizational costs that reduce the value of an investor's (including the Fund's) investments. Non-traded BDCs are not liquid, and investments in non-traded BDCs may not be accessible for an extended period of time. Redemption programs offered by non-traded BDCs may have significant restrictions, such as caps on the amount of shares that can be redeemed annually, limits on the amounts and sources of funds that may be used to fund redemptions and the ability of the non-traded BDC to suspend or terminate the program at its discretion. There is no guarantee of any specific return on the principal amount or the repayment of all or a portion of the principal amount invested in non-traded BDCs. In addition, there is no guarantee that investors (including the Fund) will receive a distribution from a non-traded BDC.

Other Risks

Investing in the Fund involves risks other than those associated with investments made by the Investment Funds. Some of these risks are described below:

<u>Incentive Allocation Arrangements</u>. Each Investment Fund Manager may receive a performance fee, carried interest or incentive allocation generally equal to 20% of the net profits earned by the Investment Fund that it manages, typically subject to a high water mark, hurdle amount and clawback provisions. These performance incentives may create an incentive for the Investment Fund Managers to make investments that are riskier or more speculative than those that might have been made in the absence of the performance fee, carried interest, or incentive allocation.

Availability of Investment Opportunities. The business of identifying and structuring investments of the types contemplated by the Fund is competitive, and involves a high degree of uncertainty. The availability of investment opportunities is subject to market conditions and may also be affected by the prevailing regulatory or political climate. No assurance can be made that the Advisor will be able to identify and complete attractive investments in the future or that it will be able to invest fully its subscriptions. Other investment vehicles managed or advised by the Advisor and its affiliates may seek investment opportunities similar to those the Fund may be seeking. The Advisor attempts to allocate fairly between the Fund and such other investment vehicles any investment opportunities that may be appropriate for the Fund and such other investment vehicles. Similarly, identifying attractive investment opportunities for an Investment Fund is difficult and involves a high degree of uncertainty. Even if an Investment Fund Manager identifies an attractive investment opportunity, an Investment Fund may not be permitted to take advantage of the opportunity to the fullest extent desired.

Control Positions. Investment Funds may take control positions in companies. The exercise of control over a company imposes additional risks of liability for environmental damage, product defects, failure to supervise and other types of liability related to business operations. In addition, the act of taking a control position, or seeking to take such a position, may itself subject an Investment Fund to litigation by parties interested in blocking it from taking that position. If such liabilities were to arise, or if such litigation were to be resolved in a manner that adversely affected the Investment Funds, those Investment Funds would likely incur losses on their investments.

<u>Inadequate Return</u>. No assurance can be given that the returns on the Fund's investments will be proportionate to the risk of investment in the Fund. Potential Investors should not invest in the Fund unless they have the resources to sustain the loss of their entire investment.

<u>Inside Information</u>. From time to time, the Fund or an Investment Fund or their respective affiliates may come into possession of material, non-public information concerning an entity or issuer in which the Fund or an Investment Fund has invested or may invest. The possession of such information may limit the Fund's or the Investment Fund's ability to buy or sell securities of the issuer.

Recourse to the Fund's Assets. The Fund's assets, and any interest in the Investment Funds held by the Fund, are available to satisfy all liabilities and other obligations of the Fund. If the Fund becomes subject to a liability, parties seeking to have the liability satisfied may have recourse to the Fund's assets generally and not be limited to any particular asset, such as the asset representing the investment giving rise to the liability.

Possible Exclusion of Investors Based on Certain Detrimental Effects. The Fund may repurchase Fund Shares held by an Investor or other person acquiring Shares from or through an Investor, if: (i) the Shares have been transferred or have vested in any person other than by operation of law as the result of the death, dissolution, bankruptcy, insolvency or adjudicated incompetence of the Investor, (ii) ownership of the Shares by the Investor or other person likely will cause the Fund to be in violation of, require registration of any Shares under, or subject the Fund to additional registration or regulation under, the securities, commodities or other laws of the United States or any other relevant jurisdiction, (iii) continued ownership of the Shares by the Investor or other person may be harmful or injurious to the business or reputation of the Fund, or may subject the Fund or any Investor to an undue risk of adverse tax or other fiscal or regulatory consequences, (iv) any of the representations and warranties made by the Investor or other person in connection with the acquisition of the Shares was not true when made or has ceased to be true, (v) the Investor is subject to special regulatory or compliance requirements, and the Fund determines that the Investor is likely to be subject to additional regulatory or compliance requirements under these special laws or regulations by virtue of continuing to hold the Shares, (vi) the Investor's investment balance falls below \$50,000, or (vii) the Fund or the Board determines that the repurchase of the Shares would be in the interest of the Fund. These provisions may, in effect, deprive an Investor in the Fund of an opportunity for a return that might be received by other Investors. Any such repurchases may affect the Fund's decision to permit Investors to tender Shares.

Potential Significant Effect of the Performance of a Limited Number of Investments or Strategies. The Advisor expects that the Fund will participate in multiple Investments. The Fund may, however, make investments in a limited number of the Investment Funds and Investment Funds may make investments in a limited number of Portfolio Companies. In either instance, these limited numbers of investments may have a significant effect on the performance of the Fund. In addition, the Fund may invest a substantial portion of its assets in Investment Funds that follow a particular investment strategy. In such event, the Fund would be exposed to the risks associated with that strategy to a greater extent than it would if the Fund's assets were invested more broadly among Investment Funds pursuing various investment strategies. Because the Fund emphasizes investment allocations to Investment Funds, the performance of the Fund may be significantly affected by changes in the resources, financial condition and reputation of the Fund manager, and the Fund may be less diversified, and subject to greater concentration risk, than other funds of private equity funds.

<u>Sub-Placement Agent Risk</u>. It is expected that Investors will invest in the Fund pursuant to pre-existing relationships with Sub-Placement Agents. When a limited number of Sub-Placement Agents represent a large percentage of Investors, actions recommended by Sub-Placement Agents may result in significant and undesirable variability in terms of Investor subscription or tender activity. Additionally, it is possible that if a matter is put to a vote at a meeting of Investors, clients of a single Sub-Placement Agent may vote as a block, if so recommended by the Sub-Placement Agents.

Tax Risks. Special tax risks are associated with an investment in the Fund. The Fund intends to qualify and elect to be treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. As such, the Fund must satisfy, among other requirements, certain ongoing asset diversification, source-of-income and annual distribution requirements. If, in any year, the Fund fails to qualify as a RIC under the applicable tax laws, the Fund would be taxed as an ordinary corporation. In such circumstances, the Fund could be required to recognize unrealized gains, pay substantial taxes and make substantial distributions before requalifying as a RIC that is accorded special tax treatment. The Fund expects that it may not qualify for RIC status for its initial fiscal year-end, but does expect to qualify in subsequent years. Nonetheless, there can be no assurance that the Fund will so qualify and be eligible.

Each of the aforementioned ongoing requirements for qualification for the favorable tax treatment available to RICs requires that the Advisor obtain information from or about the Investment Funds in which the Fund is invested. However, Investment Funds generally are not obligated to disclose the contents of their portfolios. This lack of transparency may make it difficult for the Advisor to monitor the sources of the Fund's income and the diversification of its assets, and otherwise comply with Subchapter M of the Code, and ultimately may limit the universe of Investment Funds in which the Fund can invest. Furthermore, although the Fund expects to receive information from each Investment Fund Manager regarding its investment performance on a regular basis, in most cases there is little or no means of independently verifying this information.

If before the end of any quarter of its taxable year, the Fund believes that it may fail the asset diversification requirement, the Fund may seek to take certain actions to avert such a failure. The Fund may try to acquire additional interests in Investment Funds to bring the Fund into compliance with the asset diversification test. However, the action frequently taken by RICs to avert such a failure, the disposition of non-diversified assets, may be difficult for the Fund to pursue because of the limited liquidity of the

interests in the Investment Funds. While relevant tax provisions afford the Fund a 30-day period after the end of the relevant quarter in which to cure a diversification failure by disposing of non-diversified assets, the constraints on the Fund's ability to effect a sale of an Investment Fund may limit utilization of this cure period. In certain cases, the Fund may be afforded a longer cure period under savings provisions contained in the Regulated Investment Company Modernization Act of 2010. However, the Fund may be subject to a penalty tax in connection with its use of those savings provisions. If the Fund fails to satisfy the asset diversification or other RIC requirements, it may lose its status as a RIC under the Code. In that case, all of its taxable income would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate rates without any deduction for distributions to Investors. In addition, all distributions (including distributions of net capital gain) would be taxed to their recipients as dividend income to the extent of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits. Accordingly, disqualification as a RIC would have a material adverse effect on the value of the Fund's Shares and the amount of the Fund's distributions. In addition, the Fund is required each December to make certain "excise tax" calculations based on income and gain information that must be obtained from the underlying Investment Funds. If the Fund does not receive accurate information from the Investment Funds, the Fund risks failing to satisfy the Subchapter M qualification tests and/or incurring the excise tax on undistributed income. (See "Certain Tax Considerations.")

The Fund's use of cash to repurchase shares could adversely affect its ability to satisfy the distribution requirements for treatment as a RIC. The Fund could also recognize income in connection with its liquidation of portfolio securities to fund share repurchases. Any such income would be taken into account in determining whether the distribution requirements are satisfied, and to the extent that additional distributions are required, could generate additional taxable income for those shareholders receiving such additional distributions, either as ordinary income or long-term capital gain, as described above. Furthermore, if the Fund is unable to liquidate portfolio securities in a manner that would enable the Fund to meet the income and asset diversification tests, the Fund could fail to qualify as a RIC, with the adverse consequences as set forth above.

In addition, the Fund may directly or indirectly invest in Investment Funds or Portfolio Companies located outside the United States. Such Investment Funds and Portfolio Companies may be subject to withholding taxes and other taxes in such jurisdictions with respect to their investments. Further, adverse United States tax consequences can be associated with certain foreign investments, including potential United States withholding taxes on foreign investment entities with respect to their United States investments and potential adverse tax consequences associated with investments in any foreign corporations that are characterized for U.S. federal income tax purposes as "passive foreign investment companies" (see "Certain Tax Considerations—Passive Foreign Investment Companies").

The success of an Investment Fund's activities will typically depend on the ability of the relevant Investment Fund Manager to identify investment opportunities, enhance portfolio company value and to see when target improvements/value is reached. The Fund should be considered a speculative investment, and you should invest in the Fund only if you can sustain a complete loss of your investment.

The above discussions of the various risks associated with the Fund and the Shares are not, and are not intended to be, a complete enumeration or explanation of the risks involved in an investment in the Fund. Prospective Investors should read this entire Prospectus and consult with their own advisors before deciding whether to invest in the Fund. In addition, as the Fund's investment program changes or develops over time, or market conditions change or develop, an investment in the Fund may be subject to risk factors not described in this Prospectus.

No guarantee or representation is made that the investment program of the Fund or any Investment Fund will be successful, that the various Investment Funds selected will produce positive returns or that the Fund will achieve their investment objective.

On November 30, 2012, the CFTC staff issued no-action relief from CPO registration to operators of "funds of funds" ("CFTC Relief"). The CFTC Relief expires six months after the CFTC staff issues revised guidance on the application of the trading restrictions applicable to operators of "funds of funds" registered with the SEC that wish to qualify for the exclusion from the definition of a CPO under CFTC Regulation 4.5. The CFTC has not proposed any guidance on the application of CFTC Regulation 4.5 to "funds of funds". It is possible that the Advisor could be limited in its ability to invest in Underlying Funds that use futures or options on futures or engage in swaps transactions to qualify for the exclusion under CFTC Regulation 4.5.

In the event the Advisor fails to qualify for the exclusion from CPO registration requirements under CFTC Regulation 4.5 should the CFTC Relief expire and it is required to register with the CFTC as a CPO with respect to the Fund, it will become subject to various disclosure, recordkeeping and reporting requirements applicable to registered CPOs and will likely be required to provide to the investors certified annual reports prepared in accordance with the relevant CFTC Regulations, which may increase the Fund's expenses.

MANAGEMENT OF THE FUND

Trustees and Officers

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Fund, including supervision of the duties performed by the Adviser. The Board consists of five individuals, three of whom are not "interested persons" (as defined under the 1940 Act) of the Fund, the Adviser, or the Distributor ("Independent Trustees"). The Trustees are responsible for the Fund's overall management, including adopting the investment and other policies of the Fund, electing and replacing officers and selecting and supervising the Fund's investment Adviser. The name and business address of the Trustees and officers of the Fund and their principal occupations and other affiliates during the past five years, as well as a description of the Board's committee and leadership structure, are set forth under "Management" in the SAI.

The Advisor

Founded in 2011, Princeton Fund Advisors, LLC, is registered as an investment advisor under the Advisors Act. Under the control of John L. Sabre and Greg D. Anderson, the Advisor is an independent investment advisory firm specializing in the management of a variety of types of investment funds. As of June 30, 2023 the Advisor had approximately \$965 million in assets under management. The Advisor is a subsidiary of Mount Yale, a Delaware limited liability company also controlled by John L. Sabre and Greg D. Anderson. Mount Yale, through Mount Yale Investment Advisors, LLC, had approximately \$1.938 billion in assets under management as of June 30, 2023.

The Advisor serves as investment advisor to the Fund pursuant to a management agreement entered into between the Fund and the Advisor (the "Management Agreement"). The Board has engaged the Advisor to provide investment advice to, and manage the day-to-day business and affairs of, the Fund, in each case under the ultimate supervision of, and subject to any policies established by, the Board. The Advisor allocates the Fund's assets and monitors regularly each Investment Fund to determine whether its investment program is consistent with the Fund's investment objective and whether the Investment Fund's investment performance and other criteria are satisfactory. The Advisor may sell Investment Funds and select additional Investment Funds, subject in each case to the ultimate supervision of, and any policies established by, the Board. The Advisor also provides, or arranges at its expense, for certain management and administrative services for the Fund. Some of those services include providing support services, maintaining and preserving certain records, and preparing and filing various materials with state and U.S. federal regulators. A discussion regarding the basis for the Board's renewal of the Management Agreement is available in the Fund's annual shareholder report dated March 31, 2023.

The offices of the Advisor are located at 8500 Normandale Lake Blvd, Suite 1900, Minneapolis, MN 55437, and its telephone number is (855) 897-5390. The Advisor or its designee maintains the Fund's accounts, books and other documents required to be maintained under the 1940 Act at 8500 Normandale Lake Blvd, Suite 1900, Minneapolis, MN 55437, or the offices of Ulitmus Fund Solutions, LLC, at 80 Arkay Drive, Suite 110, Hauppauge, NY 11788 or 4221 North 203rd Street, Suite 100, Elkhorn, Nebraska 68022.

Management Agreement

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Advisor is responsible, subject to the supervision of the Board, for formulating a continuing investment program for the Fund. The Management Agreement was initially approved by the Fund's full Board and by the Independent Trustees at a meeting held in person on September 22, 2014, and was also approved by the initial shareholder. The Management Agreement was most recently renewed at a Board meeting held on March 14, 2023, and the Board's deliberations related to the renewal are included in the Fund's annual report to shareholders for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023. The Management Agreement is terminable without penalty, on 60 days' prior written notice by the Board, by vote of a majority of the outstanding Shares of the Fund, or by the Advisor. The Management Agreement had an initial term expiring two years after the Fund commenced investment operations. Thereafter, the Management Agreement continues in effect from year to year if its continuance is approved annually by either the Board or the vote of a majority of the outstanding Shares of the Fund, respectively, provided that, in either event, the continuance also is approved by a majority of the Independent Trustees by vote cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on such approval. The Management Agreement also provides that it will terminate automatically in the event of its "assignment" (as defined in the 1940 Act).

In consideration of the management and administrative services provided by the Advisor to the Fund, the Fund pays, out of its assets, the management fee at the annual rate of 1.20% of the Fund's total managed assets (the "Management Fee"). For purposes of determining the Management Fee payable to the Advisor for any month, total managed assets is calculated as the value of the total assets of the Fund (including any assets attributable to leverage) minus accrued liabilities (other than liabilities representing leverage). During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, the Fund incurred \$746,390 in Management Fees. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, the Fund incurred \$1,106,910 in Management Fees. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Fund incurred \$1,423,347 in Management Fees.

The Management Agreement provides that, in the absence of willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of its obligations to the Fund, the Advisor and any director, officer, member or employee thereof, or any of their affiliates, executors, heirs, assigns, successors or other legal representatives, will not be liable to the Fund, for any error of judgment, for any mistake of law or for any act or omission by such person in connection with the performance of services under the Management Agreement. The Management Agreement also provides for indemnification, to the fullest extent permitted by law, by the Fund of the Advisor, or any Trustee, member, officer or employee thereof, and any of their affiliates, executors, heirs, assigns, successors or other legal representatives, against any liability or expense to which such person may be liable which arises in connection with the performance of services to the Fund, as the case may be, provided that the liability or expense is not incurred by reason of the person's willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of its obligations to the Fund.

Effective September 1, 2017, the Advisor voluntarily elected to waive a portion of the Management Fee attributable to the assets of the Fund invested in any mutual fund advised by the Advisor. The portion waived is equal to the amount of the management fee paid to the Advisor by such affiliated mutual fund that is attributable to Fund assets invested in the affiliated mutual fund, less the attributable amount of: (i) any fees paid to any subadvisor to the affiliated mutual fund and (ii) any fee waivers, expense reimbursements and other direct expenses incurred by the Advisor related to the affiliated mutual fund. Fees waived pursuant to this voluntary waiver are not subject to recoupment in future periods. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, the Advisor waived \$0 in Management Fees under this voluntary waiver. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, the Advisor waived \$50,712 in Management Fees under this voluntary waiver. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Advisor waived \$135,705 in Management Fees under this voluntary waiver and recaptured \$49,801.

Portfolio Managers

The below portfolio managers are jointly and primarily responsible for the day-to-day management of the Fund's portfolio and share equal responsibility and authority for managing the Fund's portfolio. Each of the below portfolio managers has served as a portfolio manager to the Fund since inception. The SAI provides additional information about the portfolio managers' compensation, other accounts managed and ownership of Fund shares.

John L. Sabre is a founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Advisor. He has served as a Portfolio Manager of the Fund since it commenced operations. Mr. Sabre has also served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Mount Yale since 2003. Prior to 2003, Mr. Sabre was a Senior Managing Director at Bear Stearns & Co. and Head of the Mezzanine Capital Group. Mr. Sabre previously served as President of First Dominion Capital, which managed \$3.0 billion of assets and is now owned by Credit Suisse First Boston. Prior to his position at First Dominion Capital, Mr. Sabre was a Managing Director and founding partner of Indosuez Capital, the merchant banking division of Credit Agricole Indosuez. Mr. Sabre also was employed in the investment banking groups of Credit Suisse First Boston and Drexel Burnham Lambert. Mr. Sabre holds a B.S. degree from the Carlson School at the University of Minnesota and an M.B.A. degree from The Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania.

Greg D. Anderson, is a founder and President of the Advisor. He has served as a Portfolio Manager of the Fund since it commenced operations. Mr. Anderson is also the President of Mount Yale. Prior to founding the Advisor in 2011 and Mount Yale Asset Management, LLC in 1999, Mr. Anderson was a Senior Vice President and Managing Director of Investment Manager Search, Evaluation, and Due Diligence at Portfolio Management Consultants, Inc. Mr. Anderson was previously employed with Deloitte & Touche where he specialized in the areas of estate planning, health care and non-profit organizations, and tax and personal finance planning for high net worth individuals. Mr. Anderson holds a B.A. degree from Hamline University in Minnesota and a J.D. from the University of Minnesota School of Law. Mr. Anderson is a Certified Public Accountant (inactive).

Administrator, Accounting Agent and Transfer Agent

Ultimus Fund Solutions LLC, which has its principal place of business at 225 Pictoria Drive, Suite 450, Cincinnati, OH 45246, serves as administrator, fund accountant and transfer agent for the Fund pursuant to a Fund Services Agreement with the Trust and subject to the oversight of the Board. Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC is primarily in the business of providing administrative, fund accounting and transfer agent services to retail and institutional mutual funds.

Custodian

U.S. Bank National Association, with principal offices at 800 Nicollet Mall, Minneapolis, MN 55402-7014, serves as custodian for securities and cash of the Fund's portfolio. Under a Custody Agreement, U.S. Bank National Association holds Fund assets in safekeeping and keeps all necessary records and documents relating to its duties.

Fund Expenses

The Advisor bears all of its own costs incurred in providing investment advisory services to the Fund. The Fund bears all expenses incurred in the business and investment program of the Fund, including all costs related to its organization and offering of Shares, and any charges and fees to which the Fund is subject as an investor in the Investment Funds. The Advisor also provides, or arranges at its expense, for certain management and administrative services for the Fund. Some of those services include providing support services, maintaining and preserving certain records, and preparing and filing various materials with state and U.S. federal regulators.

Expenses borne by the Fund (and, thus, indirectly by Investors) include:

- all expenses related to the investment program, including, but not limited to: (i) expenses borne indirectly through the Fund's investments in the Investment Funds, including, without limitation, any fees and expenses charged by the Investment Fund Managers (such as management fees, performance, carried interests or incentive fees or allocations, monitoring fees, property management fees, and redemption or withdrawal fees), (ii) all costs and expenses directly related to portfolio transactions and positions for the Fund's account, such as direct and indirect expenses associated with the Fund's investments in Investment Funds (whether or not consummated), and enforcing the Fund's rights in respect of such investments, (iii) transfer taxes and premiums, (iv) taxes withheld on non-U.S. dividends or other non-U.S. source income, (v) fees for data, software and technology providers, (vi) professional fees (including, without limitation, the fees and expenses of consultants, attorneys and experts), and (vii) if applicable, brokerage commissions, interest and commitment fees on loans and debit balances, borrowing charges on securities sold short, dividends on securities sold but not yet purchased and margin fees;
- the Management Fee;
- the Distribution and Service Fee for Class A, Class II, and Class L Shares;
- all costs and expenses (including costs and expenses associated with the organization and initial registration of the Fund) associated with the operation and ongoing registration of the Fund, including, without limitation, all costs and expenses associated with the repurchase offers, offering costs, and the costs of compliance with any applicable Federal or state laws;
- fees of the Independent Trustees and the costs and expenses of holding any meetings of the Board or Investors that are regularly scheduled, permitted or required to be held under the terms of the Agreement and Declaration of Trust, the 1940 Act or other applicable law;
- compensation payable to the chief compliance officer of the Fund, and expenses attributable to implementing the compliance program;
- fees and expenses of performing research, risk analysis and due diligence, including third party background checks;
- fees and disbursements of any attorneys, accountants, auditors and other consultants and professionals engaged on behalf of the Fund, and the Independent Trustees;
- the costs of a fidelity bond and any liability or other insurance obtained on behalf of the Fund, the Advisor, or the Trustees or the officers of the Fund;
- recordkeeping, custody and transfer agency fees and expenses;

- all costs and expenses of preparing, setting in type, printing and distributing reports and other communications to Investors or potential Investors;
- all expenses of computing net asset value, including any equipment or services obtained for the purpose of valuing the

investment portfolio, including appraisal and valuation services provided by third parties;

- all charges for equipment or services used for communications between the Fund and any custodian, administrator or other agent;
- fees of custodians or any escrow agent, including any fees associated with the escrow account, and other service providers including transfer agents and depositaries (including The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation and National Securities Clearing Corporation), and other persons providing administrative services;
- any extraordinary expenses (as defined below), including indemnification or litigation expenses;
- all taxes to which the Fund may be subject, directly or indirectly, and whether in the U.S., any state thereof or any other U.S. or non-U.S. jurisdictions; and
- such other types of expenses as may be approved from time to time by the Board.

The Fund reimburses the Advisor for any of the above expenses that it pays on behalf of the Fund.

Control Persons and Principal Holders of Securities

A control person is a person who beneficially owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 25% of the voting securities of a company or acknowledges the existence of control. To the knowledge of the Fund, as of July 1, 2023, there were no shareholders who beneficially owned more than 25% of the Fund.

DESCRIPTION OF SHARES

General

The Fund is a statutory trust organized under the laws of the state of Delaware. The Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Shares and the Fund currently offers Class A, Class I, Class II, and Class L Shares. Each Share has one vote at all meetings of Investors and, when issued and paid for in accordance with the terms of this offering, will be fully paid and non-assessable. Each Investor will have the right to cast a number of votes based on the number of such Investor's respective Shares at any meeting of Investors called by the Board or Investors holding at least one-third of the total number of votes eligible to be cast by all Investors. On each matter submitted to a vote of Investors, unless the Board determines otherwise, all Shares of all classes shall vote as a single class, except if a separate vote of any class is required by the 1940 Act or other applicable law or attributes applicable to a particular class, or if a matter affects only the interests of a particular class. Except for the exercise of their voting privileges, Investors will not be entitled to participate in the management or control of the Fund's business, and may not act for or bind the Fund.

Except as otherwise described above, all Shares are equal as to dividends, assets and voting privileges and have no conversion, preemptive or other subscription rights. Under certain circumstances, Shares may be converted from one class of Shares to another class of Shares. The aggregate net asset value of the Shares of the class received upon such conversion will equal the aggregate net asset value of the converted Shares as of the date of the conversion. Investors are not liable for further calls or assessments. The Fund will send periodic reports (including financial statements) to all Investors. The Fund does not intend to hold annual meetings of Investors. Investors are entitled to receive dividends only if and to the extent declared by the Board and only after the Board has made provision for working capital and reserves as it, in its sole discretion, deems advisable. Shares are not available in certificated form. With very limited exceptions, Shares are not transferable and liquidity will be provided principally through limited repurchase offers. See "Types of Investments and Related Risk Factors—Limitations on Transfer; Shares Not Listed; No Market for Fund Shares."

In general, any action requiring a vote of Investors shall be effective if taken or authorized by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding Shares. Any change in the Fund's fundamental policies may also be authorized by the vote of the holders of two-thirds of the Shares present at an Investor's meeting if the holders of a majority of the outstanding Shares are present or represented by proxy.

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Fund, after payment of all of the liabilities of the Fund, Investors are entitled to share ratably in all the remaining assets of the Fund.

The following table shows the amounts of shares of the Fund that have been authorized and are outstanding as of May 1,2023:

	Amount	Amount Held by Fund	Amount Outstanding Excluding
Title of Class	Authorized	or for its Account	Amount Held by Fund or for its Account
Class A Shares	Unlimited	0	1,228,130
Class I Shares	Unlimited	0	7,105,315
Class II Shares	Unlimited	0	515,638
Class L Shares	Unlimited	0	636,674

DISTRIBUTION POLICY; DIVIDENDS

The Fund intends to make quarterly distributions to shareholders and dividends will be paid at least annually on the Shares in amounts representing substantially all of the net investment income, if any, earned each year. Payments on the Shares may vary in amount depending on investment income received and expenses of operation.

Substantially all of any taxable net capital gain realized on investments will be paid to Investors at least annually. In addition, depending upon the performance of the Fund's investments, the related growth of the Fund's net assets, and the availability of attractive investment opportunities, the Fund may from time to time make a distribution that constitutes a return of capital for federal income tax purposes—that is to say, the Fund will effectively be returning to each Investor a portion of the Investor's initial investment in the Fund. A return of capital will not be taxable to Investors at the time of its payment. It will, however, decrease an Investor's tax basis in his or her Shares. For example, if an Investor has a basis in his Shares of \$100,000 and then receives a return of capital of \$5,000, the Investor will not have to pay taxes on the return of capital when the Investor receives it. However, the Investor's tax basis in his Shares will be reduced from \$100,000 to \$95,000. If the Investor later tenders his Shares for \$105,000, the Investor will have a taxable gain of \$10,000 instead of only \$5,000 had there not been any prior return of capital. See "Certain Tax Considerations—Distributions" and "Income from Repurchases and Transfers of Shares."

The net asset value of each Share that an Investor owns will be reduced by the amount of the distributions or dividends that the Investor receives in respect of Shares.

An Investor's dividends and capital gain distributions will be automatically reinvested if the Investor does not instruct UFS otherwise. An Investor who elects not to reinvest will generally receive both dividends and capital gain distributions in cash. The Fund may limit the extent to which any distributions that are returns of capital may be reinvested in the Fund.

Shares will be issued at their net asset value on the ex-dividend date; there is no sales charge or other charge for reinvestment. Investors may elect initially not to reinvest by indicating that choice on the Investor Application. Investors are free to change their election at any time by contacting UFS. Your request must be received by UFS before the record date to be effective for that dividend or capital gain distribution.

The Fund reserves the right to suspend at any time the ability of Investors to reinvest distributions and to require Investors to receive all distributions in cash, or to limit the maximum amount that may be reinvested, either as a dollar amount or as a percentage of distributions. The Fund may determine to do so if, for example, the amount being reinvested by Investors exceeds the available investment opportunities that the Advisor considers suitable for the Fund.

CALCULATION OF NET ASSET VALUE

The Fund calculates its net asset value as of the close of business on the last business day of each calendar month, as of each date that a Share is offered or repurchased, as of the date of any distribution, and at such other times as the Board shall determine (each, a "Determination Date"). In determining its net asset value, the Fund values its investments as of the relevant Determination Date. The net asset value of the Fund equals, unless otherwise noted, the value of the total assets of the Fund, less all of its liabilities, including accrued fees and expenses, each determined as of the relevant Determination Date. The net asset values per Share varies over time as a result of different fees and expenses applicable to each Class and different initial inception dates, and different offering prices on the Initial Closing of such share class.

The Advisor, with the assistance of the Fund's administrator, prepares and the Board oversees the valuation of the Fund's assets in accordance with the valuation procedures approved by the Board (the "Valuation Procedures"). In the case of Investment Funds or other securities for which market quotations are not readily available, the Advisor oversees such valuations, which is reported to the Board on at least a quarterly basis.

The Valuation Procedures provide that the Fund values its investments in Investment Funds and direct private equity investments at fair value. The fair value of such investments as of each Determination Date ordinarily is the carrying amount (book value) of the Fund's interest in such investments as determined by reference to the most recent valuation provided by the relevant Investment Fund Manager as of or prior to the relevant Determination Date; provided that such values is adjusted for any other relevant information available at the time the Fund values its portfolio, if any, including capital activity and material events occurring between the reference dates of the Investment Fund Manager's valuations and the relevant Determination Date.

A meaningful input in the Fund's Valuation Procedures is the valuations provided by each Investment Fund. Generally, each Investment Fund is expected to value its investments at their market price if market quotations are readily available, with a discount in the case of restricted securities. In the absence of observable market prices, the Investment Fund values its investments using valuation methodologies applied on a consistent basis. For some investments little market activity may exist. The Investment Fund management's determination of fair value is then based on the best information available in the circumstances and may incorporate management's own assumptions and involves a significant degree of judgment, taking into consideration a combination of internal and external factors, including the appropriate risk adjustments for nonperformance and liquidity risks. Investments for which market prices are not observable include private investments in the equity of operating companies, real estate properties or certain debt positions.

The actual realized returns on an Investment Fund's unrealized investments depends on, among other factors, future operating results, the value of the assets and market conditions at the time of disposition, any related transaction costs and the timing and manner of sale, all of which may differ from the assumptions on which the Investment Fund's valuations are based.

In reviewing the valuations provided by Investment Fund Managers, the Valuation Procedures require the consideration of all relevant information reasonably available at the time the Fund values its portfolio. The Advisor will consider such information, and may conclude in certain circumstances that the information provided by the Investment Fund Manager does not represent the fair value of a particular Investment Fund or direct private equity investment. In accordance with the Valuation Procedures, the Advisor will consider whether it is appropriate, in light of all relevant circumstances, to value such interests based on the net asset value reported by the relevant Investment Fund Manager, or whether to adjust such value to reflect a premium or discount to such net asset value. Any such decision will be made in good faith, and subject to the review and supervision of the Board.

For example, Investment Fund Managers may value investments in Portfolio Companies at cost. The Valuation Procedures provide that, where cost is determined to best approximate the fair value of the particular security under consideration, the Advisor may approve such valuations. In other cases, the Advisor may be aware of sales of similar securities to third parties at materially different prices, or of other circumstances indicating that cost may not approximate fair value (which could include situations where there are no sales to third parties). In such cases, the Fund's investment is revalued in a manner that the Advisor, in accordance with the Valuation Procedures, determines in good faith best approximates market value. The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Valuation Procedures are fair to the Fund and consistent with applicable regulatory guidelines.

Standards For Fair Value Determinations. As a general principle, the fair value of a security is the amount that the Fund might reasonably expect to realize upon its current sale. The Fund has adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ("ASC 820"). In accordance with ASC 820, fair value is defined as the price that the Fund would receive upon selling an investment in a timely transaction to an independent buyer in the principal or most advantageous market of the investment. ASC 820 establishes a three-tier hierarchy to maximize the use of observable market data and minimize the use of unobservable inputs and to establish classification of fair value measurements for disclosure purposes. Inputs refer broadly to the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk, for example, the risk inherent in a particular valuation technique used to measure fair value including such a pricing model and/or the risk inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. Inputs may be observable or unobservable. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, developed based on the best information available under the circumstances.

Various inputs are used in determining the value of each of the Fund's investments relating to ASC 820. These inputs are summarized in the three broad levels listed below.

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical securities.

Level 2 – other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices for similar securities, interest rates, prepayment speeds, credit risk, etc.).

In determining fair value, the Advisor takes into account the relevant factors and surrounding circumstances, which may include: (i) the nature and pricing history (if any) of the security; (ii) whether any dealer quotations for the security are available; (iii) possible valuation methodologies that could be used to determine the fair value of the security; (iv) the recommendation of a portfolio manager of the Fund with respect to the valuation of the security; (v) whether the same or similar securities are held by other funds managed by the Advisor or other funds and the method used to price the security in those funds; (vi) the extent to which the fair value to be determined for the security will result from the use of data or formulae produced by independent third parties and (vii) the liquidity or illiquidity of the market for the security.

Investments in private investment companies are categorized in Level 2 or 3 of the fair value hierarchy. In determining the level, the Fund considers the length of time until the investment is redeemable, including notice and lock-up periods or any other restriction on the disposition of the investment. The Fund also considers the nature of the portfolios of the underlying private investment companies and their ability to liquidate their underlying investments. If the Fund has the ability to redeem its investment at the reported net asset valuation as of the measurement date, the investment is generally categorized in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. If the Fund does not know when it will have the ability to redeem the investment or it does not have the ability to redeem its investment in the near term, the investment is categorized in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. In addition, investments that are not valued using the practical expedient are categorized in Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Notwithstanding the above, Investment Fund Managers may adopt a variety of valuation bases and provide differing levels of information concerning Investment Funds and direct private equity investments, and there will generally be no liquid markets for such investments. Consequently, there are inherent difficulties in determining the fair value that cannot be eliminated. Neither the Board nor the Advisor will be able to confirm independently the accuracy of valuations provided by any Investment Fund Managers (which are generally unaudited).

To the extent the Fund holds securities or other instruments that are not investments in Investment Funds or direct private equity investments, the Fund, as applicable, will generally value such assets as described below. Securities traded on one or more of the U.S. national securities exchanges, the Nasdaq Stock Market or any foreign stock exchange will be valued at the last sale price or the official closing price on the exchange or system where such securities are principally traded for the business day as of the relevant Determination Date. If no sale or official closing price of particular securities are reported on a particular day, the securities will be valued at the closing bid price for securities held long, or the closing ask price for securities held short, or if a closing bid or ask price, as applicable, is not available, at either the exchange or system-defined closing price on the exchange or system in which such securities are principally traded. Over-the-counter securities not quoted on the Nasdaq Stock Market will be valued at the last sale price on the relevant Determination Date or, if no sale occurs, at the last bid price, in the case of securities held long, or the last ask price, in the case of securities held short, at the time net asset value is determined. Equity securities for which no prices are obtained under the foregoing procedures, including those for which a pricing service supplies no exchange quotation or a quotation that is believed by the Advisor not to reflect the market value, will be valued at the bid price, in the case of securities held long, or the ask price, in the case of securities held short, supplied by one or more dealers making a market in those securities or one or more brokers, in accordance with the Valuation Procedures.

Fixed-income securities with a remaining maturity of 60 days or more for which accurate market quotations are readily available are normally be valued according to dealer-supplied bid quotations or bid quotations from a recognized pricing service. Fixed-income securities for which market quotations are not readily available or are believed by the Advisor not to reflect market value are valued based upon broker-supplied quotations in accordance with the Valuation Procedures, provided that if such quotations are unavailable or are believed by the Advisor not to reflect market value, such fixed-income securities will be valued at fair value in accordance with the Valuation Procedures, which may include the utilization of valuation models that take into account spread and daily yield changes on government securities in the appropriate market (e.g., matrix pricing). High quality investment grade debt securities (e.g., treasuries, commercial paper, etc.) with a remaining maturity of 60 days or less are valued by the Advisor at amortized cost, which the Board has determined to approximate fair value. All other instruments held by the Fund are valued in accordance with the Valuation Procedures.

If no price is obtained for a security in accordance with the foregoing, because either an external price is not readily available or such external price is believed by the Advisor not to reflect the market value, the Advisor will make a determination in good faith of the fair value of the security in accordance with the Valuation Procedures. In general, fair value represents a good faith approximation of the current value of an asset and will be used when there is no public market or possibly no market at all for the asset. The fair values of one or more assets may not be the prices at which those assets are ultimately sold and the differences may be significant.

Assets and liabilities initially expressed in foreign currencies are converted into U.S. dollars using foreign exchange rates provided by a recognized pricing service.

The Advisor and its affiliates act as investment Advisors to other clients that may invest in securities for which no public market price exists. Valuation determinations by the Advisor or its affiliates for other clients may result in different values than those ascribed to the same security owned by the Fund. Consequently, the fees charged to the Fund may be different than those charged to other clients, since the method of calculating the fees takes the value of all assets, including assets carried at different valuations, into consideration.

Expenses of the Fund, including the Management Fee, are accrued on a monthly basis on the Determination Date and taken into account for the purpose of determining the Fund's net asset value.

Prospective investors should be aware that situations involving uncertainties as to the value of portfolio positions could have an adverse effect on the Fund's net asset value and the Fund if the judgments of the Board, the Advisor, or the Investment Fund Managers regarding appropriate valuations should prove incorrect. Also, Investment Fund Managers generally only provide determinations of the net asset value of Investment Funds periodically, and it may be difficult to determine the Fund's net asset value more frequently.

REPURCHASES OF SHARES AND TRANSFERS

No Right of Redemption or Repurchase

No Investor or other person holding any Fund Shares acquired from an Investor has the right to require the Fund to redeem or repurchase any Shares. No public market for the Shares exists, and none is expected to develop in the future. As a result, Investors may not be able to liquidate their investment other than through repurchases of Shares by the Fund, as described below.

Repurchases of Shares

The Fund may, from time to time, provide liquidity to Investors by offering to repurchase Shares pursuant to written tenders by Investors. Repurchases will be made at such times, in such amounts and on such terms as may be determined by the Board, in its sole discretion. Investors tendering Shares for repurchase must do so by a date specified in the notice describing the terms of the repurchase offer, which generally is approximately 75 days prior to the date that the Shares to be repurchased are valued by the Fund. Investors that elect to tender their Shares in the Fund will not know the price at which such Shares will be repurchased until such valuation date. In no case will the Fund make full cash payment for Shares later than 65 days after the last day that Shares may be tendered pursuant to the repurchase offer, except that full payment of a 5% Post-Audit Payment may be made no later than 5 business days after completion of the annual audit.

In determining whether the Fund should offer to repurchase Shares, the Board considers the recommendations of the Advisor as to the timing of such an offer, as well as a variety of operational, business and economic factors. The Advisor anticipates that, generally, the Advisor will recommend to the Board that the Fund offer to repurchase Shares from Investors on a quarterly basis, with such repurchases to occur as of each March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 (or, if any such date is not a business day, on the immediately preceding business day) (each such date is referred to as a "Tender Valuation Date"). The Advisor expects that, generally, it will recommend to the Board that each repurchase offer made during the calendar quarters (i.e., quarters ending March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31) should apply to no more than 5% of the net assets of the Fund. Each repurchase offer generally commences approximately 100 days prior to the applicable Tender Valuation Date.

In determining whether to accept a recommendation to conduct a repurchase offer at any such time, the Board considers the following factors, among others:

- whether any Investors have requested to tender Shares to the Fund;
- the liquidity of the Fund's assets (including fees and costs associated with disposing of the Fund's interests in underlying Investment Funds);
- the investment plans and working capital and reserve requirements of the Fund;

- the relative economies of scale of the tenders with respect to the size of the Fund;
- the history of the Fund in repurchasing Shares;
- the availability of information as to the value of the Fund's investments in underlying Investment Funds;
- the existing conditions of the securities markets and the economy generally, as well as political, national or international developments or current affairs;
- any anticipated tax consequences to the Fund of any proposed repurchases of Shares; and
- the recommendations of the Advisor.

The Fund repurchases Shares from Investors pursuant to written tenders on terms and conditions that the Board determines to be fair to the Fund and to all Investors. When the Board determines that the Fund will repurchase Shares, notice will be provided to Investors describing the terms of the offer, containing information Investors should consider in deciding whether to participate in the repurchase opportunity and containing information on how to participate. Investors deciding whether to tender their Shares during the period that a repurchase offer is open may obtain the Fund's net asset value per share by contacting the Advisor during the period.

Subject to applicable law, the Agreement and Declaration of Trust provides that after the first two full years of operations, if an Investor submits to the Fund a written request to commence a repurchase offer and the Fund does not commence a repurchase offer of at least 5% of the net assets of the Fund within a period of two years from the date of such written request, the Fund will thereafter offer to all then Investors the opportunity to remain in the Fund or elect to contribute their Shares to a special purpose vehicle (an "SPV") that will seek to liquidate at least 90% of its assets within three full fiscal years of such contribution. Any such SPV will not bear any investment advisory or investment management fees after the three fiscal year period.

If a repurchase offer is oversubscribed by Investors who tender Shares, the Fund may extend the repurchase offer, repurchase a pro rata portion of the Shares tendered, or take any other action permitted by applicable law. In addition, the Fund may repurchase Shares of Investors if, among other reasons, the Board determines that such repurchase would be in the interests of the Fund.

Repurchases are effective after receipt and acceptance by the Fund of eligible written tenders of Shares from Investors by the applicable repurchase offer deadline.

The Fund does not impose any charges in connection with repurchases of Shares unless the Share is held for less than one year. A 2% early repurchase fee (the "Early Repurchase Fee") is charged by the Fund with respect to any repurchase of Shares from an Investor at any time prior to the day immediately preceding the one-year anniversary of the Investor's purchase of the Shares. The Early Repurchase Fee is retained by the Fund and will be for the benefit of the Fund's remaining Investors. Shares tendered for repurchase are treated as having been repurchased on a "first in —first out" basis. Shares are repurchased by the Fund after the Management Fee has been deducted from the Fund's assets as of the end of the quarter in which the repurchase occurs (i.e., the accrued Management Fee for the quarter in which Shares are to be repurchased is deducted before effecting the repurchase).

In light of liquidity constraints associated with the Fund's investments in Investment Funds, each repurchase offer will generally commences approximately 100 days prior to the applicable Tender Valuation Date. Tenders are revocable upon written notice to the Fund at any time up to prior to the Tender Valuation Date (such deadline for revocation being the "Expiration Date"). If a repurchase offer is extended, the Expiration Date will be extended accordingly.

If the Fund's repurchase procedures must be revised in order to comply with regulatory requirements, the Board will adopt modified procedures reasonably designed to provide Investors substantially the same liquidity for Shares as would be available under the procedures described above. The Fund may not be able to guarantee liquidity to Investors through repurchase offers, as the Fund may be limited in its ability to liquidate its holdings in Investment Funds to meet repurchase requests. Repurchase offers principally are funded by cash and cash equivalents, as well as by the sale of certain liquid securities. Accordingly, the Fund may need to suspend or postpone repurchase offers if it is required to dispose of interests in Investment Funds and is not able to do so in a timely manner.

As described above, in certain circumstances the Board may determine not to conduct a repurchase offer, or to conduct a repurchase offer of less than 5% of the Fund's net assets. In particular, during periods of financial market stress, the Board may determine that some or all of the Fund's investments cannot be liquidated at their fair value, making a determination not to conduct repurchase offers more likely.

The Fund may be required to liquidate portfolio holdings earlier than the Advisor would have desired in order to meet the repurchase requests. Such necessary liquidations may potentially result in losses to the Fund, and may increase the Fund's investment related expenses as a result of higher portfolio turnover rates. The Advisor intends to take measures, subject to policies as may be established by the Board, to attempt to avoid or minimize potential losses and expenses resulting from the repurchase of Shares. If the Fund borrows to finance repurchases, interest on that borrowing will negatively affect investors who do not tender their Shares in a repurchase offer by increasing the Fund's expenses and reducing any net investment income.

An Investor tendering for repurchase only a portion of its Shares must maintain an investment balance of at least his investment minimum after the repurchase is effected. If an Investor tenders an amount that would cause the Investor's investment balance to fall below the required minimum, the Fund reserves the right to reduce the amount to be repurchased from the Investor so that the required minimum balance is maintained. The Fund may also repurchase all of the Investor's Shares in the Fund.

The Fund may repurchase Shares without consent or other action by the Investor or other person if the Board determines that:

- the Shares have been transferred or have vested in any person other than by operation of law (i.e., the result of the death, bankruptcy, insolvency, adjudicated incompetence or dissolution of the Investor);
- ownership of Shares by an Investor or other person is likely to cause the Fund to be in violation of, require registration of any Shares under, or subject the Fund to additional registration or regulation under, the securities, commodities or other laws of the United States or any other relevant jurisdiction;
- continued ownership of Shares by an Investor may be harmful or injurious to the business or reputation of the Fund, or may subject the Fund or any Investor to an undue risk of adverse tax or other fiscal or regulatory consequences;
- any of the representations and warranties made by an Investor or other person in connection with the acquisition of Shares was not true when made or has ceased to be true;
- with respect to an Investor subject to special laws or regulations, the Investor is likely to be subject to additional regulatory or compliance requirements under these special laws or regulations by virtue of continuing to hold any Shares;
- the investment balance of the Investor falls below the required minimum; or
- it would be in the interest of the Fund for the Fund to repurchase the Shares.

In the event that the Advisor or any of its affiliates holds Shares in the capacity of an Investor, the Shares may be tendered for repurchase in connection with any repurchase offer made by the Fund.

Transfers of Shares

Shares may be transferred or pledged only (i) by operation of law pursuant to the death, bankruptcy, insolvency, adjudicated incompetence or dissolution of an Investor or (ii) with the written consent of the Fund, which may be withheld in its sole and absolute discretion and is expected to be granted, if at all, only in limited circumstances. Notice to the Fund of any proposed disposition must include evidence satisfactory to the Fund that the proposed transferee meets any requirements imposed by the Fund with respect to Investor eligibility and suitability, including the requirement that any Investor at the time of purchase be an Eligible Investor, and must be accompanied by a properly completed Investor Application.

Each Investor and transferee is required to pay all expenses, including attorneys' and accountants' fees, incurred by the Fund in connection with such disposition. If such a transferee does not meet the Investor eligibility requirements, the Fund reserves the right to repurchase the Shares transferred.

By purchasing Shares of the Fund, each Investor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Fund, the Trustees, the Advisor, each other Investor and any affiliate of the foregoing against all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses, including legal or other expenses incurred in investigating or defending against any such losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses or any judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement, joint or several, to which such persons may become subject by reason of or arising from any disposition made by such Investor in violation of these provisions or any misrepresentation made by such Investor in connection with any such transfer.

APPLICATION FOR INVESTMENT

Purchase Terms

The Fund may accept initial purchases of Shares as of the Initial Closing for each Share Class and initial or additional purchases on each subsequent Closing Date (generally the first business day of each calendar month thereafter). Each prospective Investor is required to complete an Investor Application. If available funds and the application are not received at least five (5) business days prior to the applicable Closing Date, the order will not be accepted at such Closing Date. The Fund may reject any Investor Application in its sole discretion. The Fund is not obligated to sell any Shares to Sub-Placement Agents, or to any brokers or dealers. The Fund does not issue the Shares purchased (and an investor does not become an Investor with respect to such Shares) until the applicable Closing Date, i.e., the first business day of the relevant calendar month. Consequently, purchase proceeds do not represent capital of the Fund, and do not become assets of the Fund, until such date.

Any amounts received in advance of initial or additional purchases of Shares are placed in a non-interest-bearing escrow account prior to the amounts being invested in the Fund, in accordance with Rule 15c2-4 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The purchase amount will be released from the escrow account once the Investor's order is accepted. While any applicable placement fee may be released from escrow prior the relevant Closing Date, such amounts will be recovered if an Investor's order is not accepted by the Fund. An Investor Application must be received by the Advisor and good funds for the full subscription amount delivered to the Fund at least five (5) business days prior to the relevant Closing Date. If an Investor Application is not delivered in proper form in a timely manner and accepted by the Fund by the Closing Date, the subscription will not be accepted at such Closing Date and any funds will be held in the escrow account by the Fund's escrow agent until the next Closing Date. The Fund reserves the right to reject any purchase of Shares in certain circumstances (including, without limitation, when the Fund has reason to believe that such purchase would be unlawful). Unless otherwise required by applicable law, any amount received in advance of a purchase ultimately rejected by the Fund will be returned to the prospective Investor.

The Initial Closing for subscriptions of Class I Shares was held on May 13, 2016, the Initial Closing for subscriptions of Class A Shares was held on July 1, 2016, the Initial Closing for subscriptions of Class II Shares was held on April 3, 2017, and the Initial Closing for Class L Shares was July 2, 2018.

Investors in Class A and Class L Shares are charged a placement fee of 3.50% (maximum) on the amount they invest in Class A Shares, and 2.25% of the amount they invest in Class L Shares. Any placement fee reduces the amount of a Class A or Class L Shareholder's investment in the Fund. The placement fee is paid to NLD in connection with sales of shares. With respect to Class A Shares, an Investor's financial intermediary may, in its discretion, waive all or a portion of the placement fee for certain Investors. Whether a placement fee waiver is available for a retirement plan or charitable account depends upon the policies and procedures of the Investor's financial intermediary. Please consult your financial Advisor for further information. With respect to Class A, and Class L Shares, NLD will in turn re-allow a portion of such fee to Sub-Placement Agents who have signed a selling agreement with NLD in accordance with the schedule set forth in this Prospectus and the applicable selling agreement. All Investors in Class A, Class II, and Class L Shares remain subject to eligibility requirements set forth in this Prospectus. Investors may purchase Class I or Class II Shares in conjunction with certain "wrap" fee, asset allocation or other managed asset programs available from their financial advisor or financial intermediary. Investors may also be permitted to purchase Class I Shares directly from the Fund in certain limited circumstances in the sole discretion of the Advisor, based on consideration of various factors, including the Investor's overall relationship with the Advisor, the Investor's holdings in other funds affiliated with the Advisor and such other matters as the Advisor may consider relevant at the time. Class I and Class II Shares will not be charged a placement fee.

Generally, the stated minimum initial investment in the Fund is \$35,000 for Class A Shares, \$50,000 for Class I Shares, and \$25,000 for Class II Shares and Class L Shares, which minimums may be reduced by the Fund in the sole discretion of the Advisor based on consideration of various factors, including the Investor's or his financial advisor's overall relationship with the Advisor, the Investor's holdings in other funds affiliated with the Advisor, and such other matters as the Advisor may consider relevant at the time. From time to time, the Fund may sell additional Shares to Eligible Investors. Existing Investors seeking to purchase additional shares are required to qualify as an Eligible Investor at the time of such additional purchase, except with respect to reinvested dividends. The minimum additional investment in the Fund is \$10,000 for Class A and Class I Shares, and \$5,000 for Class II Shares and Class L Shares. To help the government fight terrorism and money laundering activities, federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies each Investor. As a result, each Investor needs to provide the name, address, date of birth, and other identifying information for the Investor. If an Investor's identity cannot be verified, the Investor may be restricted from conducting additional transactions and/or have their investment liquidated. In addition, any other action required by law will be taken.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters regarding the validity of the shares offered hereby have been passed upon by Thompson Hine LLP, 312 Walnut Street, Suite 2000, Cincinnati, OH 45202.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

RSM US LLP is the independent registered public accounting firm for the Fund and audits the Fund's consolidated financial statements. RSM US LLP is located at 555 Seventeenth Street, Suite 1200, Denver, CO 80202.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Reports to Shareholders

The Fund will send to its shareholders unaudited semi-annual and audited annual reports, including a list of investments held.

Householding

In an effort to decrease costs, the Fund intends to reduce the number of duplicate annual and semi-annual reports by sending only one copy of each to those addresses shared by two or more accounts and to shareholders reasonably believed to be from the same family or household. Once implemented, a shareholder must call 1-855-897-5390 to discontinue householding and request individual copies of these documents. Once the Fund receives notice to stop householding, individual copies will be sent beginning thirty days after receiving your request. This policy does not apply to account statements.

Liability of Shareholders

Shareholders in the Fund will be shareholders of a Delaware statutory trust as provided under Delaware law. Under Delaware law and the Agreement and Declaration of Trust, an Investor will not be liable for the debts, obligations or liabilities of the Fund solely by reason of being a shareholder, except that the Investor may be obligated to repay any funds wrongfully distributed to the shareholder.

Duty of Care of the Board and the Adviser

The Agreement and Declaration of Trust provides that none of the Trustees, officers or the Adviser (including certain of the Adviser's affiliates, among others) shall be liable to the Fund or any of the shareholders for any loss or damage occasioned by any act or omission in the performance of their respective services as such in the absence of willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of their duties. The Agreement and Declaration of Trust also contains provisions for the indemnification, to the extent permitted by law, of the Trustees and officers by the Fund, but not by the shareholders individually, against any liability and expense to which any of them may be liable which arises in connection with the performance of their activities on behalf of the Fund. None of these persons will be personally liable to any shareholder for contributions by such shareholder to the capital of the Fund or by reason of any change in the U.S. federal or state income tax laws applicable to the Fund or its shareholders. The rights of indemnification and exculpation provided under the Agreement and Declaration of Trust do not provide for indemnification of a Trustee for any liability, including liability under U.S. federal securities laws which, under certain circumstances, impose liability even on persons that act in good faith, to the extent, but only to the extent, that such indemnification would be in violation of applicable law.

Amendment of the Agreement and Declaration of Trust

The Agreement and Declaration of Trust may be amended with the approval of (i) the Board, including a majority of the Independent Trustees, if required by the 1940 Act, or (ii) if required, the approval of the shareholders by such vote as is required by the 1940 Act.

Term, Dissolution and Liquidation

Unless dissolved as provided in the Agreement and Declaration of Trust, the Fund shall have perpetual existence. The Fund may be dissolved at any time by vote of a majority of the shares of the Fund entitled to vote or by the Board by written notice to the Shareholders. Upon dissolution of the Fund, the Board shall pay or make reasonable provision to pay all claims and obligations of the Fund, including all contingent, conditional or unmatured claims and obligations known to the Fund, and all claims and obligations which are known to the Fund but for which the identity of the claimant is unknown. If there are sufficient assets held, such claims and obligations shall be paid in full and any such provisions for payment shall be made in full. If there are insufficient assets held with respect to the Fund, such claims and obligations shall be paid or provided for according to their

priority and, among claims and obligations of equal priority, ratably to the extent of assets available therefor. Any remaining assets (including without limitation, cash, securities or any combination thereof) held with respect to the Fund shall be distributed to the Shareholders of, ratably according to the number of Shares held by the several Shareholders on the record date for such dissolution distribution.

Other Information

The Prospectus and the SAI do not contain all of the information set forth in the Registration Statement that the Fund has filed with the SEC (file no.: 811-23000). The complete Registration Statement may be obtained from the SEC at www.sec.gov. See the cover page of this Prospectus for information about how to obtain a paper copy of the Registration Statement or SAI without charge.

	PRIVACY	NOTICE				
FACTS	WHAT DOES PRINCETON EVEREST FUND DO WITH YOUR PERSONAL INFORMATION?					
Why?		sonal information. Federal law gives consumers the right to limit us to tell you how we collect, share, and protect your personal stand what we do.				
What?	 information can include: Social Security number Assets Retirement Assets Transaction History Checking Account Information 	hare depend on the product or service you have with us. This • Purchase History • Account Balances • Account Transactions • Wire Transfer Instructions				
	When you are <i>no longer</i> our customer, we continue to	share your information as described in this notice.				
How?		rsonal information to run their everyday business. In the section thare their customers' personal information; the reasons Princeton				

Reasons we can share your personal information	Does Princeton Everest Fund share?	Can you limit This sharing?
For our everyday business purposes — such as to process your transactions, maintain your account(s), respond to court orders and legal investigations, or report to credit bureaus	Yes	No
For our marketing purposes — to offer our products and services to you	No	We don't share
For joint marketing with other financial companies	No	We don't share
For our affiliates' everyday business purposes — information about your transactions and experiences	No	We don't share
For our affiliates' everyday business purposes — information about your creditworthiness	No	We don't share
For non-affiliates to market to you	No	We don't share

Private Everest Fund chooses to share; and whether you can limit this sharing.

C	Questions?	Call 631-490-4300

Who we are

information?

Who is providing this notice?	Princeton Everest Fund
What we do	
How does Princeton Everest	To protect your personal information from unauthorized access and use, we use security measures that comply with federal law. These measures include computer safeguards and secured files and

How does Princeton Everest Fund collect my Personal information?

We collect your personal information, for example, when you

any misuse of your nonpublic personal information.

Open an account

buildings.

- Provide account information
- Give us your contact information
- Make deposits or withdrawals from your account
- Make a wire transfer
- Tell us where to send the money
- Tells us who receives the money
- Show your government-issued ID
- Show your driver's license

We also collect your personal information from other companies.

Why can't I limit all sharing?

Federal law gives you the right to limit only

Sharing for affiliates' everyday business purposes — information about your creditworthiness

Our service providers are held accountable for adhering to strict policies and procedures to prevent

- Affiliates from using your information to market to you
- Sharing for non-affiliates to market to you

State laws and individual companies may give you additional rights to limit sharing.

Definitions

Affiliates	Companies related by common ownership or control. They can be financial and nonfinancial companies. • Princeton Everest Fund does not share with our affiliates.
Non-affiliates	Companies not related by common ownership or control. They can be financial and nonfinancial companies • Princeton Everest Fund does not share with non-affiliates so they can market to you.
Joint marketing	A formal agreement between nonaffiliated financial companies that together market financial products or services to you. • Princeton Everest Fund doesn't jointly market.

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

July 31, 2023

PRINCETON EVEREST FUND

(formerly known as "Princeton Private Investments Access Fund")
Principal Executive Offices
8500 Normandale Lake Blvd, Suite 1900
Minneapolis, MN 55437
1-855-897-5390

This Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") is not a prospectus. This SAI should be read in conjunction with the prospectus of Princeton Everest Fund (the "Fund"), dated July 31, 2023 (the "Prospectus"), as it may be supplemented from time to time. The Prospectus is hereby incorporated by reference into this SAI (legally made a part of this SAI). Capitalized terms used but not defined in this SAI have the meanings given to them in the Prospectus. This SAI does not include all information that a prospective investor should consider before purchasing the shares of the Fund.

You should obtain and read the Prospectus and any related Prospectus supplement prior to purchasing any of the Fund's securities. A copy of the Prospectus may be obtained without charge by calling the Fund toll-free at 1-855-897-5390 or by visiting the Fund's website at www.princetoneverestfund.com. Information on the website is not incorporated herein by reference. You may obtain information about the Fund on a website maintained by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") at www.sec.gov that contains the Fund's SAI, material incorporated by reference, and other information regarding the Fund. Copies of these filings may be obtained, after paying a duplicating fee, by electronic request at the following E-mail address: publicinfo@sec.gov.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
GENERAL INFORMATION AND HISTORY	1
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE FUND'S INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE, POLICIES, INVESTMENT STRATEGIES AND RISKS	1
MANAGEMENT OF THE FUND	3
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST	11
PROXY VOTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	13
FEES AND EXPENSES	13
CERTAIN TAX CONSIDERATIONS	16
ERISA CONSIDERATIONS	27
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	29
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	30
APPENDIX A	A-1

GENERAL INFORMATION AND HISTORY

The Fund is a continuously offered, non-diversified, closed-end management investment company. The Fund, which is registered under the 1940 Act as a closed-end, non-diversified, management investment company, was organized as a Delaware statutory trust on September 18, 2014. The Fund's principal office is located at 8500 Normandale Lake Blvd, Suite 1900, Minneapolis, MN 55437, and its telephone number is (855) 897-5390. The investment objectives and principal investment strategies of the Fund, as well as the principal risks associated with the Fund's investment strategies, are set forth in the Prospectus. Certain additional investment information is set forth below. The Fund may issue an unlimited number of shares of beneficial interest. All shares of the Fund have equal rights and privileges. Each share of the Fund is entitled to one vote on all matters as to which shares are entitled to vote. In addition, each share of the Fund is entitled to participate, on a class-specific basis, equally with other shares (i) in dividends and distributions declared by the Fund and (ii) on liquidation to its proportionate share of the assets remaining after satisfaction of outstanding liabilities. Shares of the Fund are fully paid and non-assessable when issued and have no pre-emptive, conversion or exchange rights. Fractional shares have proportionately the same rights, including voting rights, as are provided for a full share.

Pursuant to the Prospectus, the Fund is offering four classes of shares of beneficial interest ("Shares"), designated as "Class A Shares", "Class I Shares" and "Class L Shares" to investors eligible to invest in the Fund. On April 22, 2015, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") granted the Fund an exemptive order to permit the Fund to offer multiple classes of Shares. Shares are offered at their net asset values plus, if applicable, the upfront sales load with respect to any such Share class. While the Fund presently offers four classes of Shares, it may offer additional classes of Shares as well in the future. Each class of Shares has certain differing characteristics, particularly in terms of the sales charges that Investors in that class may bear, and the distribution fees and/or shareholder servicing fees that each class may be charged. The net asset values for the classes of Shares are calculated separately based on the fees and expenses applicable to each class of Shares. It is expected that the net asset values of Shares will vary over time as a result of the differing fees and expenses applicable to each class of Shares, different inception dates and different offering prices of each respective share class on its Initial Closing.

Princeton Fund Advisors, LLC (the "Advisor") serves as the Fund's investment adviser.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE FUND'S INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE, POLICIES, INVESTMENT STRATEGIES AND RISKS

Investment Objective

The Fund's investment objective is to seek long-term capital appreciation.

Investment Restrictions

The Fund's stated fundamental policies, which may only be changed by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding Shares of the Fund are listed below. For the purposes of this Prospectus, "majority of the outstanding Shares of the Fund" means the vote, at an annual or special meeting of Investors, duly called, (a) of 67% or more of the Shares present at such meeting, if the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding Shares are present or represented by proxy; or (b) of more than 50% of the outstanding Shares of the Fund, whichever is less. The Fund:

- 1. May not borrow money, except to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act (which currently limits borrowing to no more than 33-1/3% of the value of the Fund's total assets, including the value of the assets purchased with the proceeds of its indebtedness).
- 2. May not issue senior securities, except to the extent permitted by Section 18 of the 1940 Act (which currently limits the issuance of a class of senior securities that is indebtedness to no more than 33-1/3% of the value of the Fund's total assets or, if the class of senior security is stock, to no more than 50% of the value of the Fund's total assets).
- 3. May not underwrite securities of other issuers, except insofar as the Fund may be deemed an underwriter under the Securities Act in connection with the disposition of its portfolio securities.

- 4. May not make loans, except that the Fund may: (i) invest in all or a portion of an issue of publicly issued or privately placed bonds, debentures, notes, other debt or fixed income securities and loan participation interests for investment purposes; (ii) purchase money market securities and enter into repurchase agreements; and (iii) lend its portfolio securities in an amount not exceeding one-third of the value of the Fund's total assets.
- 5. May purchase, hold or deal in real estate, and it may invest in securities or other instruments that are secured by real estate, or securities of companies that invest or deal in real estate or interests in real estate or are engaged in a real estate business.
- 6. May invest in commodities or commodity contracts, and it may purchase and sell foreign currency, options, futures and forward contracts, including those related to indexes, and options on indexes and may invest in commodity pools and other entities that purchase and sell commodities and commodity contracts.
- 7. May not concentrate in a particular industry. Concentration is deemed to occur if the Fund were to invest more than 25% of the value of its total assets in the securities of issuers in a particular industry or group of industries, except that U.S. Government securities may be purchased without limitation. When calculating this 25% policy, the Fund will look through the Investment Funds or underlying registered investment companies and include the portfolio investment held by the underlying investment in the calculation where the identity of the underlying portfolio securities can be reasonably determined.

THE FOLLOWING ARE ADDITIONAL INVESTMENT LIMITATIONS OF THE FUND. THE FOLLOWING RESTRICTIONS ARE DESIGNATED AS NON-FUNDAMENTAL AND MAY BE CHANGED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE TRUST WITHOUT THE APPROVAL OF SHAREHOLDERS.

- 1. <u>Pledging</u>. The Fund will not mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or in any manner transfer, as security for indebtedness, any assets of the Fund except as may be necessary in connection with borrowings described in the fundamental limitation (1) above. Margin deposits, security interests, liens and collateral arrangements with respect to transactions involving options, futures contracts, short sales and other permitted investments and techniques are not deemed to be a mortgage, pledge or hypothecation of assets for purposes of this limitation.
- 2. <u>Margin Purchases</u>. The Fund will not purchase securities or evidences of interest thereon on "margin." This limitation is not applicable to short-term credit obtained by a Fund for the clearance of purchases and sales or redemption of securities, or to arrangements with respect to transactions involving options, futures contracts, short sales and other permitted investment techniques.

With respect to these investment restrictions, other than as respects borrowing, and other policies described in this Prospectus, if a percentage restriction is adhered to at the time of an investment or transaction, a later change in percentage resulting from a change in the values of investments or the value of the Fund's total assets, unless otherwise stated, will not constitute a violation of such restriction or policy.

The frequency and amount of portfolio purchases and sales (known as the "portfolio turnover rate") may vary (potentially greatly) from year to year and will not be a limiting factor when Advisor deems portfolio changes appropriate. The Fund may engage in short-term trading strategies, and securities may be sold without regard to the length of time held when, in the opinion of the Advisor, investment considerations warrant such action. These policies may have the effect of increasing the annual rate of portfolio turnover of the Fund. Higher rates of portfolio turnover may result in higher transaction costs and may generate short-term capital gains taxable as ordinary income. If securities are not held for the applicable holding periods, dividends paid on them will not qualify for the advantageous federal tax rates.

MANAGEMENT OF THE FUND

The Board has overall responsibility to manage and control the business affairs of the Fund, including the complete and exclusive authority to oversee and to establish policies regarding the management, conduct and operation of the Fund's business. The Board exercises the same powers, authority and responsibilities on behalf of the Fund as are customarily exercised by the board of directors of a registered investment company organized as a corporation.

Board's Oversight Role in Management

The Board's role in management of the Fund is oversight. As is the case with virtually all investment companies (as distinguished from operating companies), service providers to the Fund, primarily the Advisor, have responsibility for the day-to-day management of the Fund, which includes responsibility for risk management (including management of investment performance and investment risk, valuation risk, issuer and counterparty credit risk, compliance risk and operational risk). As part of its oversight, the Board, acting at its scheduled meetings and between Board meetings, regularly interacts with and receives reports from senior personnel of service providers, including the Advisor's senior managerial and financial officers, the Fund's and the Advisor's Chief Compliance Officer and portfolio management personnel. The Board's Audit Committee, which consists of all of the Fund's Trustees who are not "interested persons" (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the Fund and as such are not affiliated with the Advisor (the "Independent Trustees"), meets during its scheduled meetings, and, as appropriate, the chair of the Audit Committee maintains contact with the independent registered public accounting firm and Principal Accounting Officer of the Fund. The Board also receives periodic presentations from senior personnel of the Advisor regarding risk management generally, as well as information regarding specific operational, compliance or investment areas, such as business continuity, valuation and investment research. The Board has adopted policies and procedures designed to address certain risks to the Fund. In addition, the Advisor and other service providers to the Fund have adopted a variety of policies, procedures and controls designed to address particular risks to the Fund. Different processes, procedures and controls are employed with respect to different types of risks. However, it is not possible to eliminate all of the risks applicable to the Fund. The Board also receives reports from counsel to the Fund or the Board's own independent legal counsel regarding regulatory compliance and governance matters. The Board's oversight role does not make the Board a guarantor of the Fund's investments or activities.

Board Composition and Leadership Structure

The 1940 Act requires that at least 40% of the Board's members be Independent Trustees. To rely on certain exemptive rules under the 1940 Act, a majority of the Board's members must be Independent Trustees, and for certain important matters, such as the approval of investment advisory agreements or transactions with affiliates, the 1940 Act or the rules thereunder require the approval of a majority of the Independent Trustees. Currently, two of the three Board members are Independent Trustees. The Chairman of the Board, John L. Sabre, is an interested person because of his affiliation with the Advisor. The appointment of John L. Sabre as Chairman reflects the Board's belief that his experience, familiarity with the day-to-day operations and access to individuals with responsibility for the Fund's management and operations provides the Board with insight into the Fund's business and activities. His access to administrative support also facilitates the efficient development of meeting agendas that address the Fund's business, legal and other needs and the orderly conduct of Board meetings. In addition, the Chairman has a personal and professional stake in the quality and continuity of services provided to the Fund.

The Board, including the two Independent Trustees, interact directly with senior management of the Advisor at scheduled meetings and between meetings as appropriate and an Independent Trustee chairs the Audit Committee. The Board has determined that its leadership structure, is appropriate in light of the specific characteristics and circumstances of the Fund, including, but not limited to: (i) the services that the Advisor provides to the Fund and potential conflicts of interest that could arise from this relationship, (ii) the extent to which the day-to-day operations of the Fund is conducted by Fund officers, respectively, and employees of the Advisor, (iii) the Board's oversight role in management of the Fund, and (iv) the Board's size and the cooperative working relationship among the Independent Trustees and among the entire Board.

Information About Each Board Member's Experience, Qualifications, Attributes or Skills

Members of the Board, together with information as to their positions with the Fund, principal occupations and other board memberships for the past five years, are shown below. Unless otherwise noted, the address for each individual is c/o Princeton Fund Advisors, LLC, 8500 Normandale Lake Blvd, Suite 1900, Minneapolis, MN 55437.

Name, Date of Birth, Address and Position(s) with Fund	Term of Office and Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years	Number of Portfolios in Fund Complex Overseen by Trustee	Other Directorships/ Trusteeships Held by Trustee Outside Fund Complex During Past 5 Years
	II	NDEPENDENT TRUSTEI	ES	
Jeffrey P. Greiner Born: 1958 Trustee and Chairman of the Audit Committee Term — Indefinite Length — Since September, 2014		Co-Founder and Managing Partner, Northern Pacific Group (since 2012). Senior Advisor, Norwest Equity Partners (2007-2012)	2	YMCA of the Greater Twin Cities (since 2000); Greater Twin Cities United Way (since 2009); Boy Scouts of America (since 2013); The Minnesota Orchestra (since 2002); The Cathedral Church of St. Mark (since 2008); Ellington Income Opportunities Fund (2018-present)
William Peichel Born: 1957 Trustee	Term — Indefinite Length — Since May, 2023	1	2	Ellington Income Opportunities Fund (2023- present)
		INTERESTED TRUSTEE		
John L. Sabre Born: 1957 Trustee, Chairman, and Principal Executive Officer	Term — Indefinite Length — Since September, 2014	Chairman and CEO, Mount Yale Capital Group, LLC (2003- present); Chairman and CEO Princeton Fund Advisors, LLC	2	Ellington Income Opportunities Fund (2018- present)
	OFFICE	R(S) WHO ARE NOT TR	HCTFFC	
Christopher E. Moran Born: 1979 Treasurer	Term — Indefinite Length — Since September, 2014	Chief Financial Officer, Mount Yale Capital Group, LLC (since 2007)	N/A	N/A
Chris Nelson Born: 1968 Secretary	Term — Indefinite Length — Since August, 2021	Senior Compliance Officer, Mount Yale Capital Group, LLC (2021-Present); Compliance Officer, TruChoice Financial Group, LLC (November 2010-February 2021)	N/A	N/A
Emile Molineaux Born: 1962 Chief Compliance Officer	Term — Indefinite Length — Since September, 2014	Senior Compliance Officer of Northern Lights Compliance Services, LLC (since 2011); General Counsel, CCO and Senior Vice President, Gemini Fund Services, LLC (2004 - June 2012); Secretary and CCO, Northern Lights Compliance	N/A	N/A

Services, LLC; (2003-	
2011).	

Additional information about each Board member follows (supplementing the information provided in the table above) that describes some of the specific experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that the Board member possesses which the Board believes has prepared them to be effective Board members. Each Board member believes that the significance of each Board member's experience, qualifications, attributes or skills is an individual matter (meaning that experience that is important for one Board member may not have the same value for another) and that these factors are best evaluated at the board level, with no single Board member, or particular factor, being indicative of board effectiveness. Each Board member believes that collectively the Board has balanced and diverse experience, skills, attributes and qualifications that allow the Board to operate effectively in governing the Fund and protecting the interests of Investors. Among the attributes common to all Board members is their ability to critically review, evaluate, question and discuss information provided to them, and to interact effectively with management, service providers and counsel, in order to exercise effective business judgment in the performance of their duties; each Board member believes that each member satisfies this standard. Experience relevant to having this ability may be achieved through a Board member's educational background; business, professional training or practice (e.g., accounting or securities), public service or academic positions; experience from service as a board member; and/or other life experiences. To assist them in evaluating matters under federal and state law, the Board is counseled separately by independent legal counsel, who is also counsel to the Fund and participates in the Board's meetings and interacts with the Advisor; counsel for the Board and the Fund counsel has significant experience advising funds and fund board members. The Board and any committees have the ability to engage other experts as appropriate. The Board evaluates its performance on an annual basis.

Jeffrey Peter Greiner has served as a Managing Partner and Co-Founder of Northern Pacific Group since 2012 where he focuses on growth equity investments in the Technology and Business Services Sectors. He previously served as Senior Advisor/Operating Partner of Norwest Equity Partners from 2007 to 2012, focusing on Technology, along with Business and Financial Services investments for the leading private equity/growth equity firm in the Upper Midwest. He was responsible for sourcing proprietary transactions and successfully driving portfolio company businesses development and growth including exits. Mr. Greiner has a Master of Business Administration from The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, and a Bachelor of Science, Economics from Southern Methodist University. Mr. Greiner is the Chair of the Audit Committee.

William J. Peichel is a Principal at DesignIntelligence and Managing Partner of DI Capital Advisors. These firms support the built environment industry with a suite of services ranging from strategy development to leadership transitions to merger and acquisition management. From 2018 to 2021 he served as an Executive Officer of Mount Yale Capital Group, LLC. He has held senior financial leadership positions in a number of industries including technology, consumer goods, medical services, and private equity. He is a highly experienced executive with a successful track record in both financial and operational roles. He started his career with Arthur Andersen and holds a B.A. from the University of St. Thomas.

John L. Sabre is a founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Advisor. He has served as a Portfolio Manager of the Fund since it commenced operations. Mr. Sabre has also served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Mount Yale Capital Group, LLC ("Mount Yale") (an affiliate of the Advisor) since 2003. Prior to 2003, Mr. Sabre was a Senior Managing Director at Bear Stearns & Co. and Head of the Mezzanine Capital Group. Mr. Sabre previously served as President of First Dominion Capital, which managed \$3.0 billion of assets and is now owned by Credit Suisse First Boston. Prior to his position at First Dominion Capital, Mr. Sabre was a Managing Director and founding partner of Indosuez Capital, the merchant banking division of Credit Agricole Indosuez. Mr. Sabre also was employed in the investment banking groups of Credit Suisse First Boston and Drexel Burnham Lambert. Mr. Sabre holds a B.S. degree from the Carlson School at the University of Minnesota and an M.B.A. degree from The Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania.

Each Board member serves on the Board for terms of indefinite duration. A Board member's position in that capacity will terminate if he is removed, resigns or is subject to various disabling events such as death or incapacity. A Board member may resign upon written notice to the other members and may be removed either by vote of two-thirds of the members not subject to the removal vote or vote of the Investors holding not less than two-thirds of the total number of votes eligible to be cast by all Investors. In the event of any vacancy in the position of a Board member, the remaining members may appoint an individual to serve as a Board member, so long as immediately after such appointment at least two-thirds of the Board then serving would have been elected by the Investors. The Board may call a meeting of Investors to fill any vacancy in the position of a Board member and must do so within 60 days after any date on which Trustees who were elected by the Investors cease to constitute a majority of the Board then serving. If no Board member remains to manage the business of the Fund, the Advisor may manage and control the Fund but must convene a meeting of Investors within 60 days for the purpose of either electing new Board members or dissolving the Fund.

The only standing committee of the Board is the Audit Committee. The current members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Greiner and Bill Piechel, constituting all of the Independent Trustees. Mr. Greiner is currently the Chair of the Audit Committee. The function of the Board's Audit Committee, pursuant to its adopted written charter, is: (i) to oversee the Fund's accounting and financial reporting processes, the audits of the Fund's financial statements and the Fund's internal controls over, among other things, financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures; (ii) to oversee or assist in Board oversight of the integrity of the Fund's financial statements, and the Fund's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and (iii) to approve, prior to appointment, the engagement of the Fund's independent registered public accounting firm and review the independent registered public accounting firm's qualifications, independence and performance. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Audit Committee met three times.

Trustee Ownership

The following table indicates the dollar range of equity securities that each Trustee beneficially owned in the Fund as of December 31, 2022.

N. CT.	Dollar Range of Equity	Aggregate Dollar Range of Equity Securities of All Registered Investment Companies Overseen
Name of Trustee	Securities of the Fund	by the Trustee in the Fund Complex
Jeffrey P. Greiner	None	None
William Piechel	None	None
John L. Sabre	over \$100,000	over \$100,000

As of the date of this SAI, none of the Independent Trustees or their immediate family members owned beneficially or of record securities of the Advisor, NLD, or a person (other than a registered investment company) directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with the Advisor or NLD.

Trustee Compensation

Name and Position with Fund	Aggregate Compensation from the Fund*	Total Compensation from Fund and Fund Complex Paid to Trustees
Jeffrey P. Greiner Trustee and Chairman of Audit Committee	\$27,500	\$50,000
William Piechel Trustee	None	None
John L. Sabre Trustee	None	None

^{*} Fees earned from the Fund during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023. G. Mike Mikan resigned as a Trustee on February 28, 2023.

^{**} The "Fund Complex" consists of the Fund and Ellington Income Opportunities Fund.

The Independent Trustees are currently each paid by the Fund an annual retainer of \$30,000, to be paid quarterly. All Trustees are reimbursed for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. The Trustees do not receive any pension or retirement benefits from the Fund.

Codes of Ethics

Each of the Fund and the Advisor has adopted a code of ethics under Rule 17j-1 of the 1940 Act (collectively the "Ethics Codes"). Rule 17j-1 and the Ethics Codes are designed to prevent unlawful practices in connection with the purchase or sale of securities by covered personnel ("Access Persons"). The Ethics Codes apply to the Fund and permit Access Persons to, subject to certain restrictions, invest in securities, including securities that may be purchased or held by the Fund. Under the Ethics Codes, Access Persons may engage in personal securities transactions, but are required to report their personal securities transactions for monitoring purposes. In addition, certain Access Persons are required to obtain approval before investing in initial public offerings, private placements or certain other securities. The Ethics Codes are available on the EDGAR database on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov, and also may be obtained, after paying a duplicating fee, by electronic request at the following e-mail address: publicinfo@sec.gov.

Control Persons and Principal Holders of Securities

A control person is a person who beneficially owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 25% of the voting securities of a company or acknowledges the existence of control. To the knowledge of the Fund, as of July 1, 2023, there were no shareholders who beneficially owned more than 25% of the Fund.

To the knowledge of the Fund, as of May 1, 2023, the Board and the officers of the Fund, as a group, owned 1.56% of the outstanding Shares of the Fund.

The name, address, and percentage ownership of each entity or person that owned of record or beneficially 5% or more of the outstanding Shares of any share class of the Fund as of May 1, 2023 were as follows:

Class A

Haidi W. Huang Ttee/Morris M Chen Ttee 6.13% Haidi W Huang Retirement Trust 18631 E Gale Ave. City of Industry, CA 91748

Class I

National Financial Services 5.40% RMR Structured Portfolio Church 1759 Castle Hill Avenue Bronx, NY 10462

Class II

Jon M Foran & Kimberly Sarchet Foran/Sarchet 7.04% Family Trust 1848 Sierra Madre Villa Avenue Pasadena, CA 91107

Community National Bank 5.58% FBO Russell Smith 4229 Clear Lake Circle

Fort Worth, TX 76109

Joshua Grieger 8.18%

8020 Dairy Ridge Rd. Mebane, NC 27302

Class L

Estate of Glen Devries/Tarek Ahmed 11.22% 17 Cornell Street

New York, NY 10014

The Advisor

Founded in 2011, Princeton Fund Advisors, LLC, is registered as an investment advisor under the Advisors Act. Under the control of John L. Sabre and Greg D. Anderson, the Advisor is an independent investment advisory firm specializing in the management of a variety of types of investment funds. As of June 30, 2023 the Advisor had approximately \$965 million in assets under management. The Advisor is a subsidiary of Mount Yale, a Delaware limited liability company also controlled by John L. Sabre and Greg D. Anderson. Mount Yale, through Mount Yale Investment Advisors, LLC, had approximately \$1.938 billion in assets under management as of June 30, 2023.

The Advisor serves as investment advisor to the Fund pursuant to a management agreement entered into between the Fund and the Advisor (the "Management Agreement"). The Board has engaged the Advisor to provide investment advice to, and manage the day-to-day business and affairs of, the Fund, in each case under the ultimate supervision of, and subject to any policies established by, the Board. The Advisor allocates the Fund's assets and monitors regularly each Investment Fund to determine whether its investment program is consistent with the Fund's investment objective and whether the Investment Fund's investment performance and other criteria are satisfactory. The Advisor may sell Investment Funds and select additional Investment Funds, subject in each case to the ultimate supervision of, and any policies established by, the Board. The Advisor also provides, or arranges at its expense, for certain management and administrative services for the Fund. Some of those services include providing support services, maintaining and preserving certain records, and preparing and filing various materials with state and U.S. federal regulators. A discussion regarding the basis for the Board's renewal of the Management Agreement is available in the Fund's annual shareholder report dated March 31, 2023.

The offices of the Advisor are located at 8500 Normandale Lake Blvd, Suite 1900, Minneapolis, MN 55437, and its telephone number is (855) 897-5390. The Advisor or its designee maintains the Fund's accounts, books and other documents required to be maintained under the 1940 Act at 8500 Normandale Lake Blvd, Suite 1900, Minneapolis, MN 55437, or the offices of Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC, at 80 Arkay Drive, Suite 110, Hauppauge, NY 11788 or 4221 North 203rd Street, Suite 100, Elkhorn, Nebraska 68022.

Management Agreement

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Advisor is responsible, subject to the supervision of the Board, for formulating a continuing investment program for the Fund. The Management Agreement was initially approved by the Fund's full Board and by the Independent Trustees at a meeting held in person on September 22, 2014, and was also approved by the initial shareholder. The Management Agreement was most recently renewed at a Board meeting held on March 14, 2023, and the Board's deliberations related to the renewal are included in the Fund's annual report to shareholders for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023. The Management Agreement is terminable without penalty, on 60 days' prior written notice by the Board, by vote of a majority of the outstanding Shares of the Fund, or by the Advisor. The Management Agreement had an initial term expiring two years after the Fund commenced investment operations. Thereafter, the Management Agreement continues in effect from year to year if its continuance is approved annually by either the Board or the vote of a majority of the outstanding Shares of the Fund, respectively, provided that, in either event, the continuance also is approved by a majority of the Independent Trustees by vote cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on such approval. The Management Agreement also provides that it will terminate automatically in the event of its "assignment" (as defined in the 1940 Act).

In consideration of the management and administrative services provided by the Advisor to the Fund, the Fund pays, out of its assets, the management fee at the annual rate of 1.20% of the Fund's net asset value (the "Management Fee"). For purposes of determining the Management Fee payable to the Advisor for any month, net asset value is calculated as the value of the total assets of the Fund (including any assets attributable to leverage) minus accrued liabilities (other than liabilities representing leverage). During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, the Fund incurred

\$746,390 in Management Fees. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, the Fund incurred \$1,106,910 in Management Fees. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Fund incurred \$1,423,347 in Management Fees.

The Management Agreement provides that, in the absence of willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of its obligations to the Fund, the Advisor and any director, officer, member or employee thereof, or any of their affiliates, executors, heirs, assigns, successors or other legal representatives, will not be liable to the Fund, for any error of judgment, for any mistake of law or for any act or omission by such person in connection with the performance of services under the Management Agreement. The Management Agreement also provides for indemnification, to the fullest extent permitted by law, by the Fund of the Advisor, or any Trustee, member, officer or employee thereof, and any of their affiliates, executors, heirs, assigns, successors or other legal representatives, against any liability or expense to which such person may be liable which arises in connection with the performance of services to the Fund, as the case may be, provided that the liability or expense is not incurred by reason of the person's willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of its obligations to the Fund.

Effective September 1, 2017, the Advisor voluntarily elected to waive a portion of the Management Fee attributable to the assets of the Fund invested in any mutual fund advised by the Advisor. The portion waived is equal to the amount of the management fee paid to the Advisor by such affiliated mutual fund that is attributable to Fund assets invested in the affiliated mutual fund, less the attributable amount of: (i) any fees paid to any subadvisor to the affiliated mutual fund and (ii) any fee waivers, expense reimbursements and other direct expenses incurred by the Advisor related to the affiliated mutual fund. Fees waived pursuant to this voluntary waiver are not subject to recoupment in future periods. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, the Advisor waived \$0 in Management Fees under this voluntary waiver. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, the Advisor waived \$50,712 in Management Fees under this voluntary waiver. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Advisor waived \$135,705 in Management Fees under this voluntary waiver and recaptured \$49,801.

Portfolio Managers

The below portfolio managers are jointly and primarily responsible for the day-to-day management of the Fund's portfolio and share equal responsibility and authority for managing the Fund's portfolio. Each of the below portfolio managers has served as a portfolio manager to the Fund since inception.

John L. Sabre is a founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Advisor. He has served as a Portfolio Manager of the Fund since it commenced operations. Mr. Sabre has also served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Mount Yale since 2003. Prior to 2003, Mr. Sabre was a Senior Managing Director at Bear Stearns & Co. and Head of the Mezzanine Capital Group. Mr. Sabre previously served as President of First Dominion Capital, which managed \$3.0 billion of assets and is now owned by Credit Suisse First Boston. Prior to his position at First Dominion Capital, Mr. Sabre was a Managing Director and founding partner of Indosuez Capital, the merchant banking division of Credit Agricole Indosuez. Mr. Sabre also was employed in the investment banking groups of Credit Suisse First Boston and Drexel Burnham Lambert. Mr. Sabre holds a B.S. degree from the Carlson School at the University of Minnesota and an M.B.A. degree from The Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania.

Greg D. Anderson, is a founder and President of the Advisor. He has served as a Portfolio Manager of the Fund since it commenced operations. Mr. Anderson is also the President of Mount Yale. Prior to founding the Advisor in 2011 and Mount Yale Asset Management, LLC in 1999, Mr. Anderson was a Senior Vice President and Managing Director of Investment Manager Search, Evaluation, and Due Diligence at Portfolio Management Consultants, Inc. Mr. Anderson was previously employed with Deloitte & Touche where he specialized in the areas of estate planning, health care and non-profit organizations, and tax and personal finance planning for high net worth individuals. Mr. Anderson holds a B.A. degree from Hamline University in Minnesota and a J.D. from the University of Minnesota School of Law. Mr. Anderson is a Certified Public Accountant (inactive).

The Portfolio Managers manage, or are affiliated with, other accounts in addition to the Fund, including other pooled investment vehicles and registered mutual funds. Because the Portfolio Managers manage assets for other investment companies, pooled investment vehicles, and/or other accounts (collectively "Client Accounts"), or may be affiliated with such Client Accounts, there may be an incentive to favor one Client Account over another, resulting in conflicts of interest. Although there are not currently other client accounts that will be pursuing the same types of private

equity investments as the Fund, the Advisor may, for example, directly or indirectly, receive fees from Client Accounts that are higher than the fee it receives from the Fund, or it may, directly or indirectly, receive a performance-based fee on a Client Account. In those instances, the Portfolio Managers may have an incentive to favor Client Accounts over the Fund. The Advisor has or will adopt, as relevant, trade allocation and other policies and procedures that it believes are reasonably designed to address any potential conflicts of interest.

Each Portfolio Manager's compensation is comprised of a fixed annual salary and potentially an annual supplemental distribution paid by the Advisor and not by the Fund. Because the Portfolio Managers are indirect equity owners of the Advisor and are affiliated with other entities that may receive performance-based fees from other client accounts, the supplemental distribution that the Portfolio Managers receive from the Advisor, its parent company, or affiliates, directly or indirectly is generally equal to their respective proportional shares of the annual net profits earned by the Advisor from advisory fees and performance-based fees derived from certain client accounts, including the Fund, as applicable.

The following table lists the number and types of accounts, other than the Fund, managed by the Fund's Portfolio Managers and estimated assets under management in those accounts, as of March 31, 2023.

Total Other Accounts Managed

	Registered		Pooled			
	Investment	Assets	Investment	Assets		Assets
Portfolio	Company	Managed	Vehicle	Managed	Other	Managed
3.6		(* •11•)	A .	(*	A	(*
Manager	Accounts	(in millions)	Accounts	(in millions)	Accounts	(in millions)
Manager John L. Sabre	Accounts 7	\$1,051	Accounts 3	\$16	Accounts 1179	\$1,796

Other Accounts Managed Subject to Performance-Based Fees

Portfolio Manager	Registered Investment Company Accounts	Assets Managed	Pooled Investment Vehicle Accounts	Assets Managed (in millions)	Other Accounts	Assets Managed
John L. Sabre	0	\$0	1	\$6.9	0	\$0
Greg D. Anderson	0	\$0	1	\$6.9	0	\$0

Ownership of Securities

The following table shows the dollar range of the Fund's equity securities beneficially owned by the portfolio managers as of March 31, 2023.

Name of Portfolio Manger	Dollar Range of Equity Securities in the Fund
Greg D. Anderson	\$100,001-\$500,000
John L. Sabre	Over \$1,000,000

The Distributor

Northern Lights Distributors, LLC acts as the distributor of the Fund's Shares. NLD's principal business address is 4221 North 203rd Street, Suite 100, Elkhorn, NE 68022.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Advisor

The Advisor or its affiliates provide or may provide investment advisory and other services to various entities. The Advisor, and certain of its investment professionals and other principals, may also carry on substantial investment activities for their own accounts, for the accounts of family members and for other accounts (collectively, with the other accounts advised by the Advisor and its affiliates, "Other Accounts"). The Fund has no interest in these activities. The Advisor and its affiliates may receive payments from private equity sponsors or others in connection with such activities. As a result of the foregoing, the Advisor and the investment professionals who, on behalf of the Advisor, manage the Fund's investment portfolio will be engaged in substantial activities other than on behalf of the Fund, may have differing economic interests in respect of such activities, and may have conflicts of interest in allocating their time and activity between the Fund and Other Accounts. Such persons will devote only so much of their time as in their judgment is necessary and appropriate.

There also may be circumstances under which the Advisor will cause one or more Other Accounts to commit a larger percentage of its assets to an investment opportunity than to which the Advisor will commit the Fund's assets. There also may be circumstances under which the Advisor will consider participation by Other Accounts in investment opportunities in which the Advisor does not intend to invest on behalf of the Fund, or vice versa.

In addition, the Advisor may invest a portion of the Fund's assets in Underlying Funds that pay a management fee to the Advisor or an affiliate of the Advisor. The Fund may be invested in one or more Underlying Funds that are managed by entities whose affiliates subadvise an Other Account that pays a management fee to the Advisor or an affiliate of the Advisor.

The Advisor also intends to compensate, from its own profits from managing the Fund or other resources, NLD, brokers, dealers or other financial intermediaries in connection with the distribution of Shares and also in connection with various other services including those related to the support and conduct of due diligence, Investor account maintenance, the provision of information and support services to clients and the inclusion on preferred provider lists. Such compensation may take various forms, including a fixed fee, a fee determined by a formula that takes into account the amount of client assets invested in the Fund, the timing of investment or the overall net asset value of the Fund, the success or overall net revenues of the Fund, or a fee determined in some other method by negotiation between the Advisor and such financial intermediaries. Each financial intermediary also may charge investors, at the financial intermediary's discretion, a placement fee based on the purchase price of Fund Shares purchased by the Investor. All or a portion of such compensation may be paid by a financial intermediary to the financial advisory personnel involved in the sale of Shares. As a result of the various payments that broker-dealer, investment Advisor or financial intermediaries may receive from Investors and the Advisor, the amount of compensation that any financial intermediary may receive in connection with the sale of Shares in the Fund may be greater than the compensation it may receive for the distribution of other investment products. This difference in compensation may create an incentive for financial intermediaries to recommend the Fund over another investment product.

Financial intermediaries may be subject to certain conflicts of interest with respect to the Fund. For example, the Fund, the Advisor, Investment Funds or Portfolio Companies or investment vehicles managed or sponsored by the Advisor or Investment Fund Managers may (i) purchase securities or other assets directly or indirectly from, (ii) enter into financial or other transactions with, or (iii) otherwise convey benefits through commercial activities to, a financial intermediary. As such, certain conflicts of interest may exist between such persons and a financial intermediary. Such transactions may occur in the future and generally there is no limit to the amount of such transactions that may occur.

Financial intermediaries may perform investment advisory and other services for other investment entities with investment objectives and policies similar to those of the Fund or an Investment Fund. Such entities may compete with the Fund or the Investment Fund for investment opportunities and may invest directly in such investment opportunities. Financial intermediaries that invest in an Investment Fund or a Portfolio Company may do so on terms that are more favorable than those of the Fund.

Financial intermediaries that act as financial intermediaries for the Fund also may act as placement agent for an Investment Fund in which the Fund invests and may receive compensation in connection with such activities. Such compensation would be in addition to the placement fees described above. A financial intermediary may pay all or a portion of the fees paid to it to certain of its affiliates, including, without limitation, financial advisors whose clients purchase Shares of the Fund. Such fee arrangements may create an incentive for a financial intermediary to encourage investment in the Fund, independent of a prospective Investor's objectives.

A financial intermediary may provide financing, investment banking services or other services to third parties and receive fees therefor in connection with transactions in which such third parties have interests, which may conflict

with those of the Fund or an Investment Fund. A financial intermediary may give advice or provide financing to such third parties that may cause them to take actions adverse to the Fund, an Investment Fund or a Portfolio Company. A financial intermediary may directly or indirectly provide services to, or serve in other roles for compensation for, the Fund, an Investment Fund or a Portfolio Company. These services and roles may include (either currently or in the future) managing trustee, managing member, general partner, investment manager or advisor, investment sub-advisor, placement agent, broker, dealer, selling agent and investor servicer, custodian, transfer agent, fund administrator, prime broker, recordkeeper, shareholder servicer, interfund lending servicer, Fund accountant, transaction (e.g., a swap) counterparty and/or lender. A financial intermediary is expected to provide certain such services to the Fund in connection with the Fund obtaining a credit facility, if any.

In addition, issuers of securities held by the Fund or an Investment Fund may have publicly or privately traded securities in which a financial intermediary is an investor or makes a market. The trading activities of financial intermediaries generally will be carried out without reference to positions held by the Fund or an Investment Fund and may have an effect on the value of the positions so held, or may result in a financial intermediary having an interest in the issuer adverse to the Fund or the Investment Fund. No financial intermediary is prohibited from purchasing or selling the securities of, otherwise investing in or financing, issuers in which the Fund or an Investment Fund has an interest.

A financial intermediary may sponsor, organize, promote or otherwise become involved with other opportunities to invest directly or indirectly in the Fund or an Investment Fund. Such opportunities may be subject to different terms than those applicable to an investment in the Fund or the Investment Fund, including with respect to fees and the right to receive information.

Set out below in Participation in Investment Opportunities and Other Matters are practices that the Advisor may follow. Although the Advisor anticipates that the Investment Fund Managers will follow practices similar to those described below, no guarantee or assurances can be made that similar practices will be followed or that an Investment Fund Manager will abide by, and comply with, its stated practices. An Investment Fund Manager may provide investment advisory and other services, directly or through affiliates, to various entities and accounts other than the Investment Funds.

Participation in Investment Opportunities

Directors, principals, officers, employees and affiliates of the Advisor may buy and sell securities or other investments for their own accounts and may have actual or potential conflicts of interest with respect to investments made on behalf of the Fund or an Investment Fund in which the Fund invests. As a result of differing trading and investment strategies or constraints, positions may be taken by directors, principals, officers, employees and affiliates of the Advisor, or by the Advisor for the Other Accounts, or any of their respective affiliates on behalf of their own other accounts ("Investment Fund Manager Accounts") that are the same as, different from or made at a different time than, positions taken for the Fund or an Investment Fund.

Other Matters

An Investment Fund Manager may, from time to time, cause an Investment Fund to effect certain principal transactions in securities with one or more Investment Fund Manager Accounts, subject to certain conditions. Future investment activities of the Investment Fund Managers, or their affiliates, and the principals, partners, directors, officers or employees of the foregoing, may give rise to additional conflicts of interest.

The Advisor and its affiliates will not purchase securities or other property from, or sell securities or other property to, the Fund, except that the Fund may in accordance with rules under the 1940 Act engage in transactions with accounts that are affiliated with the Fund as a result of common officers, directors, Advisors, members or managing general partners. These transactions would be effected in circumstances in which the Advisor determined that it would be appropriate for the Fund to purchase and another client to sell, or the Fund to sell and another client to purchase, the same security or instrument on the same day.

Future investment activities of the Advisor and its affiliates and their principals, partners, members, directors, officers or employees may give rise to conflicts of interest other than those described above.

PROXY VOTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Investments in the Investment Funds do not typically convey traditional voting rights, and the occurrence of corporate governance or other consent or voting matters for this type of investment is substantially less than that encountered in connection with registered equity securities. On occasion, however, the Fund may receive notices or proposals from the Investment Funds seeking the consent of or voting by holders ("proxies"). The Fund has delegated any voting of proxies in respect of portfolio holdings to the Advisor to vote the proxies in accordance with the Advisor's proxy voting guidelines and procedures. In general, the Advisor believes that voting proxies in accordance with the policies described below will be in the best interests of the Fund.

The Advisor generally votes to support management recommendations relating to routine matters, such as the election of board members (where no corporate governance issues are implicated) or the selection of independent auditors. The Advisor generally votes in favor of management or investor proposals that the Advisor believes will maintain or strengthen the shared interests of investors and management, increase value for investors and maintain or increase the rights of investors. On non-routine matters, the Advisor generally votes in favor of management proposals for mergers or reorganizations and investor rights plans, so long as it believes such proposals are in the best economic interests of the Fund. In exercising its voting discretion, the Advisor seeks to avoid any direct or indirect conflict of interest presented by the voting decision. If any substantive aspect or foreseeable result of the matter to be voted on presents an actual or potential conflict of interest involving the Advisor, the Advisor makes written disclosure of the conflict to the Independent Trustees indicating how the Advisor proposes to vote on the matter and its reasons for doing so.

The Fund intends to hold its interests in the Investment Funds in non-voting form. Where only voting securities are available for purchase by the Fund, in all, or substantially all, instances, the Fund seeks to create by contract the same result as owning a non-voting security by entering into a contract, typically before the initial purchase, to relinquish the right to vote in respect of its investment.

Information regarding how the Advisor voted proxies related to the Fund's portfolio holdings during the 12-month period ended June 30th are available, without charge, upon request by calling toll free **855-924-2454**, and on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

FEES AND EXPENSES

The Advisor bears all of its own costs incurred in providing investment advisory services to the Fund. The Fund bears all expenses incurred in the business and investment program of the Fund, including all costs related to its organization and offering of Shares, and any charges and fees to which the Fund is subject as an investor in the Investment Funds. The Advisor also provides, or arranges at its expense, for certain management and administrative services for the Fund. Some of those services include providing support services, maintaining and preserving certain records, and preparing and filing various materials with state and U.S. federal regulators.

Expenses borne by the Fund (and, thus, indirectly by Investors) include:

- all expenses related to the investment program, including, but not limited to: (i) expenses borne indirectly through the Fund's investments in the Investment Funds, including, without limitation, any fees and expenses charged by the Investment Fund Managers (such as management fees, performance, carried interests or incentive fees or allocations, monitoring fees, property management fees, and redemption or withdrawal fees), (ii) all costs and expenses directly related to portfolio transactions and positions for the Fund's account, such as direct and indirect expenses associated with the Fund's investments in Investment Funds (whether or not consummated), and enforcing the Fund's rights in respect of such investments, (iii) transfer taxes and premiums, (iv) taxes withheld on non-U.S. dividends or other non-U.S. source income, (v) fees for data, software and technology providers, (vi) professional fees (including, without limitation, the fees and expenses of consultants, attorneys and experts), and (vii) if applicable, brokerage commissions, interest and commitment fees on loans and debit balances, borrowing charges on securities sold short, dividends on securities sold but not yet purchased and margin fees;
- the Management Fee;

- the Distribution and Service Fee for Class A, Class II and Class L Shares;
- all costs and expenses (including costs and expenses associated with the organization and initial registration of the Fund) associated with the operation and ongoing registration of the Fund, including, without limitation, all costs and expenses associated with the repurchase offers, offering costs, and the costs of compliance with any applicable Federal or state laws;
- fees of the Independent Trustees and the costs and expenses of holding any meetings of the Board or Investors that are regularly scheduled, permitted or required to be held under the terms of the Agreement and Declaration of Trust, the 1940 Act or other applicable law;
- compensation payable to the chief compliance officer of the Fund, and expenses attributable to implementing the compliance program;
- fees and expenses of performing research, risk analysis and due diligence, including third party background checks;
- fees and disbursements of any attorneys, accountants, auditors and other consultants and professionals engaged on behalf of the Fund, and the Independent Trustees;
- the costs of a fidelity bond and any liability or other insurance obtained on behalf of the Fund, the Advisor, or the Trustees or the officers of the Fund;
- recordkeeping, custody and transfer agency fees and expenses;
- all costs and expenses of preparing, setting in type, printing and distributing reports and other communications to Investors or potential Investors;
- all expenses of computing net asset value, including any equipment or services obtained for the purpose of valuing the investment portfolio, including appraisal and valuation services provided by third parties;
- all charges for equipment or services used for communications between the Fund and any custodian, administrator or other agent;
- fees of custodians or any escrow agent, including any fees associated with the escrow account, and other service providers including transfer agents and depositaries (including The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation and National Securities Clearing Corporation), and other persons providing administrative services;
- any extraordinary expenses (as defined below), including indemnification or litigation expenses;
- all taxes to which the Fund may be subject, directly or indirectly, and whether in the U.S., any state thereof or any other U.S. or non-U.S. jurisdictions; and
- such other types of expenses as may be approved from time to time by the Board.

The Fund reimburses the Advisor for any of the above expenses that it pays on behalf of the Fund.

The initial operating expenses for a new fund, including start-up costs, which may be significant, may be higher than the expenses of an established fund. The Fund incurred organizational and offering expenses of approximately \$400,000 in connection with the Initial Offering of Shares. The Fund will bear certain ongoing offering costs associated with the Fund's continuous offering of Shares (mostly printing expenses). Offering costs cannot be deducted by the Fund or the Fund's Investors.

The Advisor has entered into a Fifth Amended and Restated Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement with the Fund from the effective date of the Fund until July 31, 2024 to limit the Specified Expenses borne by the Fund during the Limitation Period for each class of Shares to an amount not to exceed 0.75% per annum of the Fund's net assets attributed to such Share class. Specified Expenses include all expenses incurred in the business of the Fund, provided that the following expenses are excluded from the definition of Specified Expenses: the Fund's direct expenses or proportional share of (i) fees, expenses, allocations, carried interests, etc. of the

Underlying Funds in which the Fund invests (including all acquired fund fees and expenses), (ii) transaction costs, including legal costs and brokerage commissions, of the Fund associated with the acquisition and disposition of primary interests, secondary interests, coinvestments, ETF investments, and other investments, (iii) interest payments incurred by the Fund, (iv) fees and expenses incurred in connection with a credit facility, if any, obtained by the Fund, (v) taxes of the Fund, (vi) extraordinary expenses (as determined in the Advisor's sole discretion) of the Fund, which may include non-recurring expenses such as, for example, litigation expenses and shareholder meeting expenses, (vii) the distribution fees and/or service fees paid by the Fund, and (viii) the Management Fee or any other investment management fee paid by the Fund. "Extraordinary expenses" are expenses incurred outside of the ordinary course of business, including, without limitation, litigation or indemnification expenses, excise taxes, and costs incurred in connection with holding and/or soliciting proxies for a meeting of Investors. These expenses will be in addition to the expenses of each Share class of the Fund that may be limited by the Advisor to 0.75% of the Fund's net assets attributed to each Share class. To the extent that the Advisor bears Specified Expenses, it is permitted to receive reimbursement by the Fund for any expense amounts previously paid or borne by the Advisor, for a period not to exceed three years after such expenses were paid or borne by the Advisor, even if such reimbursement occurs after the termination of the Limitation Period, provided that the Specified Expenses have fallen to a level below the lower of the Expense Cap or the then-current expense limitation, and the reimbursement amount does not raise the level of Specified Expenses in the month the reimbursement is being made to a level that exceeds the lower of the Expense Cap or the then-current expense limitation. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, the Advisor recaptured expenses in the amount of \$35,595. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, the Advisor recaptured expenses in the amount of \$114,206. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Advisor recaptured expenses in the amount of \$49,801.

The Investment Funds bear various expenses in connection with their operations similar to those incurred by the Fund. Investment Fund Managers generally assess asset-based fees to, and receive incentive-based allocations from, the Investment Funds. As a result, the investment returns of the Investment Funds will be reduced. As an investor in the Investment Funds, the Fund will bear its proportionate share of the expenses and fees of the Investment Funds and will also be subject to incentive allocations to the Investment Fund Managers.

Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC, as the Fund's administrator (the "Administrator"), performs certain administration, accounting services and, as of July 26, 2019, transfer agency services for the Fund. In consideration for these services, the Fund pays the Administrator a fee based on the average net assets of the Fund (subject to certain minimums), for administration and accounting services. The Fund pays the Administrator a base per-account annual fee (subject to certain minimums and various other account-related charges) for transfer agency services, and will reimburse the Administrator for out-of-pocket expenses. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, the Fund incurred \$48,489 in administration services fees, \$51,408 in accounting services fees and \$63,351 in transfer agency fees. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, the Fund incurred \$57,600 in administration services fees, \$52,600 in accounting services fees and \$48,000 in transfer agency fees. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Fund incurred \$105,408 in administration services fees, \$52,827 in accounting services fees and \$86,109 in transfer agency fees.

Distribution of Shares. Under the terms of the Distribution Agreement, NLD is authorized to retain Sub-Placement Agents to assist in or otherwise sell Shares in the Offering and to provide related sales and shareholder services to Investors. With respect to Class A Shares, the aggregate monthly Distribution and/or Service Fee will be paid at the annual rate of up to 0.60% of the aggregate net asset value of Class A Shares, determined and accrued as of the last day of each calendar month (before any repurchases of Class A Shares). While the Distribution and Servicing Plans for the Class II Shares allow for a Distribution and/or Service Fee at an annual rate not to exceed 0.50% of the net asset value attributable to such Share class as of the end of each calendar month and the Distribution and Servicing Plans for Class L Shares allow for a Distribution and/or Service Fee at an annual rate not to exceed 1.00% of the net asset value attributable to such Share class as of the end of each calendar month, the Board has currently approved lower amounts. The current aggregate monthly Distribution and/or Service Fee will be paid at the annual rate of 0.30% of the aggregate net asset value of Class II Shares, and 0.85% of the aggregate net asset value of the Class L Shares, determined and accrued as of the last day of each calendar month (before any repurchases of Shares). The portion of which fees are for shareholder services shall not exceed 0.25% of the aggregate net asset value of each of the Class II, and Class L Shares, respectively. The Distribution and Service Fees are charged on an aggregate class-wide basis, and Investors in Class A, Class II, and Class L Shares will be subject to the Distribution and Service Fee regardless of how long

they have held their Shares. The Distribution and Service Fees are paid to NLD. NLD may pay all or a portion of such fees to Sub-Placement Agents who have signed a selling agreement that provides for such re-allowance, in each case to the extent they provide the required services for each such fee, or to other persons as permitted by the Distribution and Service Plans. Payment of the Distribution and/or Service Fees are governed by the Fund's Distribution and Servicing Plans. A condition to the SEC's granting of the Fund's application for an exemptive order to permit the Fund to establish additional classes of Shares is that the Fund comply with Rule 12b-1 under the 1940 Act as if the Fund was a registered open-end investment company. The Fund therefore adheres to Rule 12b-1 requirements and has elected to adopt and implement the Distribution and Servicing Plans in the manner required by the Rule. The Fund may pay third parties for shareholder servicing (but not distribution) outside the limits of Rule 12b-1. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, the Fund incurred under its Distribution and Servicing Plans \$55,508 in distribution and service fees related to Class A Shares, \$10,208 in distribution and servicing fees related to Class II Shares, and \$66,865 in distribution and servicing fees related to Class L Shares. No Distribution and/or Service Fee is payable with respect to Class I Shares. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, the Fund incurred under its Distribution and Servicing Plans \$75,613 in distribution and service fees related to Class A Shares, \$13,410 in distribution and servicing fees related to Class II Shares, and \$78,234 in distribution and servicing fees related to Class L Shares. No Distribution and/or Service Fee is payable with respect to Class I Shares. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Fund incurred under its Distribution and Servicing Plans \$81,974 in distribution and service fees related to Class A Shares, \$15,519 in distribution and servicing fees related to Class II Shares, and \$76,523 in distribution and servicing fees related to Class L Shares. No Distribution and/or Service Fee is payable with respect to Class I Shares.

CERTAIN TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following discussion of U.S. federal income tax consequences of an investment in the Fund is based on the Code, U.S. Treasury regulations, and other applicable authority, as of the date of this Prospectus. These authorities are subject to change by legislative or administrative action, possibly with retroactive effect. The following discussion is only a summary of some of the important U.S. federal tax considerations generally applicable to investments in the Fund. There may be other tax considerations applicable to particular Investors. Investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding their particular situation and the possible application of foreign, state and local tax laws

Special tax rules apply to investments through defined contribution retirement plans and other tax-qualified plans. Investors should consult their tax Advisors to determine the suitability of shares of the Fund as an investment through such plans and the precise effect of an investment on their particular tax situation.

Taxation of the Fund

Qualification for and Treatment as a Regulated Investment Company

The Fund elects to be treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code and intends each year to qualify and to be eligible to be treated as such, which generally relieves the Fund of any liability for federal income tax to the extent its earnings are timely distributed to Investors. In order to qualify for the special tax treatment accorded RICs and their investors, the Fund must, among other things: (a) derive at least 90% of its gross income for each taxable year from (i) dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stock, securities or foreign currencies, or other income (including but not limited to gains from options, futures, or forward contracts) derived with respect to its business of investing in such stock, securities, or currencies and (ii) net income derived from interests in "qualified publicly traded partnerships" (as defined below); (b) diversify its holdings so that, at the end of each quarter of the Fund's taxable year, (i) at least 50% of the market value of the Fund's total assets consists of cash and cash items, U.S. government securities, securities of other RICs, and other securities limited in respect of any one issuer to a value not greater than 5% of the value of the Fund's total assets and not more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer, and (ii) not more than 25% of the value of the Fund's total assets is invested (x) in the securities (other than those of the U.S. government or other RICs) of any one issuer or of two or more issuers that the Fund controls and that are engaged in the same, similar, or related trades or businesses, or (y) in the securities of one or more qualified publicly traded partnerships (as defined below). After qualifying, the Fund intends to comply with applicable timing requirements for treatment as a RIC and distribute to shareholders, with respect to each taxable year, at least 90% of the sum of its investment company taxable income (as that term is defined in the

Code without regard to the deduction for dividends paid—generally taxable ordinary income and the excess, if any, of net short-term capital gains over net long-term capital losses) and net tax-exempt income, for such year, in a manner qualifying for the dividends-paid deduction. The Fund intends to qualify for RIC status, but there can be no assurance that the Fund will so qualify. If the Fund fails to qualify for RIC status it will be taxed as a corporation. As explained in further detail below, the Fund expects not to be a "publicly offered RIC" within the meaning of Code Section 67 (c)(2)(B); such status will potentially bear on the way in which the Fund calculates its deductible dividends.

In general, for purposes of the 90% gross income requirement described in (a) above, income derived from a partnership will be treated as qualifying income only to the extent such income is attributable to items of income of the partnership which would be qualifying income if realized directly by the RIC. However, 100% of the net income derived from an interest in a "qualified publicly traded partnership" (a partnership (x) the interests in which are traded on an established securities market or are readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof, and (y) that derives less than 90% of its income from the qualifying income described in paragraph (a)(i) above) will be treated as qualifying income. In general, such entities will be treated as partnerships for federal income tax purposes because they meet the passive income requirement under Code section 7704(c)(2). In addition, although in general the passive loss rules of the Code do not apply to RICs, such rules do apply to a RIC with respect to items attributable to an interest in a qualified publicly traded partnership.

For purposes of the diversification test in (b) above, the term "outstanding voting securities of such issuer" will include the equity securities of a qualified publicly traded partnership. Also, for purposes of the diversification test in (b) above, the identification of the issuer (or, in some cases, issuers) of a particular investment can depend on the terms and conditions of that investment. In some cases, identification of the issuer (or issuers) is uncertain under current law, and an adverse determination or future guidance by the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") with respect to issuer identification for a particular type of investment may adversely affect a RIC's ability to meet the diversification test in (b) above.

If the Fund qualifies as a RIC that is accorded special tax treatment, the Fund will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on income distributed in a timely manner to its Investors in the form of dividends (including capital gain dividends, as defined below) that qualify for the dividends-paid deduction. The Fund takes the position that the payment of expenses, as well as distributions on the Shares, does not give rise to a preferential dividend. In general, a dividend is preferential unless it is distributed pro rata to shareholders, with no preference to any share of stock compared with other shares of the same class, and with no preference to one class as compared with another class, except to the extent the class is entitled to a preference. If, however, the IRS or a court were to determine that the Fund paid a preferential dividend, then all dividends paid with respect to the class of stock for which the preferential dividend was paid would not be deductible by the Fund, and the Fund could lose its tax status as a RIC. In that case, the Fund's taxable income (including its net capital gain) would be subject to federal corporate tax at regular rates without any deduction for distributions to shareholders, and such distributions would be taxable as ordinary dividends to the extent of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits.

The Fund generally expects to satisfy the requirements to qualify and be eligible to be treated as a RIC beginning in its first full year of operations. Nonetheless, there can be no assurance that the Fund will so qualify and be eligible. The Fund's use of cash to repurchase shares could adversely affect its ability to satisfy the distribution requirements for treatment as a RIC. The Fund could also recognize income in connection with its liquidation of portfolio securities to fund share repurchases. Any such income would be taken into account in determining whether the distribution requirements are satisfied.

The federal income tax rules applicable the Fund's investments are unclear in some cases. An adverse determination or future guidance by the IRS with respect to these rules (which determination or guidance could be retroactive) may affect whether the Fund, has satisfied the requirements to maintain its qualification as a RIC. See "Fund Investments" below.

From time to time, the Fund may increase its investments in ETFs in order to increase the percentage of its income constituting qualifying income.

If the Fund were to fail to meet the income, diversification or distribution test described above, the Fund could in some cases cure such failure, including by paying a Fund-level tax or interest, making additional distributions, or disposing

of certain assets. If the Fund were ineligible to or otherwise did not cure such failure for any year, or if the Fund were otherwise to fail to qualify as a RIC accorded special tax treatment for such year, the Fund would be subject to tax on its taxable income at corporate rates, and all distributions from earnings and profits, including any distributions of net tax-exempt income and net long-term capital gains, would be taxable to Investors as ordinary income. Some portions of such distributions may be eligible for the dividends-received deduction in the case of corporate Investors and may be eligible to be treated as "qualified dividend income" in the case of Investors taxed as individuals, provided, in both cases, the Investor meets certain holding period and other requirements in respect of the Fund's shares (as described below). In addition, the Fund could be required to recognize unrealized gains, pay substantial taxes and interest and make substantial distributions before re-qualifying as a RIC that is accorded special tax treatment.

The Fund intends to distribute at least annually to its Investors all or substantially all of its investment company taxable income (computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction), its net tax-exempt income (if any) and its net capital gain. Any taxable income, including any net capital gain, retained by the Fund will be subject to tax at the Fund level at regular corporate rates. In the case of net capital gain, the Fund is permitted to designate the retained amount as undistributed capital gain in a timely notice to its Investors who would then, in turn, be (i) required to include in income for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as long-term capital gain, their shares of such undistributed amount, and (ii) entitled to credit their proportionate shares of the tax paid by the Fund on such undistributed amount against their U.S. federal income tax liabilities, if any, and to claim refunds on a properly filed U.S. tax return to the extent the credit exceeds such liabilities. If the Fund makes this designation, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the tax basis of shares owned by an Investor of the Fund would be increased by an amount equal under current law to the difference between the amount of undistributed capital gains included in the Investor's gross income under clause (i) of the preceding sentence and the tax deemed paid by the Investor under clause (ii) of the preceding sentence. The Fund is not required to, and there can be no assurance the Fund will, make this designation if it retains all or a portion of its net capital gain in a taxable year.

In determining its net capital gain, including in connection with determining the amount available to support a capital gain dividend (as defined below), its taxable income, and its earnings and profits, a RIC generally may elect to treat part or all of any post-October capital loss (defined as the greatest of net capital loss, net long-term capital loss, or net short-term capital loss, in each case attributable to the portion of the taxable year after October 31) or late-year ordinary loss (generally, (i) net ordinary loss from the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of property, attributable to the portion of the taxable year after October 31, plus (ii) other net ordinary loss attributable to the portion of the taxable year after December 31) as if incurred in the succeeding taxable year.

Excise Tax

If the Fund were to fail to distribute in a calendar year at least an amount generally equal to the sum of 98% of its ordinary income for such year and 98.2% of its capital gain net income for the one-year period ending October 31 of such year, plus any such amounts retained from the prior year, the Fund would be subject to a nondeductible 4% excise tax on the undistributed amounts. For purposes of the required excise tax distribution, the income and gains of Investment Funds will be treated as arising in the hands of the Fund at the time realized and recognized by the Investment Funds. Also for purposes of the required excise tax distribution, a RIC's ordinary gains and losses from the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of property that would otherwise be taken into account after October 31 of a calendar year generally are treated as arising on January 1 of the following calendar year. In addition, for these purposes, the Fund will be treated as having distributed any amount on which it is subject to corporate income tax for the taxable year ending within the calendar year. Given the difficulty of estimating Fund income and gains in a timely fashion, each year the Fund is likely to be and it is possible that the Fund will be liable for a 4% excise tax.

Capital Loss Carryforwards

Capital losses in excess of capital gains ("net capital losses") are not permitted to be deducted against the Fund's net investment income. Instead, potentially subject to certain limitations, a RIC may carry net capital losses from any taxable year forward to subsequent taxable years to offset capital gains, if any, realized during such subsequent taxable years. Distributions from capital gains are generally made after applying any available capital loss carryforwards. Capital loss carryforwards are reduced to the extent they offset current-year net realized capital gains, whether a RIC retains or distributes such gains. A RIC may carry net capital losses forward to one or more

subsequent taxable years without expiration. The Fund must apply long-term capital loss carryforwards first against long-term capital gains, and short-term capital loss carryforwards first against short-term capital gains. The Fund's available capital loss carryforwards, if any, will be set forth in its annual report for each fiscal year. At fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Fund had \$0 in capital loss carry forwards.

Taxation of Investors

Distributions by the Fund

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, distributions of investment income are generally taxable as ordinary income. Taxes on distributions of capital gains are determined by how long the Fund owned the investments that generated them, rather than how long an Investor has owned his or her shares. In general, the Fund recognizes long-term capital gain or loss on investments it has owned (or is deemed to have owned) for more than one year, and short-term capital gain or loss on investments it has owned (or is deemed to have owned) for one year or less. Distributions of net capital gain (that is, the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss, in each case determined with reference to any loss carryforwards) that are properly reported by the Fund as capital gain dividends ("capital gain dividends") are taxable to Investors as long-term capital gains includible in net capital gain and taxed to individuals at reduced rates.

Distributions from capital gains are generally made after applying any available capital loss carryovers. Distributions of net short-term capital gain (as reduced by any net long-term capital loss for the taxable year) are taxable to Investors as ordinary income. Distributions of investment income reported by the Fund as derived from "qualified dividend income" are taxed in the hands of individuals at the rates applicable to net capital gain, provided holding period and other requirements are met at both the Investor and Fund level. The Fund does not expect a significant portion of Fund distributions to be derived from qualified dividend income. Distributions of investment income reported by the Fund as derived from eligible dividends may qualify for the 50% "dividends-received deduction" in the hands of corporate Investors, provided holding period and certain other requirements are met. The Fund does not expect a significant portion of Fund distributions to be eligible for the dividends-received deduction.

The Code generally imposes a 3.8% Medicare contribution tax on the net investment income of certain individuals whose income exceeds certain threshold amounts, and of certain trusts and estates under similar rules. For these purposes, "net investment income" generally includes, among other things (i) distributions paid by the Fund of net investment income and capital gains and (ii) any net gain from the sale, redemption or exchange of Fund shares. Investors are advised to consult their tax advisors regarding the possible implications of this additional tax on their investment in the Fund.

As required by federal law, detailed federal tax information with respect to each calendar year will be furnished to each Investor early in the succeeding year.

If the Fund makes a distribution to an Investor in excess of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits in any taxable year, the excess distribution will be treated as a return of capital to the extent of such Investor's tax basis in its Shares, and thereafter as capital gain. A return of capital is not taxable, but it reduces an Investor's tax basis in its Shares, thus reducing any loss or increasing any gain on a subsequent taxable disposition by the Investor of its Shares.

Distributions are taxable as described herein whether Investors receive them in cash or reinvest them in additional Shares. A dividend paid to Investors in January generally is deemed to have been paid by the Fund on December 31 of the preceding year, if the dividend was declared and payable to Investors of record on a date in October, November, or December of that preceding year.

Distributions on the Shares are generally subject to U.S. federal income tax as described herein to the extent they do not exceed the Fund's realized income and gains, even though such distributions may economically represent a return of a particular Investor's investment. Such distributions are likely to occur in respect of Shares purchased at a time when the Fund's net asset value reflects either unrealized gains, or realized but undistributed income or gains, that were therefore included in the price the Investor paid. Such distributions may reduce the fair market value of the Fund's Shares below the Investor's cost basis in those Shares. As described above, the Fund is required to distribute realized income and gains regardless of whether the Fund's net asset value also reflects unrealized losses.

Fund Investments

The Fund will invest up to substantially all its assets in Investment Funds that are classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

An entity that is properly classified as a partnership, rather than an association or publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation, generally is not itself subject to federal income tax. Instead, each partner of the partnership must take into account its distributive share of the partnership's income, gains, losses, deductions and credits (including all such items allocable to that partnership from investments in other partnerships) for each taxable year of the partnership ending with or within the partner's taxable year, without regard to whether such partner has received or will receive corresponding cash distributions from the partnership. Accordingly, the Fund may be required to recognize items of taxable income and gain prior to the time that the Fund receives corresponding cash distributions from an Investment Fund. In such case, the Fund might have to borrow money or dispose of investments, including interests in Investment Funds, including when it is disadvantageous to do so, in order to make the distributions required in order to maintain its status as a RIC and to avoid the imposition of a federal income or excise tax.

In addition, the character of a partner's distributive share of items of partnership income, gain and loss generally will be determined as if the partner had realized such items directly. Investment Funds classified as partnerships for federal income tax purposes may generate income allocable to the Fund that is not qualifying income for purposes of the 90% gross income test described above. In order to meet the 90% gross income test, the Fund may structure its investments in a way potentially increasing the taxes imposed thereon or in respect thereof. Because the Fund may not have timely or complete information concerning the amount and sources of such an Investment Fund's income until such income has been earned by the Investment Fund or until a substantial amount of time thereafter, it may be difficult for the Fund to satisfy the 90% gross income test.

Furthermore, it may not always be entirely clear how the asset diversification rules for RIC qualification will apply to the Fund's investments in Investment Funds that are classified as partnerships for federal income tax purposes. The Fund engages the services of a third-party service provider to collect, aggregate and analyze data on the Fund's direct and indirect investments in order to ensure that the Fund meets the asset diversification test. In the event that the Fund believes that it is possible that it will fail the asset diversification requirement at the end of any quarter of a taxable year, it may seek to take certain actions to avert such failure, including by acquiring additional investments to come into compliance with the asset diversification test or by disposing of non-diversified assets. Although the Code affords the Fund the opportunity, in certain circumstances, to cure a failure to meet the asset diversification test, including by disposing of non-diversified assets within six months, there may be constraints on the Fund's ability to dispose of its interest in an Investment Fund that limit utilization of this cure period.

As a result of the considerations described in the preceding paragraphs, the Fund's intention to qualify and be eligible for treatment as a RIC can limit its ability to acquire or continue to hold positions in Investment Funds that would otherwise be consistent with its investment strategy or can require the Fund to engage in transactions in which it would otherwise not engage, resulting in additional transaction costs and reducing the Fund's return to Investors.

Unless otherwise indicated, references in this discussion to the Fund's investments, activities, income, gain, and loss include the direct investments, activities, income, gain, and loss of the Fund, as well as those indirectly attributable to the Fund as result of the Fund's investment in any Investment Fund (or other entity) that is properly classified as a partnership or disregarded entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes (and not an association or publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation).

Passive Foreign Investment Companies

The Fund may invest in Investment Funds that are classified as passive foreign investment companies ("PFICs") for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and Investment Funds themselves may invest in entities that are classified as PFICs. Investments in PFICs could potentially subject the Fund to a U.S. federal income tax (including interest charges) on distributions received from the PFIC or on proceeds received from the disposition of shares in the PFIC. This tax cannot be eliminated by making distributions to its investors. However, the Fund (or, as applicable, the Investment Fund or another entity) generally may elect to avoid the imposition of that tax. For example, the Fund may elect to

treat a PFIC in which it holds an interest as a "qualified electing fund" (i.e., make a "QEF election"), in which case the Fund will be required to include its share of the PFIC's income and net capital gains annually, regardless of whether it receives any distributions from the PFIC. In certain circumstances, the Fund may be permitted to and elect to mark the gains (and to a limited extent losses) in such PFIC holdings "to the market" as though it had sold (and, solely for purposes of this mark-to-market election, repurchased) such holdings on the last day of the Fund's taxable year. Such gains and losses are treated as ordinary income and loss. If the Fund realizes a loss with respect to a PFIC, whether by virtue of selling all or part of its interest in the PFIC or because of the "mark to market" adjustment described above, the loss will be ordinary to the extent of the excess of the sum of the mark-to-market gains over the mark-to-market losses previously recognized with respect to the PFIC. To the extent that the Fund's mark-to-market loss with respect to a PFIC exceeds that limitation, the loss will effectively be taken into account in offsetting future mark-to-market gains from the PFIC, and any remaining loss will generally be deferred until the PFIC interests are sold, at which point the loss will be treated as a capital loss.

Where the mark-to-market election is made, it is possible that the Fund will be required to recognize income (which generally must be distributed to the Fund, and in turn to the Fund's Investors) in excess of the distributions that it receives in respect of an interest in a PFIC. Accordingly, the Fund may need to borrow money or to dispose of investments, potentially including its interests in the PFIC, in order to make the distributions required in order to maintain its status as a RIC and to avoid the imposition of a federal income tax and/or the nondeductible 4% excise tax. There can be no assurances, however, that the Fund will be successful in this regard, and the Fund might not be able to maintain its status as a RIC.

In certain cases, the Fund will not be the party legally permitted to make the QEF election or the mark-to-market election in respect of indirectly held PFICs and, in such cases, will not have control over whether the party within the chain of ownership that is legally permitted to make the QEF or mark-to-market election will do so.

If neither a "mark-to-market" nor a QEF election is made with respect to an interest in a PFIC, the ownership of the PFIC interest may have significantly adverse tax consequences for the Fund. In such a case, the holder of the PFIC interest would be subject to an interest charge (at the rate applicable to tax underpayments) on tax liability treated as having been deferred with respect to certain distributions and on gain from the disposition of the interests in a PFIC (collectively referred to as "excess distributions"), even if, in the case where the holder is a RIC, those excess distributions are paid by the RIC as a dividend to its shareholders.

Because it is not always possible to identify a foreign corporation as a PFIC, the Fund may incur the tax and interest charges described above in some instances. Any such tax will reduce the value of the Fund's investment of, or return from, the Fund.

Investments in Other RICs

The Fund's investment in a mutual fund, an ETF or another company that qualifies as a RIC (each, an "investment company") will potentially affect the timing and character of the Fund's income and gains.

If the Fund receives dividends from an investment company and the investment company reports such dividends as qualified dividend income, then the Fund is permitted in turn to report a portion of its distributions as qualified dividend income, provided that the Fund meets holding period and other requirements with respect to shares of the investment company.

If the Fund receives dividends from an investment company and the investment company reports such dividends as eligible for the dividends-received deduction, then the Fund is permitted in turn to report its distributions derived from those dividends as eligible for the dividends-received deduction as well, provided the Fund meets holding period and other requirements with respect to shares of the investment company.

Derivatives, Hedging and Related Transactions

In general, option premiums received by the Fund are not immediately included in the income of the Fund. Instead, the premiums are recognized when the option contract expires, the option is exercised by the holder, or the Fund

transfers or otherwise terminates the option (e.g., through a closing transaction). If a call option written by the Fund is exercised and the Fund sells or delivers the underlying stock, the Fund generally will recognize capital gain or loss equal to (a) sum of the strike price and the option premium received by the Fund minus (b) the Fund's basis in the stock. Such gain or loss generally will be short-term or long-term depending upon the holding period of the underlying stock. If securities are purchased by the Fund pursuant to the exercise of a put option written by it, the Fund generally will subtract the premium received for purposes of computing its cost basis in the securities purchased. Gain or loss arising in respect of a termination of the Fund's obligation under an option other than through the exercise of the option will be short-term gain or loss depending on whether the premium income received by the Fund is greater or less than the amount paid by the Fund (if any) in terminating the transaction. Thus, for example, if an option written by the Fund expires unexercised, the Fund generally will recognize short-term gain equal to the premium received.

Certain covered call-writing activities of the Fund may trigger the U.S. federal income tax straddle rules of Section 1092 of the Code, requiring that losses be deferred and holding periods be tolled on offsetting positions in options and stocks deemed to constitute substantially similar or related property. Options on single stocks that are not "deep in the money" may constitute qualified covered calls, which generally are not subject to the straddle rules; the holding period on stock underlying qualified covered calls that are "in the money" although not "deep in the money" will be suspended during the period that such calls are outstanding. Thus, the straddle rules and the rules governing qualified covered calls could cause gains that would otherwise constitute long-term capital gains to be treated as short-term capital gains, and distributions that would otherwise constitute "qualified dividend income" or qualify for the dividends-received deduction to fail to satisfy the holding period requirements and therefore to be taxed as ordinary income or to fail to qualify for the 50% dividends-received deduction, as the case may be.

The tax treatment of certain futures contracts entered into by the Fund as well as listed non-equity options written or purchased by the Fund on U.S. exchanges (including options on futures contracts, equity indices and debt securities) will be governed by section 1256 of the Code ("section 1256 contracts"). Gains or losses on section 1256 contracts generally are considered 60% long-term and 40% short-term capital gains or losses ("60/40"), although certain foreign currency gains and losses from such contracts may be treated as ordinary in character. Also, section 1256 contracts held by the Fund at the end of each taxable year (and, for purposes of the 4% excise tax, on certain other dates as prescribed under the Code) are "marked to market" with the result that unrealized gains or losses are treated as though they were realized and the resulting gain or loss is treated as ordinary or 60/40 gain or loss, as applicable.

In addition to the special rules described above in respect of futures and options transactions, the Fund's transactions in other derivative instruments (e.g., forward contracts and swap agreements), as well as any of its hedging, short sale, securities loan or similar transactions, may be subject to one or more special tax rules (e.g., notional principal contract, straddle, constructive sale, wash sale and short sale rules). These rules may affect whether gains and losses recognized by the Fund are treated as ordinary or capital, accelerate the recognition of income or gains to the Fund, defer losses to the Fund, and cause adjustments in the holding periods of the Fund's securities, thereby affecting whether capital gains and losses are treated as short-term or long-term. These rules could therefore affect the amount, timing and/or character of distributions to Investors.

Because these and other tax rules applicable to these types of transactions are in some cases uncertain under current law, an adverse determination or future guidance by the IRS with respect to these rules (which determination or guidance could be retroactive) may affect whether the Fund has made sufficient distributions, and otherwise satisfied the relevant requirements, to maintain its qualification as a RIC and avoid a Fund-level tax.

Book-Tax Differences

Certain of the Fund's investments in derivative instruments and foreign currency-denominated instruments, and any of the Fund's transactions in foreign currencies and hedging activities, are likely to produce a difference between its book income and its taxable income. If such a difference arises, and the Fund's book income is less than its taxable income, the Fund could be required to make distributions exceeding book income to qualify as a RIC that is accorded special tax treatment. In the alternative, if the Fund's book income exceeds its taxable income (including realized capital gains), the distribution (if any) of such excess generally will be treated as (i) a dividend to the extent of the Fund's remaining earnings and profits, (ii) thereafter, as a return of capital to the extent of the recipient's basis in its shares, and (iii) thereafter, as gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset.

Special Rules for Debt Obligations

Some debt obligations with a fixed maturity date of more than one year from the date of issuance: (and zero-coupon debt obligations with a fixed maturity date of more than one year from the date of issuance) will be treated as debt obligations that are issued originally at a discount. Generally, the original issue discount ("OID") is treated as interest income and is included in the Fund's income (and is required to be distributed by the Fund) over the term of the debt security, even though payment of that amount is not received until a later time, upon partial or full repayment or disposition of the debt security. In addition, payment-in-kind securities will give rise to income which is required to be distributed and is taxable even though the Fund receives no interest payment in cash on the security during the year.

Some debt obligations with a fixed maturity date of more than one year from the date of issuance that are acquired by the Fund in the secondary market may be treated as having "market discount." Very generally, market discount is the excess of the stated redemption price of a debt obligation (or in the case of an obligation issued with OID, its "revised issue price") over the purchase price of such obligation. Generally, any gain recognized on the disposition of, and any partial payment of principal on, a debt security having market discount is treated as ordinary income to the extent the gain, or principal payment, does not exceed the "accrued market discount" on such debt security. Alternatively, an Investment Fund or, if applicable, the Fund may elect to accrue market discount currently, in which case the Fund will be required to include the accrued market discount in the Fund's income (as ordinary income) and thus distribute it over the term of the debt security, even though payment of that amount is not received until a later time, upon partial or full repayment or disposition of the debt security. The rate at which the market discount accrues, and thus is included in the Fund's income, will depend upon which of the permitted accrual methods the Fund elects.

Some debt obligations with a fixed maturity date of one year or less from the date of issuance may be treated as having OID or, in certain cases, "acquisition discount" (very generally, the excess of the stated redemption price over the purchase price). The Fund will be required to include the OID or acquisition discount in income (as ordinary income) and thus distribute it over the term of the debt security, even though payment of that amount is not received until a later time, upon partial or full repayment or disposition of the debt security. The rate at which OID or acquisition discount accrues, and thus is included in the Fund's income, will depend upon which of the permitted accrual methods the Fund elects.

If the Fund holds the foregoing kinds of securities, it may be required to pay out as an income distribution each year an amount which is greater than the total amount of cash interest the Fund actually received. Such distributions may be made from the cash assets of the Fund or, if necessary, by disposition of portfolio securities including at a time when it may not be advantageous to do so. These dispositions may cause the Fund to realize higher amounts of short-term capital gains (generally taxed to Investors at ordinary income tax rates) and, in the event the Fund realizes net capital gains from such transactions, its Investors may receive a larger capital gain dividend than if the Fund had not held such securities.

A portion of the OID accrued on certain high yield discount obligations may not be deductible to the issuer and will instead be treated as a dividend paid by the issuer for purposes of the dividends received deduction. In such cases, if the issuer of the high yield discount obligations is a domestic corporation, dividend payments by the Fund may be eligible for the dividends received deduction to the extent attributable to the deemed dividend portion of such OID.

Securities Purchased at a Premium

Very generally, where the Fund purchases a bond at a price that exceeds the redemption price at maturity – that is, at a premium—the premium is amortizable over the remaining term of the bond. In the case of a taxable bond, if the Fund makes an election applicable to all such bonds it purchases, which election is irrevocable without consent of the IRS, the Fund reduces the current taxable income from the bond by the amortized premium and reduces its tax basis in the bond by the amount of such offset; upon the disposition or maturity of such bonds, the Fund is permitted to deduct any remaining premium allocable to a prior period. In the case of a tax-exempt bond, tax rules require the Fund to reduce its tax basis by the amount of amortized premium.

At-Risk or Defaulted Securities

Investments in debt obligations that are at risk of or in default present special tax issues for the Fund. Tax rules are not entirely clear about issues such as whether or to what extent the Fund should recognize market discount on a debt obligation, when the Fund may cease to accrue interest, OID or market discount, when and to what extent the Fund may take deductions for bad debts or worthless securities and how the Fund should allocate payments received on obligations in default between principal and income. These and other related issues will be addressed by the Fund when, as and if it invests in such securities, in order to seek to ensure that it distributes sufficient income to preserve its status as a RIC and does not become subject to U.S. federal income or excise tax.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Any transaction by the Fund in foreign currencies, foreign currency-denominated debt obligations or certain foreign currency options, futures contracts or forward contracts (or similar instruments) may give rise to ordinary income or loss to the extent such income or loss results from fluctuations in the value of the foreign currency concerned. Any such net gains could require a larger dividend toward the end of the calendar year. Any such net losses will generally reduce and potentially require the recharacterization of prior ordinary income distributions. Such ordinary income treatment may accelerate Fund distributions to Investors and increase the distributions taxed to Investors as ordinary income. Any net ordinary losses so created cannot be carried forward by the Fund to offset income or gains earned in subsequent taxable years.

Commodity-Linked Derivatives

The Fund's use of commodity-linked derivatives would bear on or be limited by the Fund's intention to qualify as a RIC. Income and gains from certain commodity-linked derivatives does not constitute qualifying income to a RIC for purposes of the 90% gross income test described above. The tax treatment of certain other commodity-linked derivative instruments in which the Fund might invest is not certain, in particular with respect to whether income or gains from such instruments constitute qualifying income to a RIC. If the Fund were to treat income or gain from a particular instrument as qualifying income and the income or gain were later determined not to constitute qualifying income and, together with any other non-qualifying income, caused the Fund's non-qualifying income to exceed 10% of its gross income in any taxable year, the Fund would fail to qualify as a RIC unless it is eligible to and does pay a tax at the Fund level.

Expenses Subject to 2% "Floor" and Special Pass-Through Rules

The Fund will not be considered to be a "publicly offered" RIC if it does not have at least 500 Investors at all times during a taxable year. It is possible that the Fund will not be treated as a "publicly offered" RIC for one or more of its taxable years. Very generally, pursuant to Treasury Department regulations, expenses of a RIC that is not "publicly offered," generally are subject to special "pass-through" rules. These expenses (which include direct and certain indirect advisory fees) are treated as additional dividends to certain Fund shareholders (generally including other RICs that are not "publicly offered", individuals and entities that compute their taxable income in the same manner as an individual), and are deductible by those shareholders, subject to the 2% "floor" on miscellaneous itemized deductions and other significant limitations on itemized deductions set forth in the Code--including the complete suspension and disallowance of any miscellaneous itemized deductions (even those above the 2% floor) for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, and before January 1, 2026.

Backup Withholding

The Fund generally is required to withhold and remit to the U.S. Treasury 24% of the taxable distributions and redemption proceeds paid to any individual Investor who fails to properly furnish the Fund with a correct taxpayer identification number, who has under-reported dividend or interest income, or who fails to certify to the Fund that he or she is not subject to such withholding.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld may be credited against the Investor's U.S. federal income tax liability, provided the appropriate information is furnished to the IRS.

Tax-Exempt Investors

Income of a RIC that would be unrelated business taxable income ("UBTI") if earned directly by a tax-exempt entity will not generally be attributed as UBTI to a tax-exempt Investor of the RIC. Notwithstanding this "blocking" effect, a tax-exempt Investor could realize UBTI by virtue of its investment in the Fund if shares in the Fund constitute debt-financed property in the hands of the tax-exempt Investor within the meaning of Code Section 514(b).

A tax-exempt Investor may also recognize UBTI if the Fund recognizes "excess inclusion income" derived from direct or indirect investments in residual interests in real estate mortgage investment conduits ("REMICs") or equity interests in taxable mortgage pools ("TMPs"), if the amount of such income recognized by the Fund exceeds the Fund's investment company taxable income (after taking into account deductions for dividends paid by the Fund).

In addition, special tax consequences apply to charitable remainder trusts ("CRTs") that invest in RICs that invest directly or indirectly in residual interests in REMICs or equity interests in TMPs, including an excise tax on the CRT equal to the UBTI of the CRT. CRTs and other tax-exempt Investors are urged to consult their tax advisors concerning the consequences of investing in the Fund.

Sale or Exchange of Shares

The sale, redemption or other taxable disposition of Fund shares (as previously defined, "Shares") may give rise to a gain or loss. In general, any gain or loss realized upon a taxable disposition of Shares will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if the Shares have been held for more than 12 months. Otherwise, the gain or loss on the taxable disposition of Shares will be treated as short-term capital gain or loss. However, any loss realized upon a taxable disposition of Shares held by an Investor for six months or less will be treated as long-term, rather than short-term, to the extent of any capital gain dividends received (or deemed received) by the Investor with respect to the Shares. Further, all or a portion of any loss realized upon a taxable disposition of Shares will be disallowed under the Code's wash-sale rule if other substantially identical Shares are purchased, including by means of dividend reinvestment, within 30 days before or after the disposition. In such a case, the basis of the newly purchased Shares will be adjusted to reflect the disallowed loss.

From time to time, the Fund intends to make a tender offer for its Shares (as described under "Repurchases and Transfers of Shares" in this Prospectus). Investors who tender all Shares held, or considered to be held, by them will be treated as having sold their Shares and generally will realize a capital gain or loss. If an Investor tenders fewer than all of its Shares or fewer than all Shares tendered are repurchased, such Investor may be treated as having received a Section 301 distribution upon the tender of its Shares, unless the redemption is treated as being either (i) "substantially disproportionate" with respect to such Investor or (ii) otherwise "not essentially equivalent to a dividend" under the relevant rules of the Code. A Section 301 distribution is not treated as a sale or exchange giving rise to capital gain or loss, but rather is treated as a dividend to the extent supported by the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits, with the excess treated as a return of capital reducing a Fund's tax basis in its Shares, and thereafter as capital gain. Where the Investor is treated as receiving a dividend, there is a risk that non-tendering Investors and Investors who tender some but not all of their Shares or fewer than all of whose Shares are repurchased, in each case whose percentage interests in the Fund increase as a result of such tender, will be treated as having received a taxable distribution from the Fund. The extent of such risk will vary depending upon the particular circumstances of the tender offer, and in particular whether such offer is a single and isolated event or is part of a plan for periodically redeeming Shares of the Fund.

To the extent that the Fund recognizes net gains on the liquidation of portfolio securities to meet tenders made pursuant to its tender offers or otherwise repurchases Fund shares, the Fund will be required to make additional distributions to its Investors.

Tax Shelter Reporting Regulations

Under Treasury regulations, if an Investor recognizes a loss of \$2,000,000 or more for an individual Investor or \$10,000,000 or more for a corporate Investor, the Investor must file with the IRS a disclosure statement on Form 8886. Direct holders of portfolio securities are in many cases excepted from this reporting requirement, but under current

guidance, Investors of a RIC are not excepted. Future guidance may extend the current exception from this reporting requirement to Investors of most or all RICs. The fact that a loss is reportable under these regulations does not affect the legal determination of whether the taxpayer's treatment of the loss is proper. Investors should consult their tax advisors to determine the applicability of these regulations in light of their individual circumstances.

Foreign Taxation

Income received by the Fund from sources within foreign countries may be subject to withholding and other taxes imposed by such countries. Tax treaties between certain countries and the U.S. may reduce or eliminate such taxes. If more than 50% of the Fund's assets at year-end consists of the securities of foreign corporations, the Fund may elect to permit Investors to claim a credit or deduction on their income tax returns for their pro rata portions of qualified taxes paid by the Fund to foreign countries in respect of foreign securities that the Fund has held for at least the minimum period specified in the Code. In such a case, Investors will include in gross income from foreign sources their pro rata shares of such taxes paid by the Fund. An Investor's ability to claim an offsetting foreign tax credit or deduction in respect of foreign taxes paid by the Fund is subject to certain limitations imposed by the Code, which may result in the Investor's not receiving a full credit or deduction (if any) for the amount of such taxes. Investors who do not itemize on their U.S. federal income tax returns may claim a credit (but not a deduction) for such foreign taxes. If the Fund is a qualified fund of funds, it also may elect to pass through to its Investors foreign taxes it has paid or foreign taxes passed through to it by any RIC in which it invests that itself was eligible to elect and did elect to pass through such taxes to Investors (see "Investments in Other RICs" above). Even if the Fund were eligible to make such an election for a given year, it may determine not to do so.

Foreign Investors

Absent a specific statutory exemption, dividends other than capital gain dividends paid (or deemed paid) by the Fund to an Investor that is not a "U.S. person" within the meaning of the Code (a "foreign Investor") are subject to withholding of U.S. federal income tax at a rate of 30% (or lower applicable treaty rate) even if they are funded by income or gains (such as portfolio interest, short-term capital gains, or foreign-source dividend and interest income) that, if paid to a foreign Investor directly, would not be subject to withholding.

However, the Fund is not required to withhold any amounts (i) with respect to certain distributions from U.S.-source interest income of types similar to those not subject to U.S. federal income tax if earned directly by an individual foreign investor, to the extent such distributions are properly reported as such by such RIC in a written notice to investors ("interest-related dividends"), and (ii) with respect to certain distributions of net short-term capital gains in excess of net long-term capital losses to the extent such distributions were properly reported as such by the RIC in a written notice to investors ("short-term capital gain dividends"). The exception to withholding for interest-related dividends does not apply to distributions to a foreign investor (A) that do not provide a satisfactory statement that the beneficial owner is not a U.S. person, (B) to the extent that the dividend is attributable to certain interest on an obligation if the foreign investor is the issuer or a 10% investor of the issuer, (C) within certain foreign countries that have inadequate information exchange with the United States, or (D) to the extent the dividend is attributable to interest paid by a person related to the foreign investor and the foreign investor is a controlled foreign corporation. The exception to withholding for short-term capital gain dividends does not apply to (A) distributions to an individual foreign investor who is present in the United States for a period or periods aggregating 183 days or more during the year of the distribution and (B) distributions subject to special rules regarding the disposition of U.S. real property interests as described below.

In the case of shares held through an intermediary, the intermediary may have taxes withheld even if a RIC reported all or a portion of a payment as an interest-related or short-term capital gain dividend to investors. Foreign Investors should contact their intermediaries regarding the application of these rules to their accounts.

A foreign Investor is not, in general, subject to U.S. federal income tax on gains (and is not allowed a deduction for losses) realized on the sale of Shares of the Fund or on capital gain dividends unless (i) such gain or dividend is effectively connected with the conduct by the foreign Investor of a trade or business within the United States, (ii) in the case of a foreign Investor that is an individual, the Investor is present in the United States for a period or periods aggregating 183 days or more during the year of the sale or the receipt of the capital gain dividend and certain other conditions are met, or (iii) the special rules relating to gain attributable to the sale or exchange of "U.S. real property interests" ("USRPIs") if such rules were applicable to the foreign Investor's sale of Shares of the Fund or to the capital

gain dividend the foreign Investor received.

The Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 ("FIRPTA") makes non-U.S. persons subject to U.S. tax on a disposition of a U.S. real property interest ("USRPI") as if he or she were a U.S. person. Such gain is sometimes referred to as FIRPTA gain. The Fund may invest in equity securities of corporations that invest in USRPIs, including U.S. REITs, which may trigger FIRPTA gain to the Fund's foreign Investors.

The Code provides a look-through rule for distributions of FIRPTA gain when a RIC is classified as a qualified investment entity. A RIC will be classified as a qualified investment entity if, in general, 50% or more of the RIC's assets consist of interests in U.S. REITs, USRPIs and other U.S. real property holding corporations ("USRPHC"). If a RIC (i) is a qualified investment entity and (ii) foreign Investors own 50% or more (directly or indirectly) of the RIC stock during the applicable testing period under the Code, then the FIRPTA distribution to the foreign Investor is treated as gain from the disposition of a USRPI, causing the distribution to be subject to U.S. withholding tax, currently at a rate of 21% (unless reduced by future regulations), and requiring the foreign Investor to file a nonresident U.S. income tax return. Also, such gain may be subject to a branch profits tax in the hands of a foreign Investor that is a corporation.

Investor Reporting Obligations with Respect to Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts

Investors that are U.S. persons and own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the Fund could be required to report annually their "financial interest" in the Fund's "foreign financial accounts," if any, on FinCEN Form 114, Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts ("FBAR"). Investors should consult a tax advisor, and persons investing in the Fund through an intermediary should consult their intermediary, regarding the applicability to them of this reporting requirement.

Other Reporting and Withholding Requirements

The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA") generally requires the Fund to obtain information sufficient to identify the status of each of its shareholders under FATCA. If an Investor fails to provide this information or otherwise fails to comply with FATCA, the Fund may be required to withhold under FATCA at a rate of 30% with respect to that Investor on dividends, including capital gain dividends, and the proceeds of the sale, redemption or other disposition of Fund shares. If a payment by the Fund is subject to FATCA withholding, the Fund is required to withhold even if such payment would otherwise be exempt from withholding under the rules applicable to foreign Investors described above (e.g., Capital Gain Dividends and short-term capital gain and interest-related dividends).

Each prospective Investor is urged to consult its tax Advisor regarding the applicability of FATCA and any other reporting requirements with respect to the prospective Investor's own situation, including investments through an intermediary.

General Considerations

The U.S. federal income tax discussion set forth above is for general information only. Prospective Investors should consult their tax advisors regarding the specific federal tax consequences of purchasing, holding, and disposing of shares of the Fund, as well as the effects of state, local, foreign, and other tax law and any proposed tax law changes.

Income Effectively Connected

If the income from the Fund is "effectively connected" with a U.S. trade or business carried on by a Foreign Investor, then distributions of investment company taxable income and capital gain dividends, any amounts retained by the Fund which are reported by the Fund as undistributed capital gains, and any gains realized upon the sale or exchange of Shares of the Fund are subject to U.S. income tax at the graduated rates applicable to U.S. citizens, residents and domestic corporations. Corporate Foreign Investors may also be subject to the branch profits tax imposed by the Code.

ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

Persons who are fiduciaries with respect to an employee benefit plan or other arrangement subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (an "ERISA Plan" and "ERISA," respectively), and persons who are fiduciaries with respect to an IRA or Keogh Plan, which is not subject to ERISA but is subject to the prohibited

transaction rules of Section 4975 of the Code (together with ERISA Plans, "Benefit Plans") should consider, among other things, the matters described below before determining whether to invest in the Fund.

ERISA imposes certain general and specific responsibilities on persons who are fiduciaries with respect to an ERISA Plan, including prudence, diversification, an obligation not to engage in a prohibited transaction and other standards. In determining whether a particular investment is appropriate for an ERISA Plan, Department of Labor ("DOL") regulations provide that a fiduciary of an ERISA Plan must give appropriate consideration to, among other things, the role that the investment plays in the ERISA Plan's portfolio, taking into consideration whether the investment is designed reasonably to further the ERISA Plan's purposes, an examination of the risk and return factors, the portfolio's composition with regard to diversification, the liquidity and current return of the total portfolio relative to the anticipated cash flow needs of the ERISA Plan, the income tax consequences of the investment (see "Certain Tax Considerations—Tax-Exempt Investors") and the projected return of the total portfolio relative to the ERISA Plan's funding objectives. Before investing the assets of an ERISA Plan in the Fund, a fiduciary should determine whether such an investment is consistent with its fiduciary responsibilities and the foregoing regulations. For example, a fiduciary should consider whether an investment in the Fund may be too illiquid or too speculative for a particular ERISA Plan, and whether the assets of the ERISA Plan would be sufficiently diversified. If a fiduciary with respect to any such ERISA Plan breaches its or his responsibilities with regard to selecting an investment or an investment course of action for such ERISA Plan, the fiduciary itself or himself may be held liable for losses incurred by the ERISA Plan as a result of such breach. Fiduciaries of plans or arrangements subject to Section 4975 of the Code should carefully consider these same factors.

Because the Fund is registered as an investment company under the 1940 Act, the underlying assets of the Fund should not be considered to be the assets of the Benefit Plans investing in the Fund for purposes of ERISA's (or the Code's) fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction rules. Thus, the Advisor is not a fiduciary within the meaning of ERISA by reason of its authority with respect to the assets of the Fund.

The Advisor requires a Benefit Plan which proposes to invest in the Fund to represent that it, and any fiduciaries responsible for such Plan's investments (including in its individual or corporate capacity, as may be applicable), are aware of and understand the Fund's investment objective, policies and strategies, that the decision to invest plan assets in the Fund was made with appropriate consideration of relevant investment factors with regard to the Benefit Plan and is consistent with the duties and responsibilities imposed upon fiduciaries with regard to their investment decisions under ERISA and/or the Code.

Certain prospective Investors that are Benefit Plans may currently maintain relationships with the Advisor or other entities that are affiliated with the Advisor. Each of such persons may be deemed to be a party in interest (or disqualified person) to and/or a fiduciary of any Benefit Plan to which it provides investment management, investment advisory or other services. ERISA prohibits (and the Code penalizes) the use of ERISA and Benefit Plan assets for the benefit of a party in interest (or disqualified person) and also prohibits (or penalizes) an ERISA or Benefit Plan fiduciary from using its position to cause such Plan to make an investment from which it or certain third parties in which such fiduciary has an interest would receive a fee or other consideration. Investors that are Benefit Plans should consult with counsel to determine if participation in the Fund is a transaction that is prohibited by ERISA or the Code. Fiduciaries of Investors that are Benefit Plans are required to represent (including in their individual or corporate capacity, as applicable) that the decision to invest in the Fund was made by them as fiduciaries that are independent of such affiliated persons, that such fiduciaries are duly authorized to make such investment decision and that they have not relied on any individualized advice or recommendation of such affiliated persons, as a primary basis for the decision to invest in the Fund, unless such purchase and holding is pursuant to an applicable exemption such as Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption ("PTCE") 77-3 or PTCE 77-4.

The provisions of ERISA and the Code are subject to extensive and continuing administrative and judicial interpretation and review. The discussion of ERISA and the Code contained in this Prospectus is general and may be affected by future publication of regulations and rulings. Potential Investors that are Benefit Plans should consult their legal advisors regarding the consequences under ERISA and the Code of the acquisition and ownership of Shares.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary description of additional items and of select provisions of the Agreement and Declaration of Trust which are not described elsewhere in this Prospectus. The description of such items and provisions is not definitive and reference should be made to the complete text of the Agreement and Declaration of Trust contained in Appendix A.

Liability of Investors

Investors in the Fund are shareholders of a Delaware statutory trust as provided under Delaware law. Under Delaware law and the Agreement and Declaration of Trust, an Investor is not liable for the debts, obligations or liabilities of the Fund solely by reason of being an Investor, except that the Investor may be obligated to repay any funds wrongfully distributed to the Investor.

Duty of Care of the Board and the Advisor

The Agreement and Declaration of Trust provides that none of the Trustees or the Advisor (including certain of the Advisor's affiliates, among others) shall be liable to the Fund or any of the Investors for any loss or damage occasioned by any act or omission in the performance of their respective services as such in the absence of willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of their duties. The Agreement and Declaration of Trust also contains provisions for the indemnification, to the extent permitted by law, of the Trustees by the Fund, but not by the Investors individually, against any liability and expense to which any of them may be liable which arises in connection with the performance of their activities on behalf of the Fund. None of these persons will be personally liable to any Investor for contributions by such Investor to the capital of the Fund or by reason of any change in the U.S. federal or state income tax laws applicable to the Fund or its Investors. The rights of indemnification and exculpation provided under the Agreement and Declaration of Trust do not provide for indemnification of a director for any liability, including liability under U.S. federal securities laws which, under certain circumstances, impose liability even on persons that act in good faith, to the extent, but only to the extent, that such indemnification would be in violation of applicable law.

Amendment of the Agreement and Declaration of Trust

The Agreement and Declaration of Trust may be amended with the approval of (i) the Board, including a majority of the Independent Trustees, if required by the 1940 Act, or (ii) if required, the approval of the shareholders by such vote as is required by the 1940 Act. As an example, the Board may at any time, without the consent of the shareholders, amend the Agreement and Declaration of Trust to (i) restate the Agreement and Declaration of Trust or (ii) effect compliance with any applicable law or regulation, or to cure any ambiguity or to correct or supplement any provision that may be inconsistent with another provision, provided such action does not adversely affect the rights of any Investor in any material respect.

Term, Dissolution and Liquidation

The Fund will be dissolved:

- upon the affirmative vote to dissolve the Fund by the Board;
- upon the determination of Investors not to continue the business of the Fund at a meeting called by the Advisor when no Trustee remains or if the required number of Trustees is not elected within 60 days after the date on which the last Trustee ceased to act in that capacity; and
- as required by operation of law.

Upon the occurrence of any event of dissolution, the Board, acting directly, or a liquidator under appointment by the Board, is charged with winding up the affairs of the Fund and liquidating its assets. Upon the dissolution of the Fund, its assets are to be distributed (1) first to satisfy the debts and liabilities of the Fund, other than debts and liabilities to Investors, including actual or anticipated liquidation expenses, (2) next to satisfy debts or liabilities owing to the Investors, and (3) finally to the Investors proportionately in accordance with their investment in the

Fund. Assets may be distributed in kind on a pro rata basis if the Board or liquidator determines that such a distribution would be in the interests of the Investors in facilitating an orderly liquidation.

Reports to Investors

The Fund furnishes to Investors as soon as practicable after the end of each taxable year (and/or each calendar year) such information as is necessary for such Investors to complete U.S. federal and state income tax or information returns, along with any other tax information required by law. The Fund sends to Investors a semi-annual report and an audited annual report within 60 days after the close of the period for which it is being made, or as otherwise required by the 1940 Act.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and Legal Counsel

RSM US LLP serves as the independent registered public accounting firm of the Fund. Its principal business address is: 555 Seventeenth Street, Suite 1200, Denver, CO 80202.

Thompson Hine LLP, 312 Walnut Street, Suite 2000, Cincinnati, OH 45402, acts as legal counsel to the Fund.

Custodian

US Bank, N.A. (the "Custodian") serves as the custodian of the Fund's assets, and may maintain custody of the Fund's assets with domestic and foreign subcustodians (which may be banks, trust companies, securities depositories and clearing agencies) approved by the Trustees. Assets of the Fund are not held by the Advisor or commingled with the assets of other accounts other than to the extent that securities are held in the name of a custodian in a securities depository, clearing agency or omnibus customer account of such custodian. The Custodian's principal business address is 425 Walnut Street, Cincinnati, OH 45202. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, the Fund incurred custodian fees of \$16,846. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, the Fund incurred custodian fees of \$34,644. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Fund incurred custodian fees of \$11,259.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements and independent registered public accounting firm's report thereon contained in the Fund's <u>annual report</u> dated March 31, 2023, as well as the unaudited financial statements contained in the Fund's <u>semi-annual report</u> dated September 30, 2022, are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus. The Fund's annual report and semi-annual report are available upon request, without charge, by calling the Fund toll-free at 1-855-924-2454.

PART C. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 25. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

1. Financial Statements:

The financial highlights of the Registrant for the fiscal period ended March 31, 2023 are included in Part A of this registration statement in the section entitled "Financial Highlights."

The Registrant's audited Financial Statements and the notes thereto in the Registrant's Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, filed electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 30(b)(2) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, are incorporated by reference into Part B of this registration statement.

2. Exhibits:

- (a) Certificate of Formation, as previously filed on September 30, 2014 with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (a) Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Trust, as previously filed on June 19, 2015 with Amendment No. 2 to Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (a) Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Trust, as previously filed on November 9, 2015 with Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (a) Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Trust, as previously filed on July 29, 2020 with Amendment No. 11 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (a) Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Trust, as previously filed on December 13, 2022 with Amendment No. 14 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (a) Seventh Amended and Restated Agreement and Declaration of Trust (included as Appendix A to the Statement of Additional Information).
- (b) <u>Bylaws, as previously filed on September 30, 2014 with the Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.</u>

- (c) Not Applicable.
- (d) Rule 18f-3 Plan, as previously filed on July 30, 2018 with the Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference. Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (d) (2) See Item 25.2(a)(5) and (b).
- (e) Not Applicable.
- (f) Not Applicable.
- (g) (1) <u>Management Agreement, as previously filed on September 30, 2014 with the Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.</u>
- (g) <u>Fifth Amended and Restated Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement, as previously filed on July 30, 2018 with the Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.</u>
- (h) <u>Distribution Agreement between the Registrant and Northern Lights Distributors, LLC, as previously filed on July 29, 2019 with the Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.</u>
- (i) Not Applicable.
- (j) Custody Agreement by and between MUFG Union Bank, N.A., as previously filed on June 19, 2015 with Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (j) Assignment of Custody Agreement by and between the Registrant, MUFG Union Bank, N.A., and U.S. Bank, N.A. as previously filed on July 29, 2022 with the Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (k) Amended Fund Services Agreement between Princeton Everest Fund (formerly Princeton Private Investments Access Fund) and Ultimus Fund Solutions LLC (formerly Gemini Fund Services), as previously filed on July 29, 2019 with Amendment No. 10 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.

- (k) Amended and Restated Escrow Agreement, as previously filed on July 30, 2018 with Amendment No. 9 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (k) Northern Lights Compliance Services, LLC Consulting Agreement, as previously filed on September 30, 2014 with the Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (1) Opinion and Consent of Thompson Hine LLP as previously filed on September 30, 2014 with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (l) Consent of Thompson Hine LLP is filed herewith.
- (m) Not Applicable.
- (n) Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm is filed herewith.
 - (2) Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Supplemental Information, as previously filed on December 9, 2022 with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (o) Not Applicable.
- (p) Form of Letter of Investment Intent, as previously filed on November 9, 2015 with Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form N-2 is hereby incorporated by reference.
- (q) Not Applicable.
- (r) Code of Ethics of Princeton Everest Fund (formerly Princeton Private Investments Access Fund) as previously filed on July 29, 2019 with the Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (r) Code of Ethics of Princeton Fund Advisors, LLC, as previously filed on September 30, 2014 with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (r) Code of Ethics of Northern Lights Distributors LLC, as previously filed on September 30, 2014 with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2, and hereby incorporated by reference.
- (s) Calculation of Filing Fee.

Form N-2

Princeton Everest Fund

Newly Registered Securities

		Fee		Amount of
Security		Calculation	Maximum Aggregate	Registration
<u>Type</u>	Security Class Title	<u>Rule</u>	Offering Price	<u>Fee</u>
Equity	Class A, Class I, Class II, and Class L	Rule 457(o)	\$500,000,000.00	\$0*

- * Upon instruction from the SEC Filing Fees Branch, no registration fee is currently required to be paid upfront. A fee will be paid upon issuance of a tender offer.
 - (t) Power of Attorney for the Trust, and a certificate with respect thereto, and Powers of Attorney for each of Jeffrey
 P. Greiner, John L. Sabre and Christopher E. Moran, the Trustees and the Principal Executive Officer and
 Principal Financial Officer, as previously filed on August 1, 2017, with Amendment No. 8 to the Registrant's
 Registration Statement, and hereby incorporated by reference.
 - (2) <u>Power of Attorney for William Peichel is filed herewith.</u>
- <u>Item 26.</u> <u>Marketing Arrangements:</u> Not Applicable
- <u>Item 27.</u> <u>Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution</u>: Not Applicable
- <u>Item 28.</u> <u>Persons Controlled by or Under Common Control with Registrant:</u>

No person is directly or indirectly under common control with the Registrant.

<u>Item 29.</u> <u>Number of Holders of Securities as of May 1, 2023:</u>

Title of Class	Number of Record Holders
A Share	69
I Share	376
II Share	105
L Share	87

Item 30. Indemnification:

Reference is made to Article VIII, Section 2 of the Registrant's Seventh Amended and Restated Agreement and Declaration of Trust (the "Agreement and Declaration of Trust"), included as Appendix A to the Confidential Memorandum, and to Paragraph 9 of the Registrant's Management Agreement (the "Management Agreement"), previously filed as Exhibit (g)(1) hereto. The Registrant hereby undertakes that it will apply the indemnification and limitation of liability provisions of the Agreement and Declaration of Trust and the Management Agreement in a manner consistent with Release 40-11330 of the SEC under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"), so long as the interpretation therein of Sections 17(h) and 17(i) of the 1940 Act remains in effect.

The Registrant maintains insurance on behalf of any person who is or was an independent director, officer, employee or agent of the Registrant against certain liability asserted against and incurred by, or arising out of, his or her position. However, in no event will the Registrant pay that portion of the premium, if any, for insurance to indemnify any such person for any act for which the Registrant itself is not permitted to indemnify.

<u>Item 31.</u> <u>Business and Other Connections of Investment Advisor:</u>

A description of any other business, profession, vocation, or employment of a substantial nature in which the investment adviser of the Registrant, and each member, director, executive officer, or partner of any such investment adviser, is or has been, at any time during the past two fiscal years, engaged in for his or her own account or in the capacity of member, trustee, officer, employee, partner or director, is set forth in the Confidential Memorandum in the section entitled "Management of the Fund." Information as to the members and officers of the Advisor is included in its Form ADV as filed with the SEC (File No. 801-72525), and is incorporated herein by reference.

<u>Item 32.</u> <u>Location of Accounts and Records:</u>

Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC, the Registrant's administrator and transfer agent, maintains certain required accounting related and financial books and records of the Registrant at 80 Arkay Drive, Suite 110, Hauppauge, NY 11788. The Registrant's records may also be maintained by U.S. Bank, N.A., the Fund's custodian, maintains certain required accounting related and financial books and records of the Registrant at 425 Walnut Street, Cincinnati, OH 45202. The Registrant's investment adviser also maintains certain books and records related to the Registrant at 8500 Normandale Lake Blvd., Suite 1900, Minneapolis, MN 55437.

<u>Item 33.</u> <u>Management Services:</u> Not Applicable.

<u>Item 34.</u> <u>Undertakings</u>: Not Applicable.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Investment Company Act of 1940, the Registrant certifies that it meets all of the requirements for effectiveness of this Registration Statement under Rule 486(b) under the Securities Act and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Minneapolis, and State of Minnesota on the 31st day of July, 2023.

PRINCETON EVEREST FUND

(Registrant)

/s/ John L. Sabre By:

John L. Sabre

President (Principal Executive Officer), Trustee

and Chairman

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Jeffrey P. Greiner* Jeffrey P. Greiner	Trustee	July 31, 2023
/s/ William Peichel* William Peichel	Trustee	July 31, 2023
/s/ John L. Sabre John L. Sabre	President (Principal Executive Officer), Trustee and Chairman	July 31, 2023
/s/ Christopher E. Moran Christopher E. Moran	Treasurer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	July 31, 2023
* By: /s/ John L. Sabre Name: John L. Sabre * Attempts in Fact supposed to Payers of	tto max.	

^{*} Attorney-in-Fact pursuant to Power of Attorney

EXHIBITS

No.	<u>Description</u>
<u>2(1)(2)</u> .	Consent of Thompson Hine LLP
<u>2(n)(1)</u>	Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
<u>2(t)(2)</u> .	Power of Attorney for William Peichel